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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REFPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL

Adverse Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consclidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

[n our opinion, because of the significance of matters discussed in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion” section
of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with [FRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for Adverse Opinion

1. As disclosed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not apply the
requirements of IAS 29 — Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (“IAS 29”) in the
consolidated financial statements from and for the years from which the Republic of Lebanon has been
designated as a hyperinflationary economy, including the current year ended 31 December 2024, nor
did the Group consider its effects on forecasts and discount rates used in accounting estimates. In
addition, as disclosed in Note 24, the Group determined the carrying amount of lands and real estate in
Lebanon based on a valuation performed by an accredited external independent valuer in US Dollars
and then translated it to Lebanese Pounds at the Sayrafa rate of LBP 89,500 for the US Dollar as at 31
December 2023 as required by the Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediate Circular 659. The gain from
revaluation amounting to LL 6,747,292 million was recognized in other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2023. In accordance with [AS 29, the historical cost should be restated from
the date of acquisition by applying the general price index, and then compared to the appraised amount
with the difference treated as required by IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment (“[AS 16"); and
subsequently, the appraised carrying amount should be restated from the date of the appraisal by
applying the general price index. In addition, due to the lack of information and visibility on the impact
of the current macroeconomic crisis in Lebanon, we were unable to conciude on the adequacy of the
appraised amount. Had the Group applied the requirements of 1AS 29, and considered its effects on
accounting estimates, many elements and disclosures in the consclidated financial statements, including
comparative financial information, would have been materially different. The effects on the
consolidated financial statements from this departure have not been determined. Our opinion for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was modified for the same reasons.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL (continued)

Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

2. Asdisclosed in Note | to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had used the official pubiished
exchange rates for the translation of its monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
and the assets and liabilities of its foreign operations and all transactions in foreign currencies dunng
2021, 2022 and 2023, instead of using the rates at which the future cash flows could have been settled as
required by IAS 21 — The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, when several exchange rates
are available. This caused us to qualify our opinion on the financial statements relating to those years, as
other exchange rates through legal exchange mechanisms were available, depending on the source and
nature of the operation or balance, and which should have been used by the Group to comply with the
requirements of JAS 21. As disclosed in Note | 0 the consolidated financial statements, from January
2024, the official published exchange rate was set at LL 89,500 to the US Doliar which converged with
the rates of the legal exchange mechanism for the exchange of foreign currencies not subject to de-facto
capital controls throughout the period and up to date. With respect to foreign currencies subject to de-
facto capital controls, we were unable to conclude whether this exchange rate is that at which the future
cash flows could have been settled if those cash flows had oecurred at the measurement date. In addition,
the Group recorded the impact of the change in exchange rates used, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2024 under “Exchange difference” and in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024 under “ Exchange
differences on translation of foreign operations”. The Group did not restate comparative amounts which
is a departure from 1AS 8 — Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (“]AS 8”).
As we were unable to satisfy ourselves on the appropriate exchange rate to be used on foreign currencies
subject to de-facto capital controls, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments were necessary
1o many accounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Also, had the Group applied
the requirements of TAS 21 and used the rate at which the future cashflows could have been settled during
2021, 2022 and 2023, and had the Group applied the requirements of IAS 8, many accounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, including comparative financial information, would
have been materially different. The effects on the consolidated financial statements from the departure of
[AS 21 and IAS 8 have not been determined.

3. As at 31 December 2024, the Group holds balances with the Central Bark of Lebanon amounting to
LL 808,461,400 million (31 December 2023: LL 141,737,553 million), a portfolio of Lebanese
government treasury securities and Certificate of deposits (under financial assets at amortized cost)
totalling LL 3,055,035 million (31 December 2023: LL 873,080 million), a portfolio of [oans amounting
to LL 14,053,082 million (3] December 2023: LL 2,868,411 million) and other balances with banks
and other assets amounting to LL 2,662 889 million (31 December 2023: LL 702,806 million),
concentrated in Lebanon which represent 82% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 78%).

As disclosed in Note 1 1o the consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial statements
do not include adjustments required by IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (“I[FRS 9”) to the carrying
amounts of the above assets and to many related accounts and disclosures that would result from
resolution of the uncertainties described in Note I to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHQLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL (continued)

Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

Furthermore, the Group has engaged in several transactions involving modification of contractual cash
flows, renegotiations, exchanges and extinguishment of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
Group has not applied the requirements of IFRS 9 and assessed whether these transactions should be
accounted for as modifications resulting in derecognition or no derecognition, nor is the Group
calculating and accounting for the impact of such modifications, which constitutes a departure from the
requirements of [FRS 9. The effects of this departure on the carrying amount of these financial
instruments and related income statement accounts have not been determingd. Our opinion for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons above.

Also, as disclosed in Note 45, management did not produce the information about the fair value of these
assets and other financial instruments concentrated in Lebanon and these consolidated financial
statements consequently do not include the fair value disclosures required by IFRS 13 — Fair Value
Measurement,

Had such adjustments and disclosures been determined and made, many elements and related
disclosures in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended 3! December
2024 and 31 December 2023 would have been materiglly different. The effects of the resolution of
these uncertainties on the consolidated financial statements and disclosures have not been determined,
Our opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons.

4. As at 31 December 2024, the Group holds equity instruments in entities operating in Lebanon
amounting to LL 677,476 million held at fair value through other comprehensive income and at fair
value through profit and loss (2023: LL 746,485 million), The fair value of these instruments is
measured based on a mix of observable and unobservable data holding a high level of uncertainty due
to lack of reliable market evidence in light of the uncertainties described in Note 1. As such, it is not
possible 10 determine the future effects that the economic crisis described in Note 1 would have on the
carrying amounts of these assets. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments
should have been recorded on these amounts. Our opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
modified for same reasons,

5. Asdisclosed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not apply the requirements
of IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts (“IFRS 17 which is effective from 1 January 2023. The consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared under IFRS 4 — Insurance Contracts (“IFRS 4”). Had the
Group applied the requirements of [FRS 17, many elements and disclosures in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, including the comparative financial information as at 31 December
2023, would have been materially different. The effects on the consolidated financial statements from this
departure have not been determined. Qur opinion for the year ended 31 Decernber 2023 was modified
for the same reasons.



EY IBDO

ifdl batt
Barking worid Semaan, Groram & Co.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL (continued)

Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

6. As at 31 December 2024, the Group carries provisions for risks and charges amounting to LL
22,358,777 million (2023: LL 5,706,942 million) for which we requested but did not receive any basis
for such provision. Accordingly, we were unable to determine whether these provisions meet the
recognition criteria of IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
Consequently, we were unable to determine whether adjustments to the carrying amount of these
provisions as at 3! December 2024 and related income statement accounts for the year ended 31
December 2024 were necessary. Our opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was modified for
SAIme Ieasons.

7. Asdisclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, law 330 was enacted on 4 December 2024
and its application decisions were issued by the Ministry of Finance in Lebanon on 12 March 2025.
Because of the late issuance of the application decisions, management was unable to finalize its
assessment and is still assessing the tax impacts of the full application of law 330 at the date of our audit
report. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended were necessary.

8. The events and conditions and practices that would not qualify as normal course of business in a non-
crisis environment described in Note 1 and the matters described in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above affect
the financial position, liquidity, solvency and profitability of the Group, and expose the Group to increased
litigation and regulatory risks. Significant uncertainty exists in relation to the outcome of the litigations,
claims and investigations raised against the Group and the negative impact that they may have on the
Group’s financial position as disclosed in Note 1. These events and conditions may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinicn for the year ended
31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Qur responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
Sfinancial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
[nternational Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Lebanon, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Emphasis of a Matter

We draw attention to Note 51 to the consolidated financial statements which describes the potential sale of
a subsidiary and the uncertainty relating to the future cutcome of this transaction. Our opinion is not further
modified with respect to this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL (continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3| December 2024. Except for the matters
described in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion” section of our report, we have determined that there are no
other key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Other Information Included in the Group’s 2024 Annval Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2024 Annual Report other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information.
The Group’s 2024 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us afler the date of this auditor’s

report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors” report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurancs, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the conselidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The visk
of not detecting a matierial misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw aitention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them ail relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in cur report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

g
L f‘i\ 23“"—{ Dut)

Emst & Young

16 October 2025
Beirut, Lebanen



Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2024

[nterest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

NET INTEREST INCOME

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Net trading gain

Non-interest revenues from financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other operating income

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

Net impairment loss on financial assets

NET OPERATING INCOME

Personnel expenses

Other operating expenses

Depreciation of property, equipment and right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible asseis

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

OPERATING PROFIT

Net gan from disposal of property, cquipment and right-of-use assets
PROEFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable fo:

Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share

2024 2023

Notes LL mitlion LL million
6 13,836,060 4,450,344
7 (3,747,087) (995,834)
10,088,973 3454510

8 4,970,294 1,065,442
8 (412,195) (210,112)
4,558,099 855.330

9 6,308,322 3,639,456
23 219,393 36,351
10 532,683 344,421
21,707,470 8,330,068

i (2,366,925) (1,175,786)
19,340,545 7,154 282

12 (4,649,073) (1.046,411)
13 (12,051,007) (5,746,151)
24 (556,073) (151,423)
25 (83,586) 7.134)
(17,339,739) (6.951,119)

2,000,806 203,163

- 2,354

2,000,806 205,517

14 (1,826,505) {199,316)
174,301 6,201

397,138 72,769

(222,837) (66,568)

174,301 6,201

LL Li

15 707 130

The attached notes 1 to 51 form part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Note

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Htems that witl be reclassified to the income staterment in subsequent periods:

Net unrealized profit from debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Tax effects

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Net other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to the income
statement in subsequent periods

Ttems that will nol be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent
periods;

Revaluation reserve
Tax ¢flects

Net unrealized gain from equity instrumenis at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Tax effects

Re-measurement losses on defined beneht plans 32 (a}

Net other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to the income
statement in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
Attributable to:

Equity hoiders of the parent
Non-controlling interasts

The attached notes 1 to 51 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

2024 2023
LEL milllon LL miition
174,301 6,201
78,629 782
(14,153) (139
64,476 643
18,884,336 3,060,699
18,948,812 3,061,342
8,010 6,747,292

£ (389,849)

8,010 6,357,443
2,281,827 943 070
(415,453) (143,258)
1,866,372 799,812
(483,320 (626,771)
1,391,062 6,530,484
20,339,874 9,591,826
20,514,175 9,598,027
20,734,124 9,323,589
(219,949) 274,438
20,514,175 9,598,027
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2024

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks

Due from banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase
agreements

Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets at fair value through profii or loss

Net loans and advances 10 cuslomers at amorlised cost

Net lpans and advances 1o relaigd parties at amortised cost

Debtors by acceptances

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assels at fair value through other comprehensive income

Property. equipment and right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Assets obtained in settlement of debt

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities

Due to central banks

Due to banks and financial institutions
Derivative financial instruments
Customers’ deposits at amortised cost
Deposits from related parties al amortised cost
Engagements by acceptances

Other liabilities

Provisions for risks and charges
Subordinated debt

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT

Share capital — common shares

Share capital - preferred shares

Share premiom — common shares

Share premium — preferred shares

Cash confribution to capital

Non-distribulable reserves

Distributable reserves

Treasury shares

Retained earnings {accumulated losses)

Revaluation reserve

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive incoms

Profit for the year

Foreign currency translation reserve

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Notes

16
17

18
15
20
21
42

22
23
24
25
26
27

28
29
19
30
42

31
32
33

2024 2023
LL mitlion £.L million
831,465,837 145,720,151
57,483,050 5,614,547
18,704,265 3,595,689
26,086 5,452
14,146,310 1,323,033
51,814,336 8,865,278
124,072 25,148
2,152,682 208.728
7,876,230 2,112,247
10,290,715 2,190,316
13,959,139 11,399,339
649,718 96,508
89,114 63,666
2,521,603 055,204
1,011,303,157 186,179,706
1,373,319 680,255
37,447 852 7,309,131
16,898 14,411
843,877,326 150,506,358
7,203,266 981,272
2,152,682 209,022
14,948,157 3,420,712
27,142,222 7,284,050
8,781,726 1,514,544
942,943,448 171,919,795
684,273 684,273
4,840 4,840
229,014 229,014
591,083 391,083
407,025 407,025
1,024,462 1,004,857
91,147 91,147
(8,524) {8,524)
30,478,029 {2,595,663)
9,701,473 9,696,351
2,322 204 785,566
397,138 72,769
21,893,250 3,008,914
67,815,414 13,971,652
544,295 288,259
68,359,709 14255911
1,011,303,157 186,179,706

The attached notes | to 51 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Balance at ¥ lamuary 2024
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Totel eomprehensive mcome:
Transfurs

Transfer ta apopmulzied dosses
il mgvement

Sale of FVOCL

Exchange difference (Mo 9)

Balange at 31 Decrmber 2024

Balance at 1 Jamuary 2023
Logs for the year
Other comprehenave incame (loss)

Totwl comprehensive income {loss)
Transfirs

Transfer w acocumulared logses
Translabon diffoenee

Balance at 31 Decernber 2023

Atirvbuiably to equity hofders of the parent

Chemge in faar
walue of financial
CEESELS O
Share Share fAvaemudoted fudr vakue forelgn
preouum - pramitun - Cah Non- Lose) Hrough ather currency How-
Comman Praforred comman preferred  oomtribution distributahle Digiriputable Treasury fi {  Revah campreh Profit for  trarclation coniraliing
hareg shares shares shares £ copltal retey resenes shares BBHINRE resErve troarme the year resere Tataf  fnterests Total
L mditon  LLmlhon  LL mithon LE mitifon LL nuflicn Ll miffion UL millon 14 mflon LI milion L mellion L pullom  LL miffion LLmilon  LLmiilign Ll mitfon  LL pifhon
684,273 4,540 29014 501 0K) 307,025 1,004,857 B1,147 (3.524) (2.595663)  9.696.35] 785,566 TRIEE I0GRYIa 13971,652 853259 14259911
- - . . . R . . . . B 157,138 - IR (122337 174,301
- - . - . . (48320) (R} 1,930 848 - IRE8AFI6  20IT6HE 2588 20,139,874
. . - . - B - (483310} 5122 1,930,848 ISTIA% IRERA336 20734020 (2199490 20514175
- - - 19605 - - {19,£05) - - - . . . .
- - . B B B TII60 (72,769) . - -
- - - - - - - - {24,418) - - - - {24,418) - {26418)
. . - - . . - 394,210 - (3M710) . . . . .
- - - - . - 33054055 - - - - 33134056 475985 31610041
684,273 4,840 xi9,014 591,083 40?.025- 1024,462 91,147 (8,524) 30,478,029 2,701,473 2322304 197,138 21,593,250 67815414 544,295 6R 355,709
Artridnitadle 1o equiy kofders of thy parera
Change in falr
vaiue of financial
SIS
Share Khare Sav vafue Foreizm
Fremium - premmm - Cazch MNon- through other HTency Non-
Common Preferred Common preferved b isivibutirdte Disiributadl Freamry Accummlzted  Revajuah comprefi Profii for  oraoaslaiion contratfing
shares shares sharus sharey io eapliad reserves reservEs sherres losses resene ircome ey rESE Tord  Jrmtewests Towd
LL gieflion Limillion  LL mulfion LL mlflon LL mitlion L mithon  LL euilron  LL mulfion  LE milfion LL railion L1 wullfion  Li ewllion LLaollion  LL mulffon LL milflon LY miffion
654273 4540 20014 501 083 407,025 1,007,749 90561 (B.5274)  (A31$99) 3679488 (14,588) (1,541,747 ($1,360) 4646015 13621 4,659,836
. 3 . 5 . . R . . . . 73,769 . 70769 [66.555) 6201
- - - - {626,771) 6,016,863 400,454 3060274 9250820 341006 93501826
- - R - - - - (626,771) 5,016,863 A00,454 72760 3060274 9323390 174438 0598027
. - . - (2892) 434 . 24065 . - - . - - -
. . . . i . . {1,541,747) . 1,541,747 - - .
- - - - - - 2048 - - 248 2048
684273 4,840 20014 501,083 407 025 785,566 13971652 288259% 14259911

1,004,857 91147 | (8524) (1,595.663)

696,351

T2768

3008914

The artached notes I to 51 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2024

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjusuments to reconcile profit befbre tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of receivables from Central Bank of Lebanon
Net impairment lass on finangial assets
Gain on disposal of property, equipment and right-of-use assets
Profit on disposal of asse1s oblained in settlement of debt
Provisions for risks and charges, net

Unrealized fair valug (gain) losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or

loss
Realized gains from financral assots
Derivative foancial instruments
Net foreign exchange difference

Changes in operating assets and liabililies
Due from central banks
Due to central banks
Due from banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Due 10 banks and financiat institutions
Net loans and advances to customers and related parties
Assets obtained in settlement of debt
Proceeds from sale of agscts obtained in setttement of debt
Other assets
Customers’ and related parties’ deposits
Other liabilities

Cash (used in) from operations
Provisions for risks and charges paid
Taxation paid

Net cash (used in) from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Financiat asscts at amaortised cost

Fmancial assets at fair value through other comprehgnsive income

Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements
Purchase of propetty, equipment and right-of-use assets

Purchase of intangible assets

Praceeds from sale of propenty, equipment and right-of-use assets

Net cash nsed in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Subordinated debt

1 ease liability paymenis

Net cash (used in} from financing activitics

{DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Net foreign cxchange difference in respect of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
Operational ¢cash flows from infecrest and dividends

Interest paid

Tnterest received
Dividend received

2024 2023

Notex LI milllon LL mitlion
2,000,806 205,517

24 & 25 039,659 158,557
177,718 41,578

11 2,366,928 1,175,786
- {2.354)

- (7.211)

7,762,653 4,969,569

(7,204,611) 52,317

(812) {4,386}

(18,147) 8,509

{33,134,056) -
(27,409,865) 6,597,832
(44,525,457 (124,215,923)

{60,909) (270,503)

(2,832,958) (6,232,684)

948,762 (1,235,132)

(5,971,587 5,305,119

(727,048) (7,080,141)

- {8.801)

- 12,004

497470 {390,271)

(33.942,774) 132,768,729
26,788,844 533,860
(87,235,522) 5,784,229

32 (124,933) (6,538)
14 (279.971) {33,057
(87,640,426) 5,744,634

955,993 925,010

(8,100,399 {1,223 371)

1,603,343 (1,669 ,619)

24 {214,663) (316,989
23 (232367 {43,714)
- 4,198

{5,988,093) (2,327,485)

(255,053 1,358,688

(16,416) 2,647

(271,469) 1,361,335
(93,899,988) 4,778,484
684,117,750 72,617,043
85,184,630 7,789,098

41 675,402,392 85,184,630
(2,982,552) (%68,639)

12,966,423 4,118,418

219,393 36,351

The attached notes | to 51 forn part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™), a Lebanese joint stock company, was incorporated in 1961 and registered under
No 14150 at the commercial regiséry of Beirut and under No 39 on the banks’ list published by the Central Bank
of Lebanon. The Bank’s head office is located in Ashrafieh, Elias Sarkis Street, Beirut, Lebanon. The Bank’s
shares are listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange. Effective 30 July 2020, the delisting of the Bank’s GDR from the
London SEAQ became effective.

The Bank, together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group™), provides a wide range of banking and
insurance services, through its headquarters and branches in Lebanon and its presence in Europe, Middle East and
Africa,

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with the Board of Directors’
resolution on 10 October 2025,

1.1 Macroeconomic Environment

The Group’s operations are mostly in Lebanon that has been witnessing, since 17 October 2019, severe evenis
that have set off an interconnected fiscal, monetary and economic crisis as well as deep recession that have reached
unprecedented levels. Sovereign credit ratings have witnessed a series of downgrades by all major rating agencies
and reached the level of default when, on 7 March 2020, the Lebanese Republic announced that it will withhold
payment on the bonds due on 9 March 2020, which was followed by another announcement on 23 March 2020
for the discontinuation of payments on all of its US Dollars denominated Eurobonds.

Throughout this sequence of events, the ability of the Lebanese government and the banking sector in Lebanon to
borrow funds from imemational markets was significantly affecied. Banks have imposed de-facto capital conirols,
restricled transfers of foreign currencies outside Lebanon, significamly reduced credit lines to companies and
withdrawals of cash to privale depositors, all of which added 10 the disruption of the country’s economic activity,
as the economic model of Lebanon relies mainly on imports and consumption. Businesses downsized, closed, or
bankrupted and unemployment and poverty rose fast and have reached unprecedented levels.

The difficulty in accessing foreign currencies led to the emergence of a parallel market to the peg whereby the
price to access foreign currencies increased constantly, deviating significanily from the peg of 1,507.5 LL 10 the
US Dollar. This has resulted in an uncontrolled rise in prices and the incessant de-facto depreciation of the
Lebanese Lira, impacting intensely the purchasing power of Lebanese citizens, driving a currency crisis, high
inflation and rise in the consumer price index. In February 2023, the Central Bank of Lebanon changed the official
published exchange rate from LL 1,507.5 to LL 15,000 to the US Dollar. In January 2024, the Central Bank of
Lebanon changed the official published exchange rate from LL 15,000 to LL 89,500 to the US Dollar.

As a result of the de-facto capital controls, the multitude of exchange rates, the hyperinflation, and the potential
repercussions of government reform measures on (i} the banks operating in Lebanon, and (ii) the Lebanese
people’s net worth, their local businesses and their local bank accounts, the Lebanese market saw the need to
differentiale between onshore assets and offshore assets, foreign currency bank accounts that are subject to de-
facto capital controls and those that are not subject to capital controls, onshore liabilities and offshore liabilities.
Hence the new terms in the Lebanese market, such as “local Dollars” 1o designate local US Dollars bank accounts
that are subject to de-facto capital controls, and “fresh funds/accounts” to designate foreign currency cash and
foreign currency bank accounts which are free from capital controls (as they are sourced from foreign currency
cash and/or from incoming fransfers from abroad).

Lebanese Government's Financial Recovery Plan
A financial recovery plan was ratified by the Cabinet on 20 May 2022.

The plan incledes several measures that are prerequisites to unlock funds from a preliminary deal with the
International Monetary Fund agreed in April 2024, that could help pull the country out of a three-year financial
meltdown.

The endorsed plan foresees a full audit of the Ceniral Bank's forex financial standing. Then, the government "will
cancel, at the outset, a large part of the Central Bank's foreign currency obligations to banks in order to reduce the
deficit in BDL's capital,” the document said. The largest 14 commercial banks, representing 83% of tota) assets,
would also be audited. Viable banks would be recapitalised with “significant contributions” from banks’
shareholders and large depositors.
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

1.1 Macroeconomic Environment (continued)

Lebanese Government's Financial Recovery Plan (continuyed)

The plan made no mention of a sovereign fund to manage state-owned assets but pledges to limit recourse to
public assets, which had been a demand of Lebanon's commercial banks. The plan said it would protect small
depositors "to the maximum exient possible” in each viable bank but did not lay out 2 minimwm amount to be
prolected — unlike drafi plans. Non-viable banks, however, would be dissolved by the end of November, it added.
As of loday, laws for the reinstatement of financial stability, for the resolution of banks and for capital controls
are yet to be issued.

International Monetary Fund

The Lebanese authorities and the IMF team have reached a staff-level agreement (SLA) on comprehensive
economic policies that could be supported by a 46-month Extended Fund Amrangement (EFF) with requested
access of SDR 2,173.9 million (equivalent to abour USE 3 billion). This agreement is subject to approval by IMF
Management and the Executive Board, after the timely implementation of all prior actions and confirmation of
international partners’ financial support.

Recent Political Developments

The recent political developments (Ceasefire agreement, presidential elections, PM designation, Cabinet
announcement, etc) opened the couniry 1o new horizons if the opportunity is appropriately grasped on behalf of
Lebanese decisions makers. This month saw the formation of a cabinet of qualified experts followed by the
appointment of a new Central Bank Governor.

Banking Restructuring

On 12 April 2025, the Cabinet approved the draft banking reform law which is yet to be approved by the
Parliament, [ts implementation is contingent on the passage of the financial gap law, highlighting the
interdependence of the three core reforms: litting banking secrecy, restructuring banks, and closing the financial

gap.
The law introduces a full legal framework for intervening in the operations of failing banks, with the aim of
protecting depositors, safeguarding financial stability, and ensuring the continuity of essential banking services.
As a starting point, banks are required to meet minimum capital and liquidiry requirements that will be specified
in the financial gap law. The law clearly outlines the conditions under which a bank is deemed lo be failing or
likely to fail, and introduces several restructuring tools such as recapitalization, forced mergers, and assel
separation.

At the heart of the draft law is ihe creation of a2 Bank Restructuring Authority, a specialized independent body
tasked with overseeing the resolution process of distressed financial institutions. This authority would have
sweeping powers, including the ability to initiate bank restructuring, appoint independent valuers, enforce asset
transfers, and if necessary, trigger liquidation procedures.

It remains unclear how the events mentioned above will evolve, and the Group continues to monitor the situation
closely. Any and all such events mentioned above will add up to the already material adverse prospecis on the
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects, liquidity and capital position.
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.2 Regulatory Environment

During 2020 and up to the daie of authorization of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the Centval
Bank of Lebanon has issued several circulars to address the situations, mainly:

+  Basic Circular 150 issued on 9 April 2020 and exempting banks from placing mandatory reserves with the
Ceniral Bank of Lebanon in relation to funds transferred from abroad or cash deposits in foreign currency
received after 9 April 2020, subject to preserving and guaranteeing the liberty of the depositors in
determining the use of these funds and benefiting from all kinds of banking services (transfers abroad,
intermational credit card limits, foreign currency cash withdrawals...). Banks are requesied to maintain at all
limes an amount equivalent to those funds in the form of (i) cash held in vaults at the Bank’s premises, (ii)
offshore accounts held with correspondents and (iii) “cash money” accounts held with BdL as per Basic
Circular 165 definition. Intermediate Circular 715 issued on 21 November 2024 expanded the scope Lo
include sovereign debts instruments issued by G10 countries and debt instruments rated “BBB” and above
on the condition they are held at fair value.

s  Basic Circular 151 issued on 21 April 2020 and concerning depositors who wish to withdraw amounts of
cash from their foreign currencies accounts as per a specific rate up to limits set by the Bank. The exchange
rate specified by the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon in ils transactions with banks will remain applicable to all
other operations in US Dollar. At maturity as at 31 December 2023, the circular was not tenewed.

» [ntermediate Circular 567 issued on 26 August 2020 (amending Basic Circular 23, 44 and 78), which partly
altered the directives for the determination of expected credit losses and regulatory capital calculation and
ratios, previously sel in its Intermediate Circular 543 issued on 3 February 2020. Loss rate applied for the
calculation of regulatory expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese sovereign bonds in foreign
currencies was increased from 9.45% to 45%, (later on increased again to 75% by Intermediate Circular
649), while loss rates applied for the calculation of regulatory expected credit losses on exposures to
Lebanese sovereign bonds in local currency, exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currencies
and exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in local currency remained the same (0%, 1.89% and 0%
respectively).

¥ Allowing banks to constitute the expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese sovereign and the
Central Bank of Lebanon, progressively over a period of five years, noting that the Central Bank of
Lebanon’s Ceniral Council may accept to extend the term to 10 years for banks that manage to complete
the 20% cash coniribution fo capital requirement. Inlermediate ¢ircular 649 issued on 24 November 2022
replaced the aforementioned five years and ten years deadline by the fixed dates of 31 December 2026
and 31 December 2029 respectively.

¥ Allowing banks not to automatically downgrade loan classification or staging for borrowers that were
negatively affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, showing past due and unpaid for the period from 1
February 2020 to 31 December 2020, These borrowers must be identified as either still operating on a
going concern basis or not. In case the borrower is still operating as a going concern, the Bank may
reschedule the loan. In exceptional cases when the borrower ceases to operate as a going concern following
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank must immediaiely downgrade the loan classification and
staging to Stage 3 (default).

¥ Requesting from banks to finalize the assessment of the future financial position of their customers by 31
December 2020, and to estimate expected credit losses based on this assessment and recognize ihe
financial impact in the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2020.

¥ Prohibiting banks from distributing dividends on common shares for the years 2019 and 2020 (Years
2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 were subsequently added by way of Intermediate Circulars 616, 659,
676 and 726 respectively).

¥ Requesting from banks to increase their own funds (equity) by an amount equal to 20% of their common
equity Tier | capital as of 31 December 2018, through issuing new foreign currency capital instrumenis
that meet the criteria for inclusion as regulatory capital, except retained earnings and gain from revaluation
of fixed assets. The Central Bank of Lebanon’s Central Council may exceptionally approve for 2 bank to
complete 50% of the 20% required capital increase through the transfer of real estate properties from the
shareholders to the concerned bank. However, these real estate properties must be liguidated in a period
of 5 years following the operation.




Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1

1.2
>

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory Environment (continued)
Changing the treatment of revaluation of fixed assets reserve for regulatory capital calculation, to become
allowed for inclusion as Common Equity Tier | (previously 50% of this reserve was allowed for inclusion
as Tier 2), subject to approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the revaluation gain. On 20 January
2023, Intermediate Circular 659 capped the inclusion of revaluation of fixed assets at 50% under certain
conditions while allowing the use of the prevailing Sayrafa rate at the end of each reporting period over 5
years. Besides, it widened the scope of revaluation to include participations and long-term loans to
affiliated banks and financial insiitutions. . Intermediate Circular 685 issued on 28 December 2023
increased ihe contribution of this revaluation to Common Equity Tier 1 from 50% to 75%.
Banks must comply with the minimum capital adeauacy ratios and are forbidden from distributing profits
if these ratios drop below 7% for common equity Tier 1, 10% for Tier | and 12% for total capital. Banks
must maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, comprised of Common Equity Tier 1. After allowing
banks to draw down the buffer fully during 2020 and 2021, a partial drawn up to 1.75% in 2022, latest
regulatory changes introduced on 2 February 2024 via Intermediate Circular 689 allowed a full draw down
of the 2.5% buffer during years 2023 and 2024. Central Bank of Lebanon will issue future instructions for
reconstitution of capital.
Preparing and presenting to the Central Bank of Lebanon a comprehensive plan for rectifying non-
compliances with regulatory capital requirements and other regulations imposed by the Ceniral Bank of
Lebanon, taking into consideration all required provisions by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon {BCCL), as well as other losses or provisions that the Bank expects to incur from all kinds of
exposures to risks, and specifying the period of time needed to address the non-compliances.
Excepfionally for the years 2020 and 2021, Allowances for Expected Credit Losses on Stage 1 and 2
exposures, excluding those relating to Lebanese sovereign and the Central Bank of Lebanon, may be
included under regulatory Common Equity Tier 1. This treatmeni will be amortized over a period of 3
years (2022-2024 by 25% yearly).

Basic Circular 154 issued on 27 August 2020 and aiming mainly at restoring the operations of banks in
Lebanon to their normal levels as at before October 2019, and rectifying any non-compliance with regulatory
ratios and banking regulations. The circular mainly introduced the following measures:

Requesting banks fo present a fair assessment of the value of their assets and liabilities for the purpose of
putting in place the comprehensive plan referred to in Intermediate Circular 567 (refer to above), in order to
be able, within a period limited in time, to comply with the regulatory and banking requirements, mainly
those related to liquidity and solvency, and in order to restore the operations of the Bank 1o their normal
levels as at before October 2019,

Requesting banks to incite each customer who has transferred abroad, between | July 2017 and the date of
the circular, more than US$ 500,000 or their equivalent in other foreigh currencies, to deposit in a 5-year
term (extended 10 8-year term following [ntermediate Circular 707 dated 20 Sepiember 2024) “special
account” an amount equal to 15% to 30% (depending on the type of customer) of the transferred amount.
Banks shall use this type of deposits to facilitate foreign operations that stimulate the national economy.
This is also applicable for the banks’ importing customers, based on opened letiers of credits during any of
the years 2017, 2018 and 2019, and without a minimum threshold.

Requesting from banks to maintain a current account with a foreign correspondent bank offshore, free of
any obligations (cash on premises and liquidity abroad). Such accounts shall be at no time less than 3% of
the Bank’s total foreign currency deposits as at 31 July 2020, by 28 February 2021. This requirement was
subject to several amendments; the latest (Intermediate Circular 707) considered foreign currency deposits
as at 31 July 2024 as the basis for the computation instead of 31 July 2020, thus lowering liquidity required
levels as customers’ deposits decreased over the period. Besides, it extended the daie to comply io be 31
December 2025 instead of 28 February 2021. Also it added to the numerator Lebanese sovereign Eurobonds
as well as US Treasury and Investment grade foreign debi instruments on the condition they are held at fair
value, Intermediate Circular 716 issued on 21 November 2024 expanded again the scope to include sovereign
debts instruments issued by G10 countries and debt instruments rated “BBB” and above held at fair value,
Requesting from banks, after taking consideration of their fair assessment of their financial position, to
present a plan during the first quarter of 2021, 10 address recapitalization needs, if any, to the Ceniral Bank
of Lebanon’s Central Council, for its approval. Banks shall take the necessary legal and regulatory measures
in order to facilitate the consensual possibility for their depositors 10 transfer their deposils to shares or
bonds. Bank shares will be exclusively listed in Beirut. Banks can pay interest on the bonds that exceed
current levels.
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory Environment (continued)

Basic Circular 157 issued on 10 May 2021 and setting the framework of exceptional measures for foreign-
currency operations. Hence, banks operating in Lebanon must process customers’ FX operations (buy and
sell) related to their personal or commercial needs on the electronic platform “Sayrafa”. Transactions with
customers encompass purchase and sale of foreign currencies banknotes against LL, as well as operations
from/to foreign currencies external accounts against LL. Banks are required to properly document each
transaction and should not collect commission margins between buy and sell operations exceeding 1%.

Basic Circular 158 issued on 8 June 2021 and defining the mechanism for the gradual settiement of foreign
currency deposits up to an amount equivalent to US$ 50,000. To benefit from the provisions of the said
circular, certain eligibility criteria must be met.

Etigible funds will be transferred to a subaccount over which banking secrecy will be lifted vis-&-vis BDL
and BCC before being gradually withdrawn and remitted to the customer on a monthly basis. Customers’
monthly entitlements are (i) an amount of US$ 400 in cash or equivalent (transfer abroad, credited to a
payment card with interational usage, ¢tc¢.) (amended later on to US$ 300 for all BDL 158-based coniracts
signed with the customers after 1 July 2023 following the issuance of BDL intermediate circutar 674 on 5
July 2023) and (ii) an amount in LL equivalent to US$ 400 and converted at a rate US$/LL 12,000 (before
amendment USE/LL at 15,000 on 20 January 2023), noting that 50% of the amount will be paid in cash and
50% will be credited io a payment card. The portion in LL was later on removed with the issuance of BDL
Intermediate Circular 674. On 17 November 2023, BDL. issued Intermediate Circular 682 adding an
eligibility criteria to benefit from Basic Circular 158. On 8 June 2024, Intermediate Circular 697 expanded
the scope of beneficiaries to include minors. Besides, beneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 158 can now
benefil from BDL. Basic Circular 166 as long they don’t benefit from both circulars concurrently in the same
“yearly cycle” (Ist of July in any given year -30th of June in the following year). The yearly cycle
requirement was later on removed by Intermediate Circular 717 issued on 26 November 2024,

During 2024 several intermediary circulars were issued granting additional payments to beneficiaries of
Basic Circular 158 (2 in October 2024, 1 for each month from November 2024 to Januvary 2025) All
additional payments were financed from the Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign currency.
Intermediate circular 729 issued on 20 February 2025 increased the monthly payment to be $500 for all
beneficiaries of Basic Circular 158. The additional amounts were financed from the Bank’s compulsory
reserves with BDL in foreign currency.

Customers who have transferred their funds after the crisis to another local Bank can benefit from the
provisions of said circular if (i) wansferred funds are retuined to the originating bank, and if (i) the customer
hadn’t benefited from the circular neither from the originating Bank, not the destination Bank, The financing
of the aforementioned process will be secured equally through (i) BDL reduction of compulsory reserves
requirements from 15% to 14% as per BDL Intermediate Circular 586 and (ii) the Bank’s offshore liguidity.
To that end, the Bank can use its foreign liquidity subject computed as per BDL Basic Circular 154
requirements on the condition that it reconstitutes it by 31 December 2022, extended to 31 December 2023
by Inlermediate Circular 626 issued on 21 June 2022,

Basic Circular 159 issued on 17 August 2021 preventing banks from processing foreign currency funds
received from customers whether in the form of cash or through offshore iransfers at a value other than its
face value, with the exception of transactions pertaining to the settlement of loans (which was subsequently
removed by Intermediate Circular 671 issued on 20 June 2023). It also prevented banks from purchasing
foreign currencies at parallel rate with the exception of the purchase foreign currencies duly recorded on the
electronic plaiform and resuliing from offshore incoming transfers with the purpose of (i) enhancing
liquidity, (ii} engaging in medium or long term investmenits, (iii) settling intemational commitments. Finally,
the circular prevented banks from purchasing bankers’ checks and other bank accounts in foreign currencies,
whether directly or indirectly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory Environment (continued)
Intermediate Circular 600 (amending Basic Circular 73} issued on 3 November 2021 requires banks to record
existing and future provisions for expected credit losses in the same currency as the related assets and off-
balance sheet exposures, Banks are also required fo set in place necessary measures to manage their FX
position resulting from provisions recorded in foreign currencies.

Intermediate Circular 616 issued on 3 March 2022 prohibiting banks from distributing dividends to ordinary
shareholders from resulis of financial years 2019, 2020 and 2021 (years 2022, 2023 and 2024 were added
through Intermediate Circular 659, 676 and 726 respectively).

Basic Circular 162 issued on 28 March 2022 requesting from banks to secure a level of liquidity sufficient to
allow public sector employees to withdraw their monthly salaries and other compensations without setting any
type of limits.

Basic Circular 163 issued on 27 May 2022 defining the framework for the monitoring of the accounts of public
officials, the performance of due diligence on their operations and the reporting to the Special Investigation
Committee on the basis of founded suspicion.

Intermediate Circular 637 issued on 27 July 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 65 and 78) requires banks selling
real estate properties or panicipations acquired in accordance with the provisions of Article 153 or 154 of the
CMC, only against fresh US$ or its equivalent in LL based on Sayrafa rate.

Basic Circular 164 issued on 12 October 2022 and requesting banks to report to the Banking Control
Commission on the cost of their monihly operafing expenses that should be paid with fresh money, the
resources for settling these expenses and how o ensure those resources.

Intermediate Circular 648 issued on 1 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 14 and 67) reduced by 50%
the interest rates served on foreignh currencies placements with BDL and on Certificates of Deposits issued by
BDL while continuing paying 50% of coupon payment in the instrument’s cuirency and 50% in LL at official
rate (LL 1,507.5 to the US Dollar until 31 January 2023 and LL 15,000 to the US Dollar afterwards). This
circular was later amended on 2 February 2024 by Intermediate Circular 686 increasing the interest rate
reduction on foreign currencies placements with BDL and on Certificates of Deposits issued by BDL from
50% to 75% while limiting the coupon payment 1o be in FCY only. The Intermediate Circular 701 issued on
27 June 2024 specified that interesis paid in US$ by BDL on the banks’ term deposits in US dollars and on
Certificates of deposits in US Dollar owned by banks will be placed in the non-“cash money” current account
opened at BDL for the concerned bank. Those provisions are applicable until 31 December 2024. Intermediate
Circular 719 issued on 17 December 2024 extended the deadline io 30 June 2025.

Intermediaie Circular 649 issued on 24 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 44 and 143) introduced a
forbearance treatment in capital ratios computation by allowing the exclusion from Common Equity Tier 1 of
a portion of losses incurred from FX purchases from BDL against LL banknotes (66% and 33% respectively
in 2022 and 2023).

Intermediate Circular 656 issued on 20 January 2023 stating that Banks and financial institutions operating in
Lebanon must not accept the repayment of loans granted in foreign currencies to non-residents, of which off-
shore companies, except through incoming cross-border transfers of fresh funds.

Basic Circular 165 issued on 19 April 2023 and requesting banks o open new accounts at BDL in LL and in
US Dollar specifically and exclusively for the “Cash Money” (i.e. money transferred from abroad and/or
received as banknotes in foreign currencies after 17 November 2019 in addition to the money deposiled or
which will be deposited as banknotes in new accounts in LL and which respect the conditions set it BDL basic
circular 150 for “fresh money™). These new accounts will be used for the settlement, compensation & transfer
operations through BDL National Payment System (BDL-NPS).
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1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (confinued)
Regulatory Environment (continued)

Intermediate Circular 683 issued on 17 November 2023 amending the provisions BDL Basic Cicular 32 which
defines the framework of Foreign Exchange (“FX") operations in Banks operating in Lebanon and various FX
positions computation. This circular came on the wake of several amendments applied in 2023 (Intermediate
Circular 659, Intermediate Circular 675 and Intermediate Circular 677) aiming at converging to the IAS 21:
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates differentiating monetary from non-monetary items and the
corresponding impact on the Bank’s FX position. Based on the new definition, the Bank is authorized to hold
a Special Long FX position to hedge its core equity againsi FX risk. This special iong FX position is to be
deducted from the FX open position to reach the FX Trading Position. Besides, the circular reintroduced the
1% maximum limit (if the Bank holds concurrently a long open position and a net long trading position} on net
rading position and 40% limit on Global position, while cancelling all previously authorized structural/fixed
positions and any forbearance limit, The Intermediate Circular 730 issued on 20 February 2025 staled that
excesses over set limits whether long or short should be liquidated by 31 December 2025.

Intermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in Common Equity Tier | of
balance of Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments as well as 75% of net changes from FVTOC]
instruments, Besides, it allowed a full draw down of the 2.5% capital conservation buffer during years 2023
and 2024,

Intermediate Circular 690 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in the regulatory equity of
positive balance (gains) of Foreign Cumvency Translation Reserve noting that this equity is used for the
computation of various regulatory ratios other than capital adequacy ratios {(FX position, limit of placement
with FI, Code of money credit (“CMC™) 153 limut.

Basic Circular 166 issued on 2 February 2024 defining a new mechanism for the repayment of restricied funds
in foreign currencies and de-facto replacing Basic Circutar 151, which authorized limited withdrawals in LL
from FCY accounts at pre-defined exchange rates and has not been renewed, Beneficiaries from said circular
-who cannot be old or current bengficiaries from Basic Circular 158 - would be able to withdraw on 2 monthly
basis US$ 150 in cash up to a cumulative amount of USS 4,350 until June 2026. 50% of said amount will be
financed from the Bank's own liquidity and 50% from the Bank’s restricted funds with BDL. Certain
exclusions parameters apply to potential customers wishing 1o benefit from the circular (Customers who did
not return offshore transfers as per basic circular 154, traders of checks, customers who converted LL depasits
into foreign currencies for at least USSE 300,000 post-crisis with the exception of those who converted their end
of service indemnity, customers who seitled their FCY loans for an amount equivalent to US$ 300,000 from
LL proceeds, beneficiaries of Sayrafa transactions above or equal to US$ 75,000, corporate clients, eic.).On 27
June 2024, Intermediate Circular 698 expanded the scope of beneficiaries to include minors. Besides,
beneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 166 can now benefit from BDL Basic Circular 158 as long they don’t
benefit from both circulars concurrently in the same “yearty cycle” (1st of July in any given year -30th of june
in the following year). The yearly cycle requirement was later on removed by Intermediate Circular 718 issued
on 26 November 2024.

During 2024 several intermediary circulars were issued granting additional payments to beneficiaries of Basic
Circular 166 (2 in October 2024, 1 for each month from November 2024 to January 2025). All additional
payments were financed from the Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign currency.

Intermediate circular 728 issued on 20 February 2025 increased the monthly payment to be $250 for all
beneficiaries of Basic Circular 166. The additional amounts were financed from the Bank’s compulsory
reserves with BDL in foreign cuirency.

Basic Circular 167 issued on 2 February 2024 defining the published rate on BDL’s electronic platform as the
FX translation rate for the Bank’s FCY monetary items as well for the non-monetary assets measured at fair
value and assets measured as per equity method in line with IAS 21. This measure applies starting January
2024 reported financials,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.2 Regulatory Environment (continued)

s Intermediate Circular 708 issued on 20 September 2024 (amending Basic Circulars 43 and 44) changing the
treatment of revaluation of foreclosed assets for regulalory capital calculation, to become allowed for inclusion
as Common Equity Tier | for 75% of its value (previously 332 of this reserve was allowed for inclusion as
Tier 2), subject to approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the revaluation gain and on the completion of
the revaluation before 31 December 2025.

» Intermediate Circular 712 issued on 10 October 2024 (amending Basic Circular 147) requesting from Banks to
refund customers’ accounts with the proceeds of a Banker’s check issued by the Bank from the concerned
customer’s account on the condition it has not been endorsed and there are no related litigations. Besides, if the
customer is eligible, he can benefit from provisions of Basic Circulars 158 and 166.

s Intermediate Circular 723 issued on 13 January 2025 (amending Basic Circular 81) restricting the granting of
loans in US Dollas to “cash money" only as per Basic Circular 165 definition.

s Intermediate Circular 733 issued on 27 March 2025 (amending Basic Circular 159) permitting banks to
purchase foreign currencies provided that the margins and commissions do not exceed 1% of the purchase price
to only sell local foreign currency only to Central Bank of Lebanon. Banks are also restricted to sell or purchase
financial instrument in Local foreign currencies without prior approval from Central Bank of Lebanon
(amended with Intermediate Circular 734 issued on 14 April 2025).

1.3 Particular situation of the Group

Exchange Rates

Several exchange rates had emerged since the last quarter of 2019 that varied significantly among each other and
from the official published exchange rate. The official exchange rate was changed from LL 1,507.5 to LL 15,000
to the US Dollar in February 2023 and then to LL 15,000 to LL 89,500 to the US Dollar in January 2024. Sayrafa
Rates (refer to below) and parallel markes rates remained highly volatile and divergent from the official published
exchange rates since the last quarter of 2019 up to the last change in the official published exchange rate in January
2024, as a result of which they became convergent.

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency, transactions in foreign currency and foreign currency translation
reserves, regardless of whether they are onshore or offshore, were reflected in these consolidated financial
statements at the official published exchange rates as follows:

2024 2023
Year-end Rate Average Rate Year-end Rate Average Rate
LL LL LL LL
US Dollars §9,500.00 89,500.00 15,000.00 13,875.63
Euro 93,465.00 96,752.54 16,695.00 15,049.23
Armenian Dram 225.69 213.38 3721 3548
Syrian Pound 6.60 6.34 1.19 1.90
Iragi Dinar 68.32 63.58 11.45 10.58

The exchange rates above consist of the official exchange rates published by the Central Bank of Lebanon on a
monthly basis.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular sitnation of the Group (continued)
Sayrafa Platform

On 10 May 2021, the Central Bank of Lebanen issued Basic Circular 157 setting the framework of exceptional
measures for foreign-currency operations. Hence, banks operating in Lebanon must process customers” FX
operations (buy and sell) related 1o their personal or commercial needs on the electronic platform “Sayrafa”.

Transactions with customers encompass purchase and sale of foreign currencies banknotes against LL, as well as
operations from/to foreign cuirencies external accounts against LL. Sayrafa corresponds to a floating system and
the Sayrafa average rate and volume of foreign currency operations are published on the website of the Central
Bank of Lebanon. Foreign currency operations were executed on the Sayrafa platform at the following exchange
rates:

Average Rate Average Rate
for the year Jor the year
Rate as at 31 ended 37 Rate as ar 31 ended 31
December December December December
2024 2024 2023 2023
LL LL LL Li
US Dollar 89,500 89,500 89,500 78.116

The platform rate is not available for the purchase and sale of and *local” foreign currency bank accounts which
are subject to de-facto capital controls.

3! December 2024

The Group uses the official published exchange rate to translate all balances and transactions in foreign currencies,
regardless of their source or nature. With respect to onshore monetary assets and liabilities, subject 1o de-facto
capital controls, this does not always represent a reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese Liras
thai would have 1o be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such liabilities at the
date of the consclidated financial statements.

31 December 2023

Because of the gap between the several exchange rates available, the number of variables and assumptions
affecting the possible future resolution of the uncenainties is very high, increasing the subjectivity and complexity
of the judgment, and Management was unable to determine the rate at which the future cash flows represenied by
the transaction or balance could have been settled depending on ils source and nature, if those cash flows had
occurred at the measurement date. Accordingly, the Group used the official published exchange rate to translate
all balances and transactions in foreign currencies, regardless of their source or nature which did not represent a
reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese Liras that would have to be generated/used from the
realisation of such assels or the payment of such liabitities.

Excepted Credit Losses

As at 31 December 2024, loss allowances on assets held at the Central Bank of Lebanon are recorded in these
consolidated financial statements at the loss rates mentioned in the Central Bank of Lebanon’s Basic Circular 44
in addition to an amount of LL 6,148,957 million. Due to the high levels of unceriainty and to the lack of
observable indicators and visibility on the governiment’s plans with respect to banks’ exposure 1o the Central Bank
of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign, we are unable to estimale in a reasonable manner expecied credit losses on
these exposures. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments of the camying
amount of these assets to their recoverable amounts based on International Financial Reporting Standards and an
expected credit loss model.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Group (continued)

Excepted Credit Losses (continued)

The impact is expected to be pervasive and will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements once the debt
restructuring has been defined conclusively by the government and all uncertainties and constraints are resolved,
and once the mechanism for allocating losses by asset class and currency is clear and conclusive. Maximum
exposures to the credit risk of the Central Bank of Lebanon and the Lebanese government and the recognised loss
allowances, as well as their staging, are detailed in Note 46.2 to these consolidated financial statements.

As aresult of the negative economic conditions and the deepening of the recession, the credit quality of the private
loans portfolio concentrated in Lebanon has significantly deteriorated since the last quarter of 2019. The
deterioration was further aggravated by the effects of the significant high inflation in Lebanon. Since the start of
the Lebanese crisis, the Group has been implementing a de-risking strategy by considerably reducing its assets
size, specificalty its portfolio of private loans concentrated in Lebanon. It has also set up a centralised and
specialised remedial function to proactively review and manage the quality of its various portiolios. The private
loans portfolio of Lebanese entities has significantly contracted since the onset of the Lebanese crisis. With all
other variables held constant, Management believes that the significant devaluation of the Lebanese Liras (and
de-facto local US Dollars) and the miple digit inflation, reduced the risks of default compared to 31 December
2019. However, given the high level of uncertainties facing the Lebanese economy and the expected type of
instruments underlying future cash flows on settlement of these private loans, loss allowances have been estimated
based on the best available information at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
economic conditions combined with expert judgment. Maximum exposures Lo the credit risk of the Group's
portfolio of private loans and the recognised loss allowances, as well as their staging, are detailed in Note 46.2 to
these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidaled financial position of the Group, as reported in these consolidated financial statements, does not
reflect the adjustments that would be required by [FRS Accounting Standards as a result of the future government
reform program, the deep recession, the currency crisis and the hyperinflation. Due to the high levels of
uncertainties, the lack of observable indicators, the uncertainiy on the exchange rate, and the lack of visibility on
the government’s plans with respect to: (a) the high exposures of banks with the Central Bank of Lebanon, (b) the
Lebanese sovereign securities, and (c) the currency exchange mechanisms and currency exchange rates that will
be applied, Management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner the impact of these matters on its
consolidated financial position. Management anticipates that the above matters will have a materially adverse
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position and its consolidated equity.

Litigations and Claims

Until the above uncertainties are resolved, the Group is continuing its operations as perfoimed since 17 October
2019 and in accordance with the laws and regulations. De-facto capital controls and inability to transfer foreign
currencies to correspondent banks outside Lebanon are exposing the Grouap to litigations that are dealt with on a
case by case basis when they occur. The Group has been subject Lo increased litigations as a result of these
restrictive measures adopted by Lebanese banks in relation to withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad, as well
as in relation to the repayment by customers of local foreign currency loans in Lebanese Liras. Management is
carefully considering the impact of these litigations and claims. There are still uncertainties related 1o the
consequences of these restrictive measures based on the current available information and the prevailing laws and
local banking practices. Management believes that a legislative solution is urgently needed, through the enactment
of laws that are appropriate for the adjudication of the unconventional legal disputes arising under the current
exceptional circomstances. Due 1o recent developments and the increasing trend in judgmenis ruled in favour of
the plaintiffs and customers from the years 2021 till 2024, Management considers that they may affect negatively
the tiquidity of the Group (refer 10 Note 48). The amouni cannot be determined presently.

Taxes, Social Security Coniributions and Related Provisions

Due 10 the availability of several exchange rates in the Lebanese markel, the determination of taxes, social security
contributions and related provisions in relation to transactions or activities in foreign currencies are highly
sensitive to the exchange rates applied. As a result of the unprecedented events and circumstances, there is high
ievel of judgment involved in deciding on the exchange rates used and any change in these exchange rates, would
result in a different determination of taxes, social security coniributions and related provisions.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Group (confinued)

Law 330 dated 4 December 2024

Law 330 enacted on 4 December 2024 (amending Article 45 of Income Tax Law 144 and its amendments),
authorized taxpayers to conduct & nontaxable exceptional revaluation of fixed assets and inventory, and an
exceptional adjustment on the negative or positive foreign exchange differences resulting from receivable and
payable balances and from financial accounts in foreign currency. On 12 March 2025, the Ministry of Finance
issued the decisions 338, 339 and 340 related to the application of Law 330. Due 1o the late issuance of the
decisions, the Group was unable to quantify or record the impact of the law on the taxes in the Group’s
congelidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, The Group is cuwrently working fo
identify all impacts the law will have on the consolidated financial statemenis.

Measures by the Group

Meanwhile, the Bank is exerting extended efforts to (a) strengthen its capitalisation, (b) enhance the quality of its
private loans portfolio, deleveraging it as appropriate and downsizing its balance sheet, (c) build up its offshore
liguidity and reduce its commitments and contingencies to correspondent banks and financial institutions outside
Lebanon, and (d) manage operating profitability.

On [ October 2020, the Bank received a letier from the Central Bank of Lebanon, referring to Basic Circular 154
and Intermediate Circular 567, and requesting the Bank to submit a roadmap that sets out the following:
s The Bank’s overall strategy for the years 2020 — 2024
»  The Bank’s assessment of its portfolio of private loans and expected credit losses as at 31 December
2020, as well as total realized and expected losses for the year 2020
»  The amount of expected credit losses that have not been franslaled yet to foreign currencies
e The capital needs to comply with the minimum required capital and the measures and sources that will
be relied upon to cover the shortfall, when existing
s The Bank’'s strategy with respect to iis investments in foreign banks and branches
s« The mechanism to rectify any non-compliance with regulatory requirements
e The measures that will be taken to rectify non-compliances with articles 154 and 153 of the Code of
Money and Credit, if any
»  The measures that will be taken to afiract foreign liquidity or “fresh funds” and to cover liquidity onshore
angd offshore commitments

The roadmap was submiited to the Central Bank of Lebanon on 16 December 2020 including a number of
assumptions that remain highly susceptible to material change depending on the evolution of the financial,
monetary and operating conditions in Lebanon. Hence & definitive reasonable and credit roadmap can only be
achieved once the many material uncertainties still governing the cutlook in Lebanon are resoived and the amount
of recapitalization needs is accurately determinable.

The Group is taking measures to swengthen the Group’s financial position, including international liquidity and
solvency metrics. As at 31 December 2024, capital adequacy ratios stood at 7.38 %, 7.50% and 8.84% for CET1,
Tier 1 and Total CAR respectively (minimuam regulatory levels of 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0% since banks are allowed
to draw down on the 2.5% capilal conservation buffer during 2023 and 2024).
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (confinued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Group {continued)

Measures by the Group (comntinued)

In the continued absence of the long awaited banking restructuring plan, the Bank is unable to predict the impact
of the crisis and the then adopted restructuring plan on the financial statements nor it is able to predict the measures
that might be taken by ihe regulator in that regard. The Group is also unceriain whether the measures implemented
since the outsel of the ¢risis and mentioned above would be sufficient to cover all its commitments as they become
due and restore the activities of the Bank to normmal pre-crisis levels. Such sufficiency and a reasonable and
credible plan can only be achieved once the unceraintics from the prevailing crisis and as well as the
implementation of a clear national fiscal and economic recovery plan are resolved. 1L is only at that particular
point in time that a pro-forma balance sheet of the Bank will be prepared and will include the effects of the
hyperinflation, the effects of the restruciuring of the government debt securities, the effects of the restructuring of
the Central Bank of Lebanon balance-sheet and to a lesser extend the effects on its private loan portiolio.

The Lebanese crisis which was set off during the last quarter of 2019, has imposed severe limitations on the ability
1o conduct commercial banking activities or ransactions under the normal course of business in Lebanon, Market
embedded factors, such as de-facto capital controls, inability to secure foreign liquidity and the existence of
several values for the US Dollar, resulted into several practices and transactions that would not qualify as normal
course of business in a non-crisis environment, and for which there are no directly observable prices or a governing
legal/regulatory framework. Such practices and transactions expose the Group to increased litigation and
regulatory risks and negatively impact the financial position of the Group, its regulaiory ratios and covenants due
the adverse effects of the uncertainties. There is a significant uncertainty in relation fo the extent and period over
which this situation will continue and the impact that conducting operations under a crisis environment in the
foreseeable future will further have on the Group’s financial poesition, future cash flows, results of operations,
regulatory ratios and covenants. The Group’s realization value of assets and soificiency and settlement value of
lizbilities are premised on future events, the outcome of which are inherently unceriain.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for: a) revaluation of
land and buildings pursvant to the adeption of the revaiuation model of TAS 16 for this asset class, and b) the
measurement at fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial assets al fair value through profit or loss
ang financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL) which is the Group’s functional
currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest million, except when otherwise indicaled.

1AS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, all conditions have been met for the Group’s financial statements to
incorporafe the inflation adjustment provided under [AS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies”. IFRS requires that financial statements of any entity whose functional currency is the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy be restated into the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period.
Paragraph 4 of IAS 29 states that it is preferable for all entities that report in the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy 1o apply the standard at the same date. In order to achieve uniformiry as to the identification of an
economic environment of this kind, [AS 29 provides certain guidelines: a cumulative three-year inflation rate
exceeding 100% is a strong indicator of hyperinflaiion, but also qualitative factors, such as analysing the behaviour
of population, prices, interest rates and wages should also be considered.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 Basis of preparation (continued)

{AS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (continued)

The Lebanese Central Administration of Statistics repored 3-year and 12-month cumulative rates of inflation of
666% and 18%, respectively, as of December 2024 (2023: 2,005% and 192%). Qualitative indicators, following
the deteriorating economic condition and currency controls, also support the conclusion that Lebanon is a
hyperinflationary economy for accounting purposes for periods ending on or after 31 December 2020

Therefore, entities whose functional currency is the Lebanese Lira, should restate their financial statements to
reflect the effects of inflation in conformity with IAS 29. Such resialement shall be made as if the Lebanese
economy has always been hyperinflationary; using a general price index that reflects the changes in the cuirency’s
purchasing power.

The effects of the application of IAS 29 are summarised below:

(a) Financial statements must be adjusted io consider the changes in the currency’s general purchasing power, so
that they are expressed in the current unit of measure at the end of the reporting period.

(b) In summary, the restatement method under [AS 29 is as foilows:

i.  Monetary items are not restated in as much as they are already expressed in terms of the measuring
unit current at the closing date of the reporting period. In an inflationary period, keeping monetary
asseis generates loss of purchasing power and keeping monetary liabilities generates an increase in
purchasing power. The net monetary gain or loss shall be included as income for the period for which
it is reporied.

it.  Non-monetary items carried at the current value of the end date of the reporting period shall not be
restated to be presented in the balance sheet, but the restalement process must be completed in order
to determine into the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period the income derived
from such non-monetary items.

i, Non-monetary items carried at historical cost or at the cuirent value of a date prior to the end of the
reporting period are restated using coefficients that reflect the variation recorded in the general level
of prices from the date of acquisition or revaluation fo the closing date of the reporting period, then
comparing the restaled amounts of such assets with the relevant recoverable values. Depreciation
charges of property, plant and equipment and amortisation charges of intangible assets recognised
in profit or loss for the period, as well as any other consumption of non-monetary assets will be
determined based on the new restated amounts.

iv. Income and expenses are restated from the date when they were recorded, except for those profit or
loss items that reflect or include in their determination the consumption of assets carried at the
purchasing power of the currency as of a date prior to the recording of the consnmption, which are
restated based on (he date when the asset to which the item is related originated; and except those
profit or loss items originated from comparing two measurements expressed in the purchasing power
of currency as of different dates, for which it is necessary to identify the compared amounts, restale
them separately and compare them again, but with the restated amounts.

v.  Atthe beginning of the first year of application of the restatement method of financial siatements in
terms of the cwrent measuring unit, the prior year comparatives are restated in terms of the
measuring unit cuirent at the end of the cuirent reporting period. The equity components, except for
reserved earnings and undistributed retained eamings, shall also be restated, and the amount of
undistributed retained earnings shall be determined by the difference between nel assets restated at
the date of transition and the other components of opening equity expressed as indicated above, once
all remaining equity components are restated.

As of the date of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Management is temporarily unable to apply
the above-mentioned standard, nor is it able to guantify the effect that the application of [AS 29 would have on
the presented consolidated financial statements due to the following considerations: the significant divergence in
exchange rates, the lack of consensus on the general price index and the lack of views of relevant regulators,
including tax authorities. However, management estimates such effects to be significant. This situation must be
taken into account when interpreting the information reported by the Group in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements including its consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (continued)

The Group is currently assessing the date at which it will apply IAS 29. The application of IAS 29 is very complex
and requires the Group to develop new accounting software and processes, internal controls and govermnance
framework. Based on the Group’s preliminary assessment, the absence of an official legal payment and settlement
mechanism that would reflect in a reasonable manner, the expected cash flows for assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies, and the zbsence of an accurate reflection of price changes impede the useful information that would
have been otherwise produced from the application of IAS 29. Accordingly, the Group has postponed the
application of TAS 29 and incurring costs for developing accounting processes and a govermance framework until
the Group is comfortable that such application would provide the users with more relevant information.

IFRS 17 Insurance Coniracts

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’ is applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on | January 2023. [FRS
17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurerent, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts,
reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with direct participation features (“DPF”). The key objectives of
IFRS 17 are comparable recognition and measurement of contracts in the scope of the standard, the recognition
of insurance service results based on the services provided to the policyholder and provision of disclosures that
will enable the users of the financial statements to assess the impact of these contracts on the financial position,
financial results and cash flows of the entity. The standard distinguishes between the sources of profit and quality
of earnings between insurance scrvice results and insurance finance income and expense (reflecting the time value
of money and financial risk).

IFRS |7 also allows entities, in very limited circumstances, that have applied IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ to
annual reporting period before the initial application of IFRS 17, 1o redesignate their financial assets associated
with insurance contracts.

Measurement models

IFRS 17 consists of 3 measurement models:

- General measurement model (GMM): This approach is applied to all insurance contracts, unless they have
direct participation features or the contract is eligible for, and the entity elects to apply, the premium allocation
approach.

- Variable fee appreach (VFA): This approach is applied to insurance contracts with direct participation
features. Such contracts are substantially investiment-related service contracts under which an entity promises
an investment return based on underiying items. This approach cannct be used for the measurement of
reinsurance contracts issued or held.

- Premium allgeation approach (PAA): This approach is an optional simplification of the measurement of
the liability for remaining coverage for insurance contracts with short-term coverage.

The measurement of the liability for incurred claims is {dentical under all three measurement models and follows
the principles of the gencral model, apart from the determination of locked-in interest rates used for discounting
and in some cases, discounting may net be required.

Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses

As the Group provides insurance contract services under the group of insurance contracts, it reduces the Liability
for Remaining Coverage and recognizes insurance revenue. The amount of insurance revenue recognized in the
reporting period depicts the transfer of promised services at an amount that reflects the portion of consideration
that the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services.

25



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses (continued)

For insurance contracts measured under the general measurement model and the variable fee approach, insurance
revenue includes claims and other directly attributable expenses as expected at the beginning of the reporting
period, changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, amounts of the Contractual Service Margin (CSM)
recognized for the services provided in the period, expenience adjustments arising from premiums received in the
period other than those that relate to future service and other amounts, including any other pre-recognition cash
flows assets derecognized at the date of initial recognition. For insurance coniracts measured under the premium
allocation approach, expected premium receipts are allocaled to insurance revenue based on the passage of time,
unless the expected patiern of incurring the insurance service expenses differs significantly from the passage of
time, in which case the latter should be used. The Standard requires losses to be recognized immediately on
contracis that are expected to be onerous. Insurance service expenses include incurred claims and benefits, other
incurred directly aitributable expenses, insurance acquisilion cash flows amortization, changes that relale to past
service changes that relate to future service and insurance acquisition cash flows asseis impairment.

Transition

There are three approaches lo celculate liability balances at the transition date:

- Full retrospective approach: Al the transition date, the full retrospective application requires the entity to
identify, recognize and measure each group of insurance contracts and any assets for insurance acquisition
cash flows as if [FRS 17 had always been applied. This would involve looking back (o the date of initial
recognition and using the actual policy data and information available then, without the use of hindsight, 1o
identify groups of insurance contracts and determine the components (expected cash flows, adjustment for
time value of money and for non-financial risks) of fulfilmeni cash flows and in particular, the CSM or loss
component on inilial recognition.

- A modified refrospective approach that specifies modifications to full retrospective application. This approach
allows insurers that lack limited information to achieve opening transition balances that are as close to the
retrospective application as possible, depending on the amount of reasonable and supportable information
available to that insurer. Each modification would increase the difference between the modified retrospective
approach and the outcome that would have been obtained if a fully retrospective approach had been applied.

- A fair value approach that uses the fair value of the contracts at the dale of transition to determine a value for
the contractual service margin (‘CSM’). The fair value approach enables an entity 10 determine the opening
transition balances, even if the entity does not have reasonable and supporiable information about the contracts
that exist at the transition date,

The transition approach is determined at the level of a group of insurance contracis and it affects the way the CSM
is calculated on initial adoption of IFRS (7:

a. full retrospective approach — the CSM at initial recognition is based on initial assumptions when groups of
coniracks were recognized and rolled forward to the date of transition as if IFRS 17 had always been applied;

b. modified retrospective approach — the CSM at initial recognition is calculated based on asswmptions at
fransition using some simplifications and taking into account the actual pre-transition fulfilment cash flows;
and

¢. fair value approach — the pre-transition fulfilment cash flows and experience are not considered.

The effects on the Group’s financial statements are currently being evaluated. Iiven though the project was well
underway at the time these consolidated financial statements were published, it is still not yet practical to
accurately evaluate the transition impact. The Groap is still awaiting the instruction of ICC in regard of the date
of first time adoption of IFRS 17. Management is also in the process on deciding on the accounting policy choices
and the areas of significant judgements. Its is unable to guantify the effects on the consolidated financial
statements, however, the amendments will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by Inlernational Accounting Standards Board (JASB) and the regulations of the Central Bank of Lebanon
and the Banking Control Commisston ("BCC™).

Presentation of financial statements

The Group presents ils statement of consolidaled financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis
regarding recovery or setilement within one year afier the statement of consolidated financial position date
{current) and more than one year after the statement of consolidated financial position date (non-current) is
presented in these Notes.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported gross in the consolidated statement of financial
position, They are offset and the net amount is reporied only when there is a legally enforceable right 10 offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to seitle on a net basis — or to realise the assets and senle the liability
simultaneously — in all of the following circumstances: a) the normal course of business, b) the event of default,
and c¢) the event of insolvency or bankrupicy of the Group and/or its counterparties. Only gross settlement
mechanisms with features thal eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk and that process
receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle would be, in effect, equivalent to net setilement.
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, therefore the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial position. Income and expense will not be offset in the
consolidated income statement unless required or permitied by any accounting standard or interpretation, as
specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group. The effect of netting arrangements is disclosed in
Notes 16 and 28.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL and its subsidiaries
as at 31 December 2024. Details of the principal subsidiaries are given in Note 3.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns froim its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

» Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee),

¥ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee,

» The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generzlly, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. However, under individual
circumstances, the Group may still exercise conirol with less than 50% shareholding or may not be able to exercise
conirol even with ownership over 50% of an entify’s shares. When assessing whether it has power over an investee
and therefore controls the variability of its returns, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances,
including:

» The purpose and design of the investee,

» The relevant activities and how decisions about those activilies are made and whether the Group can
direct those aclivities,

¥ Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put righis and liquidation rights,

¥  Whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, to varigble returns from its involvement with the investee,
and has the power to affect the variability of such returns.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more cf the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses centrol of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on conseclidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of contrel, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

Where the Group loses control of a subsidiary but retains an interest in it, then such interest is measured at fair
value at the date that contrel is lost with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently,
it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
financial instruments depending on the level of influence retained. In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. As such, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the consolidated income statement.

Non-controlling interests

Nen-controlling interest represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned by the
Group. The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests in acquirees at the proportionate share of
each acquiree's identifiable net assets. Interests in the equity of subsidiaries not atiributable to the Group are
reported in conselidated equity as non-controlling interests.

Prefit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of
the Parent of the Group and te the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity holders of the Group. For
purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Adopted by the Group

The Group applied for the first time, certain amendments to the standards which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after | Janpary 2024. The nature and impact of each amendment is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in 0 Sale and Leaseback

In September 2022, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 to specify the requiremnents thal a seller-lessee uses
in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use i retains.

The amendmeants had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS {: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the JASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 10 specify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

*  What is meant by a right to defer seitlement.

*  That aright to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.

*  That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.

= That only if an embedded derivative in a conventible liability is itself an equity instrumeni would the

terms of a liability not impact its ¢lassification.

[n addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement
is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future
covenanis within twelve months.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments 1o IAS 7 and IFRS 7

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to TAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows ang IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additionat disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended 1o assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure Lo
liquidity risk.

The transition rules clarify that an entity is not required to provide disclosures in any interim periods in the year
of initial application of the amendments. Thus, the amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

2.4 Standards Issued but not yet Effective

Lack of exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21

In August 2023, the Board issued Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to [AS 21). The amendment to [IAS 21
specifies how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot
exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking. When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a currency
is not exchangeable info another currency, it discloses information that enables users of its financial stalements to
understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to affect, the
entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows, The amendments will be effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025, Early adoption is permitied but will need to be disclosed.
When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restaie comparative information. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Standards Issued buf nof yet Effective (continued)

FFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1 Presentalion of Financial Statements. IFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or
loss into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof
the first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income and
expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based on
the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements (PFS) and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to IAS 7 Siatement of Cash Flows, which include
changing the starting point for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect method, from ‘profit or
loss’ Lo *operating profit or loss’ and removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from dividends
and interest, In addition, there are consequential amendments to several other standards.

IFRS 18§, and the amendments to the other standards, is effective for reporiing periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. The
Group is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the consolidated Gnancial
statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.5 Material accounting policies

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acauisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration iransferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group measures the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition cosis
incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group makes an acquisition meeting the definition of a business under IFRS 3, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual
terins, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree,

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured 10 fair value al the acquisition date through the consolidated income
statement. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill,

Any contingent consideration 10 be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9
is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous inferest held, over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregale
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. if the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5 Material accounting paolicies (confinued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
cairying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) or group
of CGUs, which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combingtion, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Each unit to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
towest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, and is not
larger than an operating segment in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Where goodwill forms pant of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL) which is also the Group’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the step-by-step
method of consolidation.

(i) Transactions and Balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the
date of the iransaction as disclosed in Note I to the consolidated financial statements.

Monetary assets end liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate
of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position, as disclosed in Note 1. Differences resulting from
the change of the official published exchange rate from LL 15,000 to LL 89,500 to the US Dollar were recorded
in the consolidated statement of equity. All other differences are taken to “Net trading gain” in the consolidated
income statement, except for monetary items that are designated as part of the Group’s hedge of net investment
in a foreign operation. These are recognized in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified o profii or loss. Tax charges and crediis attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary ilems are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary itemns that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initizl fransactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on (ranslation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

(@i} Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and overseas branches are franslated into the Group’s
presentation currency ai the rate of exchange as at the reporting date (as disclosed in Note 1), and their income
slatemmenis are iranslated at the monthly average exchange rates for the vear (as disclosed in Note 1). Exchange
differences arising on translation are recognised in OC1. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative
amount recognised in OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified 1o the consolidated income
statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are wealed as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operations and translated at the exchange rate on the reporting date (as disclosed in Note 1}.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Material accounting policies (confinued)
Financial instruments — initial recognition

{i) Date of recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the settlement date. This includes “regular way trades™:
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

fif) Initial measurement of financlal Instruments

Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value, plus or minus, in the case of a financial instrument
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial instrument. In the case of a financial instrument measured at fair valug, with the change in fair value
being recognised in profit or loss, the transaction costs are recognised as revenue or expense when the insirument
is initially recognised.

When the fair value of financial instruments at inittal recognition differs from the ransaction price, the Group
accounts for the Day | profit or loss, as described below.

(iti) Day I prafit or loss

When the wansaction price differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a valuation
technigue using only observable inputs in markei transactions, the Group immediately recognises the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 17 profit or loss) in the consolidated income statement. In
cases where fair value is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between
the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognised in the consolidated income statement
when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

Financial assets — classification and measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as measured at: amoriised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of two criteria:

(i) The business model within which financial assets are measured; and

(i1} Their contractual cash flow characteristics (whether the cash flows represent “solely payments of
principal and interest” (SPPI)),

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets to collect contractual cash flows, and their contractual cash flows represent SPPL

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contraciual cash flows and selling financial assets, and their
contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect io
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive incoime. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis.

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designale a financial asset as measured at fair value through
profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
(sometimes referred to as an “accounting mismaich”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group is required to disclose such
financial assets separately from those mandatorily measured at fair value.

Business model

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets
to achieve ifs business objective. Generally, a business model is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the
way business is managed and the information provided to Management.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets — classification and measurement (confinued)

Business model (confinued)
The Group's business model is not assessed on an instrumeni-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:
- How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are
evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel.
- The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model} and, in particular, the way those risks are managed.
- How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or on the conrractual cash flows collected).
- The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspecis of the Group’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress
case’ scenarios into account,

The Group’s business model can be to hold financial assets to colleci contractual cash flows even when sales of
financial assets occur. However, if more than an infrequent number of sales are made out of a portfolio, the Group
needs Lo assess whether and how such sales are consistent with an objective of collecting contractual cash flows.
If the objective of the Group’s business model for managing those financial assets changes, the Group is required
10 reclassify financial assets.

The SPPI test
As a second step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify
whether they meet the SPPI test,

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation
of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the Lime
value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers relevant
factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate
is set.

In contrast, confractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount ouistanding. In such cases, the financial asset is
required to be measured al fair value though profit and loss.

Financial assels af amortised cost

Balances with central banks, due from banks and financial institutions, loans to banks and financial institutions
and reverse repurchase agreements, loans and advances to customers and related parties at amortised cost, and
Jfinancial assets at amortised cost.

These financial assets are initially recognised al cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also included in the
cost of investment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR,
less expected credit losses. Amortised cost is calculated by taking info account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortisation is included in “Interest and
similar income” in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in “Net impairment loss on financial assets™.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (confinued)
Financial assets — classification and measurement (continued)

Financial assets af fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

These financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly atiributed to the acguisition are also included in the
cost of invesiment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at fair vaiue with gains and losses
arising due to changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income. [nterest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognized in profil or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortized cost. The ECL calculation for debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income is
explained below. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive
income are reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss.

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably some of its investmenis in equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are not held for trading. Such classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instruiment basis.

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulaied under equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to the consolidated income
statement on disposal of the investments.

Dividends on these investments are recognised under “Non-interest revenues from financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income™ in the consolidated income statement when the Group’s right to receive
payment of dividend is established in accordance with IFRS 15; “Revenue from contracts with customers”, unless
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject 1o an impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Included in this category are those debt instruments that do not meet the conditions in “Financial assets at
amortised cost” and “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” above, debt instruments
designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition, and equity instruments at fair value through
profit or loss. Management only designates a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition when the designation eliminates, significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or recognising gains and losses on them on a different basis.

Debt instruments at fair value through profil or loss

These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Transaction
costs directly atiributable to the acquisition of the instrument are recognised as revenue or expense when the
instrument is initially recognised. Changes in fair value and interest income are recorded under “Net trading gain”
in the consolidated income statement. Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of debt instruments and
other financial asseis at fair value through profit or loss are also reflected under “Net trading gain ” in the
consolidated income siatement, showing separately those related (o financial assets designated at fair value upon
initial recognition from those mandatorily measared at fair value.

Equity instruments aof fair vafue through profit or loss

Investmenis in equity instruments are classified af fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group designates at
initial recognition an investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.
These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair
value and dividend income are recorded under “Net trading gain” in the consolidated income sialement. Gains and
losses arising from the derecognition of equity instruments at fair value through profii or loss are also reflecied
under “Net trading gain ” in the consolidated income statement.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (other than financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) — classification
and measurement

Liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, particular transaction costs. Liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.

The Group classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest

rate method, except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including derivatives);

- Financial liabilities that arise when a ransfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies;

- Contingent consideration recognised in a business combination in accordance with [FRS 3.

The Group may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through

profit or loss when:

- Doing so results in more relevant information, because it either eliminates or signhificantly reduces a
measurermnent or recognition inconsistency (someiimes referred to as “an accounting mismatch™) that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different
bases; or

- A group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documenied risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the group is provided intemally on that basis to the Group's Key Management Personnel;
or

- A group of financial liabilities contains one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly
modify the cash flows that would otherwise be reguired by contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis
when a similar instrurnent is first considered that separation of the embedded derivatives is prohibited.

Financial ligbilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in
fair value of liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss due to changes in the Group’s own credit
risk. Such changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, unless such recognition would
create an accounting mismatch in the consolidated income statement. Changes in fair value attributable o changes
in credit risk do not get recycled io the consolidated incoine statement.

Interest incurred on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is accrued in interest expense
using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an integral part
of instrument.

Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Financial instruments issued by the Group, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are
classified under “Debt issued and other boirowed funds” where the substance of the confractual arrangement
results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy
the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number
of own equity shares.

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interesi rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method.

A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue
date. A portion of the net proceeds of the instrument is allocated to the debt component on the date of issue based
on its fair value (which is generally determined based on the guoted market prices for similar debt instruments).
The equity component is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the instrument as a
whole the amount separalely determined for the debt component. The value of any derivative features (such as a
call option) embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the equity component is included in the
debt component,
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2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Finaneial liabilities (other than financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) — classification
and measurement (continued)

Due to central banks, banks and financial institutions and customers’ and related parties’ deposits

Afier initial measurement, due o ceniral banks, banks and financial institutions, bonds under repurchase
agreements, customers’ and related parties’ deposits are measured at amoriised cost less amounts repaid using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the
issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method. Customer deposits which are linked
to the performance of indices or commodities are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss
A derivative i3 a financial instrument or other contract with ail three of the following characteristics:

a) Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a pariy to the
contract (also known as the "underlying™).

b) It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors,

¢) Itis seftled at a future date.

The Group enters into derivative transactions with various counterpanies. These include currency swaps and
forward foreign exchange contracts.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when
their fair value is negative. The notional amount and fair value of such derivatives are disclosed separately in the
notes. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in “Net gain on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss™ in the consolidated income slatement, unless hedge accounting is applied, which is discussed in
under “hedge accounting policy” below.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a componeni of a hybrid instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract
with the effect thal some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar (o a stand-alone
derivative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
coniract io be modified according o a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of
a non-financial variable, it is not specific 10 a party 10 the contract. A derivative thai is attached to a financial
instrument, but is contractually ransferable independenily of that instrument, or has a different counterparty from
that instrument, is not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial instrument.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
(a) The hybrid contract contains a host that is not an asset within the scope of IFRS 9;
(b) The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host;
(c) A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and
{d) The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

Financial guarantees are initizlly recognised in the consolidated finzncial statements at fair value, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and an expected credit losses ECL provision. The premium received is recognised in the income
statement in “‘Net fees and commission income” on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.
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Financial guarantees, letters of eredit and undrawn loan commitments (continued)

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of ¢redits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Group is required o provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial
guarantee contracts, these conmracts are in the scope of ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, leiters of credit and undrawn loan commitments are not
recorded in the statement of financial position. The nominal values of these instruments together with the
corresponding ECLs are disclosed in the notes.

Reclassification of financial assets

The Group reclassifies financial assets if the objective of the business model for managing those financial assets
changes. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and are determined by the Group’s Senior Management
as a result of external or internal changes when significant to the Group’s operations and demonstrable to external
parties.

If financial assets are reclassified, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date, which
is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that resuls in the
reclassification of financial assets. Any previously recognised gains, losses or interest are not restated.

If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured al fair value, its fair value is determined at the
reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous carrving amount and fair
value is recognised in profit or loss. If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured al amortised cost, its
fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new carrying amount,

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assels

] Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evalvates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantislly different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash
flows from the original financial assei are deemed 10 have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is
derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

- fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent

reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and
- other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

(f cash flows are modified when the borrower is in {inancial difficultics, then the objective of the modification is
usually to maximise recovery of the original coatractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different lerms. If the Group plans to modify a financial asset in 2 way that would result in forgiveness
of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the assei should be wrinen off before the modification
takes place (see below).

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset using the oviginal effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective
interest rate used to calculaie the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terins at the time
of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross
carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is
presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate meihod.
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Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

{ii} Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Group aiso
derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for
derecognition.

The Group has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:
¥ The Group has transferred its contractual righis to receive cash flows from the financial asset; or
¥ The Group retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash {lows
in full without maierial delay to a third party under a “pass-through™ arrangement.

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation 1o pay those cash flows to one
or more entities (the "eventual recipients’), when all of the following three conditions are met:
¥  The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent
amounis from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right o full recovery of the
amount tent plus accrued interest at market rates;
¥ The Group cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients;
¥ The Group has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material
delay. In addition, the Group is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash
or cash equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date
of required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either:
»  The Group has transferred substantially al! the risks and rewards of the asset; or
¥ The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the assel.

The Group considers control to be transferred if and only if, the fransferee has the practical ability to sell the asset
in its entirety io an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing
additional restrictions on the fransfer.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained confrol
of the asset, the asset conlinues to be recognised only to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement, in
which case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvernent that takes the form of a guarantee over the iransferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Group could be required

1o pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset, the
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Group would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case
of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing involvernent
is limited to the lower of the fair valug of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terims,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, as “Other operaling income™ or “Other operating expenses”.
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Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Financial Habilities (continued)

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financizl liabilities, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
liability and amertised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at 2 specified future date are not derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. The corresponding consideration received (cash collateral provided) is recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding obligation to return it, including accrued interest
as a liability, reflecting the transaction’s economic substances as a loan to the Group. The difference between the
sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the
EIR. When the counterparty has the right to sell or repledge the securities, the Group properly discloses this fact
in the notes.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated slatement of financial position. The consideration paid {cash collateral provided), including accrued
interest is recorded in the consolidated stalement of financial position within “Loans to banks and financial
institutions and reverse repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the
Group. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in “Net interest income” and is accrued
over the life of the agreement using the EIR. If securities purchased under agreement to resell are subsequently
sold to third parties, the obligation to return the securities is recorded as a short sale within “Financial ligbilities
al fair value through profit or loss”™ and measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in “Net gain on
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of financial assets

(i} Overview of the ECL principles

The Group records allowance for expected credit losses based on a forward-looking approach for all loans and
other financial assets nol held at fair value through profit or loss, together with loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as “financial instruments”. Equity instruments are not subject io
impairment under [FRS 9,

The ECL allowance is based on the credif losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected
credit loss), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which cases, the
allowance is based on the 12 months' expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL ts the portion of lifetime
ECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default evenis on a financial instrument that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date.

(i) Measurement of ECLs
The Group measures ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the EIR as follows:

»> Financtal assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive),

¥ Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated fulire cash flows;

¥ Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the confractual cash flows that
are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive;
and

» Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amount that the Group
expects Lo recover.
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(ii) Measurement of ECLs (continued)
They key inputs into the measurements of ECL are:

» PD: The Probability of Defauit is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default
may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously
derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

¥ EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure a1 a future defauli date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

¥ LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would
expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of
the EAD.

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. Forward looking
information are incorporated in ECL measurements.

The Group measures ECLs using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origination:
> Stage | — Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a
financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit
loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the nexi 12 months. For these insmruments
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, probability of default corvesponding to remaining term to
maturity is used.
¥ Stage 2 — When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered
to be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.
» Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage, the allowance
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses, similar to Stage 2.

) Forborne and modified loans

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difftculties, rather than taking possession or otherwise enforcing collection of collateral. The
Group considers a loan forborne when such concessions or moedifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s
present or expected financial difficuities and the Group would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been
financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficuliies include defaults on covenants, or significant concerns raised
by the Credit Risk Department,

Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once
the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated before the
modification of terms. It is the Group’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future payments
continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Siage 3 are
determined on a case-by-case basis, If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and
managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off,

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognised, the Group also reassesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Group also considers whether the assets should be classified as
Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forbermne, it will remain forbome for 8 minimum 12-month probation
period. [n order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has 1o meet all of the
following criteria:

- At least a 12-month probation period has passed,

- Three consecutive payments under the new repayment schedule have been made,

- The borrower has no past dues under any obligation to the Group,

- All the terms and conditions agreed to as part of the restructuring have been met.
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{iid} Forborne and modified loans (continued)
If modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognised, as explained above,

(iv) Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting dale, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial
assets carried at fair vaiue through other comprehensive income, and finance lease receivables are credit-impaired
(referred to as “Stage 3 financial assets™). A financizal asset is “credit impaired” when one or more events that have
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable information:

- Significani financial difficalty of the borrower or issuer;

- Abreach of contract such as a defauit or past due event;

- The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider

otherwise;
- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

v) Write offs

Financial assets are written off either pariially or in their entirety only when the Group has stopped pursuing the
recovery. [f the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first
treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent
recoveries are credited to “Nel impairment loss on financial asseis”.

{vi) Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

The ECLs for debt instruments measured al fair value through other comprehensive income do not reduce the
carrying amount of these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair
value. Instead, an amount equal to the aliowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is
recognised in other comprehensive income as an accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge
to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the profit and loss
upon derecognition of the assets.

{vii) Colluteral repossessed

The Group occastonally acquires properties in settiement of loans and advances. Upon initial recognition, those
asseis are measured at fair value as approved by the regulatory authorities. Subsequently, these properties are
measured at the lower of carrying value or net realisable value.

Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realised is recognised in the consolidated income statement onder
“Other operating income™ or “Other operating expenses”. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed assets are
transferred to “Reserves appropriated for capital increase™ in the following financial year,

Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives, and non-financial assets, namely land and building
and building improvements, at fair value al each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial instruments
measured at amortised cost are disclosed in the notes.

Fair value ig the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer & liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or iransfer the liability takes place either:

¥ In ihe principal market for the asset or liability; or

» In the absence of & principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability,

The principal or the most advantageous market musl be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financizl asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling if to another market participant that
would use (he asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available t0 measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair vatue is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level inpui that is significant
10 the fair value measurement as a whole:
e Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
s Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
s Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occuired between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring and non-recurring fair value measurement.
At each reporting date, Management analyses the movements in the values of asseis and liabilities which are
required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, Management
verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation
Lo contracis and other relevant documents.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liebilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above.

Hedge accounting

In order to manage particular risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified
criteria. The Group makes use of derivative instruments (o manage exposures to foreign currency risk and interest
rate fluctuations. The process starts with identifying the hedging instrument and hedged item and preparing hedge
documentation detailing the risk management strategy and objective.

Setting the risk management strategy and obfectives

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge,
and the method that will be used 1o assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

The risk management strategy is established al the level of Executive Management and identifies the risks to
which the Group is exposed and whether and how the risk management activities should address those risks. The
strategy is typically maintained for a relatively long period of lime. However, it may include some flexibility to
react to changes in circumstances. The risk management sirategy is set out in general documentation and is
cascaded down through policies containing more specific guidelines.
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Hedge accounting (continued)

Setting the risk management strategy and objectives (continued)

The Group sets risk management objectives al the level of individual hedging relationships and defines how a
particular hedging instrument is designated (o hedge a particular hedged item. As such, a risk management strategy
would usually be supported by many risk management objectives,

Qualifying hedging relationships

The Group applies hedge accounting for qualifying hedging relationships. A hedging relationship qualifies for
hedge accounting only if: (a) the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging instruments and eligible
hedged items; (b) at the inception of the hedging relationship there is formal designation and documentation of
the hedging relationship and the Group’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge; and
{¢) the hedging relationship meets all of the hedge effectiveness requirements.

At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected 10 be highly effective on a
prospective basis in order to qualify for hedge accounting. The effectiveness test can be performed qualitatively
or quantitatively. A formal assessment is underiaken to ensure the hedging instument is expected to be highly
effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item, both at inception and semi-annually on an ongoing
basis. A hedge is expected to be highly effective if:

¥ There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

¥ The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

» The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged
item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually
uses fo hedge that quantity of hedged itlem. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance
between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsisient with the purpose
of hedge accounting,.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in the consolidated income statement in “Net trading gain”,

When the Group separates the infrinsic value and time value of an option coniract and designates as the hedging
instrument only the change in intrinsic value of the option, it shall account for the time value of the option as
follows:

(a) An entity shall distinguish the time value of options by the type of hedged item thai the option hedges:

(i) A transaction related hedged item; or

(i) A time-period related hedged item.

(b) The change in fair value of the time value shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the
extent that it relates to the hedged item and shall be accumulated in a separate component of equiry. The
cumulative change in fair value shall be accounted for as follows:

(i} If the hedged item subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-~
financial liability, or a firm commitment for a non-financial asset or a non-financial Lability for
which fair value hedge accounting is applied, the entity shall remove the amount from the
separate component of equity and include it directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount
of the asset or the liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and hence does not affect
other comprehensive income;

(ii) For hedging relationships other than those covered by (i) the amount shall be reclassified from
the separate component of equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profil or loss;

(iii) However, if all or a portion of that amount is not expected 1o be recovered in one or more future
periods, the amount that is not expected to be recovered shall be immediately reclassified into
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
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Hedge accounting {continued)
Qualifying hedging relationships {continued)

{c) The change in fair value of the time value of an option that hedges a time-period related hedged item
shall be amortised on a systematic and rational basis over the period during which the hedge adjustment
for the option’s intrinsic value could affect profit or loss (or other comprehensive income, if the hedged
item is an equity instrument for which an entity has ¢lected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income). However, if hedge accounting is discontinued for the hedging relaiionship that
includes the change in intrinsic value of the option as the hedging instrument, the net amount (i.e.
including cumulative amortisation) that has been accumulated in the separate component of equity shall
be immediately reclassified into profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment (see [AS 1).

When the Group separates the forward element and the spot element of a forward coniract and designates as the
hedging instrument only the change in the value of the spot element of the forward coniract, or when an entity
separates the foreign currency basis spread from a financial instrument and excludes it from the designation of
that financial instrument as the hedging instrument, the entity may account for the forward element of the forward
contract or for the foreign currency basis spread in the same manner as for the time value of an option.

{i) Fair value hedges

For qualifying fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the consolidated
income statement under “Net rading gain”. Hedging gain or loss on the hedged item adjusts the carrying amoumt
of the hedged item and is recognised in the consolidated income statement also under “Net trading gain”.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, or the Group decides to voluntarily discontinue the hedging relationship, the hedge
relationship is discontinued prospectively. If the relationship does not meet the hedge effectiveness criteria, the
Group discontinues hedge accounting from the last date on which compliance with hedge effectiveness was
demonstrated. If the hedge accounting relationship is terminaied for an item recorded at amortised cost, the
accumulated fair value hedge adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised over the
remaining term of the original hedge by recalculating the EIR. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised
fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

For fair value hedge relationships where the hedged item is not measured at amortised cost, such as debt
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, changes in fair value that were recorded in the
consolidated income statement whilst hedge accounting was in place are amortised in a similar way to amortised
cost instruments using the EIR method. However, as these instruments are measured at their fair values in the
consolidated statement of financial position, the fair value hedge adjustments are iransferred from the consolidated
income statement to other comprehensive income.

(i) Cash flow hedges
For qualifying cash flow hedge, a separate component of equity associated with the hedged item (cash flow hedge
reserve) is adjusted to the lower of the following (in absolute amounis):

a)  The cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the hedge; and
b)  The cumulative change in fair value {present value) of the hedged item from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge (the portion
that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve described above) shall be recognised in other
comprehensive income. Any remaining gain or loss on the hedging insirument is hedge ineffectiveness that shall
be recognised in the consolidated income statement. The amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow hedge
reserve and associated with the hedged item is treated as follows:

a) If a hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the Group removes that amount from the cash flow hedge reserve and includes it directly
in the iniiial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or the liability without affecting other
comprehensive income.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)
(i) Cash flow hedges (continued)

b) For cash flow hedges other than those covered by &), that amount is reclassified from the cash flow hedge
reserve to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the seme period or periods during which the
hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. However, if that amount is a loss and the Group
expects that all or a portion of that loss will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it immediately
reclassifies the amount that is not expected to be recovered into profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment.

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income at thai
time remains in other comprehensive income and is recognised when the hedged forecast fransaction is nltimately
recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately transfeived to the
consolidated income statement.

(iii} Hedge of net investments

Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary ilem that is accounted for as
part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the consclidated income statement.
On disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative vaive of any such gains or losses recognised
directly in the foreign currency iransiation reserve is transferred to the consolidated income statement as a
reclassification adjustment.

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right 10 control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration,

Group as a Lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of tow-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right 1o use the underlying assets.

(i) Right-of-use assels

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, inifial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Righi-of-use assets are depreciated on a straighi-line basis
over the lease term.

The right-of-use assets are presented within “Property, equipment and right-of-use assets” on the consolidated
financial statements and are subject to impairment in line with the Group’s poelicy as described under Impairmem
of non-financial assets.

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets presented within “Depreciation of property, equipment and right-of-
use assets” on the conselidated financial statements.

(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
paymenis that do not depend on an index or a raie are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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25 Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a Lessee (continued)

(i) Lease liobilities (confinued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental boirowing rate at the lease
commencement dage if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. Afier the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment 1o
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included under “Other liabilities”. Moreover, the interest charge on lease
liabilities is presented within “Interest and similar expense” cost in consolidaled financial statements.

{iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the shori-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value
assefs recognition exemption io leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on shori-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Other rental expenses (including non-lease components paid to landlords) presented within other operating
€XPENSES.

Group as a Lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
tease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negoliating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as tental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are eamned.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 10 the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must alse be met before revenue is
recognised.

) Interest and similar income and expense

The effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are tecognized in the income statement applying the EIR methed for all financial
instruments measured at amortised cost, financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss and
interest bearing financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of & financial asset or to the amortised cost of
a financial liability. When calcutating the EIR for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit
impaired, an entity shall 1ake into account all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but shall not consider the expecied credit losses. For purchased
or originated ¢redit impaired financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest raie is calculated using estimated
future cash flows and expected credit losses.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective inferest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts,

Interest income and interest expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or a financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of the
financial asset or financial liability. In determining interest income and expense, the EIR is applied to the gross
carrying amounl of the financial asset (unless the asset is credit-impaired} or the amortized cost of a financial
liability.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Interest and similar income and expense (continued)

Interest income and interest expense (continued)

The effective interest rate is revised as a resull of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate insiruments
to reflect movements in market rates of interest. The effective inierest rate is also revised for fair value hedge
adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rale, transaction costs, and ail other premivms or discounts, unless the financial
instruiment is measured at fair value, with the change in fair vaiue being recognised in profit or loss. In those cases,
the fees are recognised as revenue or expense when the instrument is initially recognised.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired after initial recognition, interest income is determined by applying
EIR to the net amortized cost of the instrument. If the financial asset cures and is no longer credil-impaired, the
Group reverts back 10 calculating interest income on a gross basis. Furthermore, for financial assets that were
credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest is delermined by applying a credit-adjusted EIR to the amortized
cost of the instrument. The calculation of interest income does not revenl to a gross basis, even if the credil risk of
the asset improves.

Presentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the consolidated income statement
includes:

- interest on financial assets at amortised cost; and

- interest on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Interest expense presented in the consolidated income statement includes financial liabilities measured ai
amortised cost. Interest income and expense on financial instrumenis measured at fair value through profit or loss
are presented under “Net trading gain” in the consolidated income statement.

(i) Fee and commission income
The Group eamns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee
income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time
Fees eamed for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees.

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
{1ogether with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is unlikely
that a loan be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognised as revenues on expiry.

Fee income from providing transaction services

Fee arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a fransaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognised
on completion of the underlying transaction. Fee or components of fee that are linked to a certain performance are
recogiised afier fulfilling the corresponding criteria,

(iif) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right io receive the payment is established.

fiv) Net trading gain

Net trading gain comprises gains and losses related to trading assets and liabilities, non-trading derivatives held
for risk management purposes thai do not form part of qualifying hedging relationships, financial assets and
financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss and, also non-trading assets mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The line item includes fair value changes, interest, dividends and
foreign exchange differences.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

v) Insurance revenite

For the insurance subsidiaries, net premiums and accessories (gross premiums) are taken to income over the terms
of the policies to which they relate using the prorate lemporise method for non-marine business and 25% of gross
premiums for marine business. Unearned premiums reserve represents the portion of the gross premiums written
relating to the unexpired period of coverage.

if the uneamed premiuims reserve is not considered adequate to cover fulure claims arising on these premiums a
premium deficiency reserve is created.

Cash and cash equivalents

“Cash and cash eguivalents™ as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises balances with original maturities of
a period of three months or less including cash and balances with central banks, deposits with banks and financial
institutions, deposits due to banks and financial institutions and repurchase and reverse repurchased agreements.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment except for land and buildings is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing,
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part
of the property and eguipment if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in
the carrying amount of the equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and
maintenance costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. The present value of the
expecied cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the
recognition criteria for a provision are met.

L.and and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses
recognised since the date of revaluation. Valuations are performed by internal or external valuers with sufficient
frequency to ensure that the carrying amount of a revalued asse1 does not differ matenially from its fair value.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the real estate revaluation reserve
in equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in profit
or loss, the increase is recognised in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the incoine statement,
except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amouni of the asset and
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Fumniture and equipment 6.66 — 12.5 years
Computer equipment and sofiware 3.33 -5 years
General installations 5 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in “Net gain from dispesal of property and equipment
and righi-of-use assets™ in the year the asset is derecognised.

The asseis’ residual lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
prospectively if applicable.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Group. The Group’s intangible assets include
the value of software development and key money.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
imangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Internaily generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite of indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amortised over the useful economic life. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
assel with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life
or Ihe expected paitern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by
changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
The amortisation expense on inlangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annuslly, either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed ennually to
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognized.

The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite economic life.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method 10 write down the cost of intangible assets to their
residual values over their estimated usefil lives as {ollows:

s Software development 5 years
s Key money 10-15 years

Assets obtained in settlement of debt

Assets obtained in settlement of debt are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs
to seil. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group),
excluding finance costs and income tax expense. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale wransaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal
group is available for immediate sale in its present condition, Management has committed to the sale, and the sale
is expected to have been completed within one ycar from the daie of classification.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for
sale. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. [f any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimales the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash mflows that are largely independent of those from other assels or groups of assets.
Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unif exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
In determining fair value less costs 1o sell, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation
multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the assei’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount,
nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years, Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
unless the asset is carried at a revatued amoun, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

The Group bases its impairment calculaiion on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast
calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied (o project
future cash flows after the (ifth year,

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense categories
consistent with the funciion of the impaired asset, except for properties previously revalued with the revaluation
taken Lo other comprehensive income. For such properties, the impairment is recognised in other comprehensive
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an cutflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of the time value
of money is material, the Group determines the level of provision by discounting the expected cash fiows at a pre-
tax rate reflecting the current rates specific to the liability. The expense relating to any provision is presented in
the consolidated income statement net of any reimbursement.

The Group operates in a regulatoiy and legal environment thal, by nature, has a heighlened element of litigation
risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various htigation, arbitration and regulatory
investigations and proceedings both in Lebanon and in other jurisdictions, arising in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business,

When the Group can reliably measure the cuiflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific case and considers
such outflows to be probable, the Group records a provision against the case. Where the probubility of ouiflow is
considered to be remote, or probable, bul a reliable estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed.
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Provisions for risks and charges (confinued)

However, when the Group is of the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis would prejudice
their outcome, then the Group does not include detailed, case-specific disclosures in its consolidated financial
statements.

Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the Group takes inlo
account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matier and historical evidence from similar
incidents.

Pensions and other post-em ployment benefits

The Group provides reiirement benefits obligation 1o its employees under defined benefit plans, which requires
contributions to be made to separately administered funds. The cost of providing these benefits is determined
using the projected unit credit method which involves making actuarial assumptions about discount rates and
future salary increases. Those assumptions are unbiased and mutueally compatible.

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, exciuding nei interest
and the retum on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the consolidated stalement of
financial position with a correspoading debit or credit to retzined earnings through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier oft
» The date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
#  The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group

recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “Personnel expenses” in consolidated

siatemment of income:

s  Service costs comprising current service costs, past service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-
routine settlements.

e Net interes! expense or income.

Taxes
Taxes are provided for in accordance with regulations and laws that are effective in the countries where the Group
operates.

(i} Current Tax

Cwirent tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and
generates taxable income.

Cwrrent income tax relating to items recognised direclly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement
of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(i) Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences al the statement of financial position date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reponting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

»  Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor laxable profit or loss.

e In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxes (continued)

(i) Deferred Tax {continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deduciible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 1axable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised
excepl:

s Where the deferred tax asset relating o the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a wansaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

* Inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assels are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the iemporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each statement of financial position date and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is sefiled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income are also
recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the consolidated income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred rax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate 1o the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Dividends on common shares

Dividends on common shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by
the Group’s shareholders. [nterim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the
discretion of the Group. Dividends for the year that are approved afier the reporting date are disclosed as an event
after the reporting dale.

Treasury shares

Own equity instrements of the Group which are acquired by it or by any of ils subsidiaries (Treasury shares) are
deducted from equity and accounted for at weighted average cost. Consideration paid or received on the purchase
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments,

When the Group holds own equity insttuments on behalf of its clients, those holdings are not included in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

Contracts on own shares that require physical settlement of a fixed number of own shares for a fixed consideration
are classified as equity and added to or deducted from equity. Contracts on own shares that require net cash
settlement or provide a choice of settlement are classified as trading instruments and changes in the fair value are
reported in the consolidated income statement.
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Assets under management and assets held in custody and under administration

The Group provides custody and administration services that result in the holding or investing of assets on behalf
of its clients. Assets held in trust, under management or under cusiody or under administration, are not treated as
assets of the Group and, accordingly, are recorded as off-balance sheet items.

Customers’ acceptances

Customers” acceptances represent term documentary credits which the Group has committed to setile on behalf
of its clients against commitments by those clients (acceptances). The commitments resulting from these
acceptances are stated as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position for the same amount.

2.6 Material accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires Managemeni to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent hiabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carmying amount of assets or liabilities
affected in future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, Management has made the following judgments, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant efiect in the amounis recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Going concern

Notwithstanding the evenis and conditions disclosed in Note 1, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared based on the going concern assumption. The Board of Directors believes that they are taking all the
measures available to maintain the viability of the Group and continue its operations in the current business and
eConomic environment.

Business model
In determining whether its business model for managing financial assets is {0 hold assets in order 1o collect
confractual cash flows, the Group considers:
- Management’s stated policies and objectives for the portfolic and the operation of those policies in practice;
- How Managemeni evaluates the performance of the portfolio;
- Whether Management’s strategy focuses on eaming contractual interest revenues;
- The degree of frequency of any expected asset sales;
- The reason for any asset sales; and
- Whether assets that are sold are held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual maturity.

Contractual cash flows of financial assets

The Group exercises judgment in determining whether the contraciual terms of financial assets it originates or
acquires give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, and so may qualify for amortised cost measurement. In making the assessment, the Group considers
all contractual terms, including any prepayment terms or provisions to extend the maturity of the assets, terms that
change the amount and timing of cash flows and whether the contractual terms contain leverage.
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Judgements (continued)

Determining the lease term of comtracts with renewal and termination options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any pericds covered
by an option to exiend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain nof to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies
Jjudgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant facilors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant
event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or Lo terminate (e.g., a change in business strategy).

The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of head office and branches due to the
significance of these assets io its operations. These leases have a shori non-cancellable period (i.e., three to five
years) and there will be a significant negative effect on the Group’s operations if a replacement is not readily
available.

The renewal options for leases of motor vehicles (or other assets) were not included as part of the lease term
because the Group has a policy of leasing motor vehicles (or other assets) for not more than five years and, hence,
not exercising any renewal options. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as par
of the lease term onky when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumpiions conceming the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the
conirol of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they oceur.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation
techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable
market data where possible, but where observable market data is not available, estimation is required to establish
fair values. The judgments and estimates include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as credit risk
{both own and counterparty) funding value adjustments, cotrelation and volatility.

Impairment losses on financial assets
The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assefs requires judgement, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a nuimber of faclors,
changes m which can result in different levels of allowances. The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of
complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs. Elements of
the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include:

- The Group’s internal credit rating model;

- The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk;

- The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

- Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs;

- Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs and their impact

on ECL calculation; and

- Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability of occwrrence, to derive the
ECL models.

It has been the Group's policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust
when necessary.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.0 Material accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (confinued)

Impairment losses on non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for simitar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based
on 2 DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant fuure investments that will enhance
the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive fo the discount rate used
for the DCTF model, as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
These estimates are most relevant 1o goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives recognised by the
Group.

Revaluation of Property and Equipment

The Group carries its land and buildings and building improvemenis at fair value, with changes in fair value being
recognised in other comprehensive income. These are valued by teference to market-based evidence, using
comparable prices adjusted for specific markes factors such as nature, location and condition of the property. The
Group engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair values for property and equipment. The key
assumptions used to determine the fair value of the properties are provided in Note 24.

Pensions obligation

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined using an actuarial valuaiion. The actuarial valuation
involves making asswmptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are highly
sensitive to changes in these assimptions.

Leases - estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannoi readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would
have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do
not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the [BR
using observable inputs (such as markel interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

3 GROUP INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial stalements of Byblos Bank SAL and
the following subsidiaries:

Percentage Principal Country of
Subsidiary of ownership uctivity fncorporaiion
2024 2023
% %
Byblos Bank Europe SA 99.95 $9.95 Commercial Banking Beigium
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3 GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Percentage Principal Country of
Subsidiary of ownership activity incorporalion
2024 2023
Yo %
Adonis Tnsurance and Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL 63.95 63.95 Insurance Lebanon
Adanis Brokerage House SAL 160.00 100.00 [nsurance brokerage  Lebanon
Byblos Invest Bank SAL 99.99 09.99 [nvestment banking  Lebanon
Byblos Bank Armenia CISC 100.00 100.00 Commercial Banking Armenia
Adonis Insurance and Reinsurance (ADIR) Syria 76.00 76.00 [nsurance Syria
4 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Financial information of the subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests are provided below:

Proportion of equity interests held by non-controlling inferests:

2024 2023
% %

Name
Adonis Insurance and Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL 36.05 36.05

The summarized financial information of this subsidiary are provided below. This information is based on
amounts before inter-company eliminations:

Summarized income statement for the year ended 31 December:

Adonis Insurance and
Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Net interest income (expense) 120,896 (20,799)
Net fee and commission expense (12,637) (970)
Net trading (loss) gain (705,462) 316,618
QOther operating income 295,971 23,356
Net recoveries (impairment losses) on financial assets 313,541 (228,053)
Total operating expenses (602,463) (224,854)
Income tax expense (28,331) (57,476)
Loss for the year (618,485) (192,178)
Attributable to non-controlling interests (222,964) (69,280)
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4 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Summarized statement of financial position as at 31 December:

Adonis fnsurance and
Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Cash angd bank balances 68,459 26,567
Due from banks and financizal institutions 1,455,258 86,524
Balances with Parent and Group enlities 1,226,403 451,909
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 276,808 51,283
Net loans and advances at amortised cost 23,908 7,456
Financial assets at amornised cost 659,731 63,383
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 41,126 3,183
Property, equipment and right-of-use asseis 1,083,005 1,071,934
Other assets 1,564,318 304,742
Deposits at amortised cost (2,096,127) (512,282)
Other liabilities (520,355) (258,874)
Provisions for risks and charges (2,340,086) (506,333)
Total equity 1,442,448 788,892
Attributable to non-controlling interests 520,003 284,396

Summarized cash llow information for the year ended 31 December:

Adonis Insurance and
Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL

2024 2023

LL mitlion LL million

Operaling 305,063 988,321
Investing (473,788)  (1,723,120)
Financing 14,434 33,205
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (154,291) (701,594)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monilors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segmients are evalualed based on information relating to
net operating income and financial position. Income taxes and operaling expenses are managed on & group basis
and are not allocated to operating segments.

Interest income is reported net, since Management monitors net interest income as a performance measure and
not the gross income and expense amounts. Net interest income is allocated to the business segment based on the
assumption that all positions are funded or invested via a central funding unit. An internal Funds Transfer Pricing
(FTP) mechanism was implemented between operating segments. Transfer prices between operating segments are
on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

The assets and liabilities that are reported in the segments are net from inter-segments’ asseis and liabilities since
they constitute the basis of Management’s measures of the segments’ assets and liabilities and the basis of the
atlocation of resources between segments.
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

A) Business Segments

The Group operates in four main business segments which are Corporate and Commercial Banking, Retail and
Personal Banking, Treasury and Capital Markets and Head Office.

Corporate and Commercial Banking

Retail and Personal Banking

Treasury and Capital Markets

Head Office

Provides diverse products and services to the corporate and
commercial cusiomers including loans, deposits, trade finance, as
well as all regular corporate and commercial banking activities.

Provides individual customers’ deposits and consumer loans,
overdrafts, credit cards, and funds transfer facilities, as well as all
regular retail and private banking activities.

Provides Treasury services including transactions in money and
capital markets for the Group’s customers, manages investment and
trading transactions (locally and internationally), and manages
liguidity, foreign currency and market risks. This segment also
offers investment banking and brokerage services, and manages the
Group’s own portfolio of stocks, bonds, and other financial
instruments.

Consists of capital and strategic investments, exceptional profits and
losses, as well as operating results of subsidiaries which offer non-
banking services.

The following tables present net operating income information and financial position information in respect of

the Group’s reportable segments.

{) Net operating income information

Net interest inGone

et fec and commission income

et rading gain

Mon-inlerest revenues from fimaneial assets at fair valug
through olher comprehensive ocome

Othee operaling income

ey inpainmeni loss on linancis! assets

Net operating income

Met inlcresl income

Met fee and commission income

Net trading gain

Non-interest revenues frem Rnancial assets a1 fair valug
theough other comprehensive ncorne

Ciher operating income

el impsirment loss on financial assets

el operating income

2024
Corporate Retail Treasury
and and and
Comumercial Personal Capital Head
Banking Banking Markeis Office Total
LL mifiton LL miftign LE miffion Li, mitton LL mittlon
1,491,233 731,928 7,518,514 47,301 10,088,973
2,263,428 2,342,023 {23,25%) (24,097} 4,558,099
- - 5,880,973 427,349 6,308,322
- - 219,393 - 219,393
- 58,594 . 444,089 532,683
2,323,358 692,956 (5.302,541) 19,262 (2.366,92%)
5,978,019 3,855,538 8,593,084 913,904 19,340,545
2023
Corporate Retail Treasury
and ond and
Commercial Personal Capital Head

Banking Banking Markels Office fotal
LL mitlion LL mitlion LL mitlion LL miflion LL miflion
527231 211,223 2,737490 {21,430y 3,454,510
397381 802,515 (3537207 12,646 855,330
; . 3,028,19) 511,265 3639 456
- 16,351 - 36,351
- 12,626 - 331,795 344,421
(223,941) (30,855) (700.744) (210,246) {1,175.786)
590,671 995,511 4 844 076 624,024 7,154,282
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
A) Business Segments (continued)

i) Financial pasition information

2024
Corporate Treasury Group
and Retoii and Functions
Commercial and Capital and Head
Personal
Banking Banking Markets Office Total
LL miliion LiL million LL miition LL million L1 mittion
Total assets 42,260,981 11,830,109 939,992 493 17,219,574  1,011,303,157
Total liabilities 14,045,955 837,812,645 47,619,795 43,465‘,953 942,943,443
2023
Corporate Treasury Group
and Retail and Functions
Commercial  and Personal Caputal and Head
Banking Banking Markets Office Total
LL million Li miflion Li miflion LL miflion LL miffion
Totat assets 8,963,748 1,866,567 162,876,574 12,472,717 186,179,600
Total liabilities 4442868 148,772,024 9518340 9,186,563 171,919,795

Interest and similar income from exposure to the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign amounted o
LL 5,200,920 million (2023: LL 2,815,791 million) arising from time deposits with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon
and financizl instruments held by the Group. The breakdown of interest and similar income from exposure to the
Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign is as follows:

2024 2023
LL million LL million

Interest and similar income
Central Bank of Lebanon 5,152,987 2,753,748
Lebanese sovereign 47,933 62,043
5,200,920 2,815,791

B) Geographical segments

The Group operates in three geographical segments, Lebanon, Europe and other countries and as such, is subject
to different risks and returns. The following tables show the distribution of the Groups’ net external operating
income, assets and liabilities allocated based on the location of the subsidiaries reporting the results or advancing
the funds. Transactions between segments are carried at market prices and within pure trading conditions.

2024
Lebanon Europe Other Total
LL million LL mitlion LL miflion LL milllon
Total operating income 16,274,253 2,201,953 3,231,264 21,707,470
Net impairment loss on financial assets (2,003,318) (165,744) (197,863) (2,366,925)
Net operating income! 14,270,935 2,036,209 3,033,401 19,340,545

Non-current assets® 10,588,782 1,404,642 2,704,547 _14,697,9 71
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
8) Geographical segments(continued)
2023

Lebanon Europe Qther Toial
L million LL million LL million LL million
Total operating income 7,280,767 398,225 651,076 8,330,068
Net impairment loss on financial assets (1,263,723) 5,387 82,550 (1,175,786)
Net operating income' 6,017,044 T 403,612 T 733,626 7,154,282
Non-current assets? 10,870,298 T 235917 453,298 11,559,513

—

! Net operating income is atiributed to the geographical segment on the basis of the location of the branch / subsidiary
responsible for reporting the results or advancing the funds.

X Non-current assets consisi of property, equipment and right-of-use assets, intangible assets, and certain other assets (other
than financial instruments and deferred taxes) expected 1o be recovered in more than twelve months after the reporting date.

6 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

2024 2023
LL milllon LL million
fnterest and similar income
Balances with central banks 5,485,909 2,114,087
Due from banks and financial institutions 3,574,986 421,120
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements 175,973 398,111
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 4,095,304 709,309
Loans and advances to related parties at amortised cost (Note 42) 8,464 1,649
Financial assets at amortised cost 260,932 337,780
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 637,256 83,359
14,238,824 4,665415
Tax on interest
Balances with central banks (393,225) (192,801)
Financial assets at amortized cost (9,539) (22,270)
(402,764) (215,071)
Interest and similar income, net of tax R 13,836,060 4,450,344

Amortization of other assets

Interest income from balances with central banks is presented net of the amortization of the present value of
expected future cash flows from leverage arrangements initially recognized as receivable from Central Bank of
Lebanon under leverage arrangements (Note 27). The amortization emounied to LL 177,718 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: LL 41,578 million).
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7 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
2024 2023
LL million LL million
Due to central banks 71,020 99,351
Due to banks and financial institutions 857,292 264,154
Customers’ deposits at amortised cost 2,581,843 601,802
Deposits from related parties al amortised cost (Note 42} 109,265 6,665
Subordinated debt 110,337 22,486
Lease lizbilities {Note 31) 17,330 1,376
3,747,087 905,834
8 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
2024 2023
LL miillon LL million
Fee and commission income
Loans and advances 39,135 32,7172
Letters of guarantee 225,751 54,738
Acceptances 76,284 12,883
Letiers of credit 346,529 57,024
Credit cards 424,464 61,642
Domiciled bills 40,262 21,266
Checks for collection 39,925 13,480
Maintenance of accounts 1,160,870 244,573
Transfers 729,683 126,988
Safe rental 19,633 14,622
Portfolio commission 55,463 8,365
Commission on insurance related activities [,896 20,268
Refund of banking services 251,298 63,877
Commission on foreign exchange transactions 121,919 106,103
Commission on cash withdrawal 559,203 119,167
Commission on banknotes deposits 809,923 89.776
Other comimissions 68,056 17,894
4,970,294 1,065,442
Fee and commission expense (412,195) (210,112)
Net fee and commission income 4,558,099 855,330

In order to service customers and banks needs in LL denominated banknotes during period of shortage, during
2023, the Group paid a premium for the supply of LL denominated banknotes amounting LL 123,017 million
recorded under fee and commission expense.
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9

NET TRADING GAIN

2024 2023
LL milfion LL million

Interest and similar income from debt instruments

- Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 57 57
Gain from sale of debt instruments

- Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 26,603 123
Unrealized gain (loss) from revaluation of debt Instruments

- Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 7,173,000 (52,896)
Net gain (loss) from debt instruments 7,199,660 (52,716)

Equity instruments

- Gain from sale 812 4,263
- Unrealized gain from revaluation 28,611 579
- Dividend income 1,563 -
Net gain from equity instruments 30,986 4,842
Foreign exchange (187,398) -
Loss resulting from exchange on foreign currencies* (734,926) (174,212)

Gain from devaluation of official exchange rates**

3,861,542

6,308,322 3,639,456

Foreign exchange includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts and other currency derivatives, as
well as the result of the revaluation of the daily open foreign currency positions.

* During 2024 and 2023, and in order to manage its US$/LL FX position, the Group engaged in the following
transactions:

On 11 November 2021, the Group obtained the approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon to discontinue
selling the latter the local foreign currencies purchased through the application of Basic Circular 151,
During 2023, these transactions resulted in a loss of LL 161,030 mitlion recorded in the consolidated
income statement,

During 2023, the Group purchased from its customers local foreign currencies at rates different from
the rate specified in Basic Circular 151, which resulted in a gain of LL 68,125 million recorded in the
consolidated income statement,

During 2023, the Group bought fresh dollars from customers ot Sayrafa average rates. These
transactions resulted in a loss of LL 81,307 million recorded in the consolidated income statement.
During 2024, the Group entered into lacal foreign currencies transactions (sale and purchase) withs its
customers at a rate of LL 15,000 which resulted in a gain of LL 12,151,571 million recorded in the
consoliduted income statement.

During 2024, the Croup sold the Central Bank of Lebanon local foreign currencies transaclions at a rafe
of LL 15,000 which resulted in a loss of LL 12,943,435 million recorded in the consolidated income
statement.
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9 NET TRADING GAIN (continued)

** In January 2024, the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon changed the official published exchanged rate from LL
13,000 ro LL 89,500 to the US Doilar which resulted in a gain of LL 33,134,056 recorded in the consolidated
siatement of equity (2023: from LL 1,507.5 to LL 15,000 to the US Dollars which resulted in a gain of LL
3,861,542 million recorded in the consolidated income statement).

10 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2024 2023
LL million LL million
Write back of provisions for risks and charges - 13,033
[ncome from insurance related activities 194,381 81,161
Rental income from assets obtained in settlement of debt 6,036 1,958
Net gain from sale of assets obtained in settlement of debt - 7,211
Waived interests - 217,494
Others 332,266 13,562
532,683 344,421
11 NET IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS
2024 2023
LL million LL million
Remeasurements:
Financial assets at amortised cost - 228,053
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 3,570,954 466,576
Balances with central banks 6,712,574 701,820
Due from banks and financial institutions 87,573 325
Financial guarantees and other commitments 414,143 797
Debtors by acceptances 5 3
10,785,249 1,397,574
Recoveries: T -
Financial assets at amortised cost (1,768,589) -
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost (6,487,171) (201,773)
Due from banks and financial institutions (42,407) {1,276)
Balances with central banks - (126)
Debtors by acceptance (387) (N
Other assets (117,855) {563)
Fingncial guarantees ang other commitments (1,548) (18,041)
Loans to banks and reverse repurchase agreermenis (367) -
(8,418,324) (221,788)
2,366,925 1,175,786
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12 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries and other related benefits

Social security contributions
Bonuses

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (Note 32 (a))

13 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Provisions for risks and charges (Note 32 (b))
Maintenance and repairs

Professional fees

Taxes and duties

Electricity and fuel

Telecommunications and postage expenses
Subscriptions

Contribution to deposits guaraniee fund
Board of Directors’ attendance fees

Legal expenses

Publicity and advertising

Rent and related charges under operating leases
Guarding fees

Insurance

Travel and entertainment

Printings and stationery

Donations

Taxes on interest

Others

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The components of income tax expense for the vears ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Current tax
Current income tax expense
Other taxes treated as income tax

Deferred tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

2024 2023
LL milllon LL million
3,955,009 890,996
472,499 95,880
63,327 9,062
158,238 50,473
4,645,073 1,046 411
2024 2023
LL mitlion LL miflion
8,408,762 4,565,058
881,717 247.920
706,269 145,831
346,341 189,630
213,607 142,004
177,625 86,843
145,805 25,266
143,342 18,506
134,301 28,383
106,806 21,241
106,186 16,980
04,718 16,499
94,445 59,019
86,635 29,880
68,300 13,502
39,265 14,477
3,105 310
376 260
293,402 123,902
12,051,007 5,746,151
2024 2023
LL mitlion LL million
605,837 179.983
1,258 19,333
607,095 199,316
1,219,410 -
1,826,505 199316
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14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The components of operating profit before tax, and the differences between income tax expense reflected in the

consolidated financial statements and the amounts calculated, are shown in the table below:

2024 2023
LL million LL million
Profit before income tax 2,000,806 205,517
Less: Results of differently taxed subsidiaries (530,058) (209,153)
Accounting profit (loss) before tax 1,470,748 (3,636)
Add:
Non-tax deductible provisions 8,290,292 5,323,214
Other non-tax deductible charges 392,921 70,608
10,153,961 5,390,186
Less:
Release of provisions previously subject to income tax - (27
Other non-taxable income (8,387,785) (3.695,567)
Carried forward losses - (1,190,696)
Taxable profit 1,766,176 503,896
Income tax expense at 17% 300,250 85,667
Income tax expense of differently taxed subsidiaries 305,587 94316
Income tax expense recorded in the consolidated income statement 605,837 179,983

The tax rates applicable to the parent and subsidiaries vary from 0% to 40% in accordance with the income tax
laws of the countries where the Group operates. For the purpose of determining the taxable results of the
subsidiaries for the year, the accounting results have been adjusted for tax purposes. Such adjustments include
items relating to both income and expense, and are based on the current understanding of the existing tax laws

and regulations and tax practices.

The movement of current tax liabilities during the year is as follows:

2024 2023

LI million LL million

Balance at 1 January 267,991 46,310

Charge for the year 607,095 199,316

Tax on sale of an investment 414,318 -

Paid during the year (279,971) (33,057)

Other movements - (8,547

Foreign exchange difference 206,910 63,969

Balance at 31 December (Note 31 (z)) 1,216,343 267,991
Deferred taxes recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position result from the following items:

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liahilities

2024 2023 2024 2023

LL million LL million LL millign LL million

Fair value of financial instruments - - 1,655,985 141,590
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15 EARNINGCS PER SHARE

Basic profit per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable Lo ordinary equity holders of the
Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted profit per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent
(after adjusting for interest on the convertible instruments net of tax) by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares oulstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would have been
issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential shares into ordinary shares.

The following table shows the profit and share data used in the basic profit per share calculation:

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank from:
Weighied average number of shares outstanding (*)

Basic and diluted profit per share

2024
LL mitllon

397,138
561,805,416

2024
LL

707

2023
LL million

72,769
561,805,416

2023
LL

130

(*) The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted for the computation of basic profit per share takes

into account the weighled average number of treasury shares.

Subordinated debts and cash contribuiion to capital were not considered in the calculation of diluted profit per

share. However, these instruments could potentially dilute basic eamings per share in the fisure.

16 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

Cash on hand
Balances with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon:

- Current accounts
- Time deposits

Balances with Ceniral Banks in other couniries:
- Current accounts
- Time deposits

Accrued interest receivable

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 46.2)

2024 2023
LL million LL milfion
0.809,731 1,576,504
464,833,423 52,974,146
364,707,952 91,366,961
829,541,375 144,341,107
10,196,386 2,349,152
3,000,650 56,942
13,197,036 2,406,094
732,369 549,185
853,280,511 148,872 890

(21,814,674)

(3.152,739)

831,465,837

145,720,151
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16 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS (continued)

During 2019, the Group and the Central Bank of Lebanon signed a neiting agreement {or specified financial assets
and liabilities that qualify for netting under the requirements of [AS 32. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2023,
time deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon amounting to LL 3,855,462 million and term borrowings from
the Central Bank of Lebanon (Noie 28) are reporied on a net basis on the consolidated statement of financial
position. As at 31 December 2024, financial assels and fnancial liabilities that were seitled on a net basis
amounted to LL 4,570,557 million (2023: LL 715,095 million).

Obligatory reserves:

- In accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon’s rules and regulations, banks operating in Lebanon are
required to deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon an obligatory reserve calculated on the basis of 25%
of sight commiiments and 15%% of tlerm commitmenis denominated in Lebanese Lira. This is not applicable
for invesiment banks which are exempted from obligatory reserve requirements on comimitments
denominated in Lebanese Lira. Additionally, ali banks operating in Lebanon are required 1o deposit with
the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon placements representing 14% of total deposits in foreign currencies regardless
of nafure. Cbligatory reserve required for the Bank amounted to LL 105,110,125 million as at 31 December
2024 (2023: LL 19,361,430 million).

Subsidiary banks and branches operating in foreign countries are also subject to obligatory reserve
requirements determined based on the banking rules and regulations of the countries in which they operate.
As of 31 December 2024, obligatory reserve required for banks operating in foreign countries amounted to
LL 3,954,557 million (2023: LL 579,962 million).

17 DUE FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Current accounts 46,145,954 5,938,547
Time deposits 7,412,683 3,300,587
Pledged accounts 3,964,242 384,815
Accrued interest receivable 62,761 16,529

57,585,640 9,640,478
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 46.2) (102,590) {25,531)

57,483,050 9,614,947

Doubtful balances with banks and financial institutions and the related provisions and unrealized interest which
fulfill cerain requirements have been transferred to off financial position accounis. The gross amount of these
balances amounted to LEL 170,539 million as of 31 December 2024 (2023: LL 29,653 million),

Restricted balances amounted to LL 278,635 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: LL 45,316 million).
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18 LOANS TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND REVERSE REPURCHASE

AGREEMENTS
2024 2023
LL mitlion LL million
Loans 1o banks and financial institulions 6,934,745 1,441,537
Accrued interest receivable 73,967 7,999
7,008,712 1,449 536
Discounted acceptances 11,121,853 1,980,816
Interest received in advance (136,808) (36,329)
10,985,045 1,944,487
Reverse repurchase agreements 715,997 202,271
Accrued interest receivable 540 194
716,537 202,465
18,710,254 3,596,488
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 46.2) (6,029) (799}
18,704,265 3,595,689

As at 31 December 2024 the amounts receivable under reverse repurchase agreements were collateralized by
govemment securities of the Republic of Anmenia with the fair values of LL 819,657 million (31 December 2023:

LL 218,665 million).

19 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group enters into derivatives for wrading and for risk management purposes. The table below shows the fair
values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities together with their notional amounts.
The notional amount, recorded gross, is the quantity of the derivative contracts’ underlying instrument (being an
equity instrument, commodity product, reference rate or index, etc.). The notional amounts indicate the volume

of transactions outstanding at year-end and are not indicative of either ihe markei risk or credit risk.

Forwards and Futures

Forwards and futures conlracts are contractual agreements 10 buy or scll a specified financial instrument at &
specific price and date in the futvre. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market.
Futures contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash

margin requirements.
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19 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between lwo parties to exchange streams of payments over time based on
specified notional amounts, in relation to movements in a specified underlying index such as an interest rate,
foreign currency rate, commodity index or equity index. In a currency swap, the Group pays a specified amount
in one currency and receives a specified amount in another currency. Currency swaps are mostly gross seitled.

2024 2023
Notional Notional
Assets Linbilities amount Assets  Liabifities amount
LL mitlion LL mitlion  LL million  LL miflion LL million LL miflion

Held for trading
Currency swaps 8,150 - 3,972,053 1,627 10,772 782,243
Forward foreign exchange contracts 17,936 16,898 - 3,825 3,639 -

26,086 16,898 3,972,053 3,452 14,411 782,243

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
LL million LL million

Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank of Lebanon
Treasury bills 667 732
Eurobonds 13,283,334 1,024,079
13,284,001 1,024,811

Private sector and other securities

Equity securities and funds 862,309 298,222
14,146,310 1,323,033

21 NET LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTISED COST

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Commercial loans 63,310,124 10,840,794
Consumer loans 16,878,590 2,709.518
80,188,714 13,550,312

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 46.2) (28,374,378) (4,681,034)
51,814,336 8,869,278

Bad loans and related provisions and unrealized interest which fulfil certain reguirements have been transferred to
off financial position accounts. The gross balance of these loans amounted to LL 14,195,180 million as of 31
December 2024 (2023: LL 2,365,739 million).
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22 FINANCTAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

2024 2023
LL million LL million
Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank of Lebanon
Certificates of deposits () 2,578,739 1,057,144
Treasury bills (a) 657,297 775,292
Eurobonds 4,031,602 1,226,701
7,267,638 3,059,137
Other soverelgn
Foreign governmental debt securities 1,968,469 190,573
Private sector and other securities
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 2,195,249 273,301
11,431,356 3,523,011
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 46.2) (3,555,126) (1,410,764}
7,876,230 2,112,247

{a) As at 31 December 2024, Lebanese reasury bills and centificates of deposits amounting to LL 1,126,934
million were pledged against subsidised loans and term borrowings granted by the Central Bank of Lebanon
(2023: LL 513,110 willion) (Note 28).

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
LL million LL million
Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank of Lebanon
Eurobonds 41,126 3,183
Orther sovereign
Foreign governmental debt securities 7,201,464 1,122,682
Private sector and other securities
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 116,113 52,885
Equity securities 2,932,012 1,011,566
3,048,125 1,064,451
10,290,715 2,190,316
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(continued)

Eqguity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income:
The Group classified the following instruments in private sector securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income as it holds them for strategic reasons. The tables below list those equity instruments,
dividends received, and the changes in fair vaiue net of applicable taxes:

2024 2023
Cumulative Cumulative
Carrying  fairvalne  Dividend Carrving  fair value  Dividend
amount changes income amout! changes income

LL miftion LL million LL million LL million  LL milfion LL million

Unquoted shares:

Banque de I’Habitat SAL 22,856 17,667 - 22,856 17,667 -

Intra Investment Company SAL 17,591 4,567 - 17,591 4,567 -

Interbank Payment WNetwork (IPN)

SAL 3,339 456 - 3,340 456 -

Arab Trade Financing Program 125,771 105,318 2,271 21,079 626 304

Byblos Bank Syria - - - 462,461 462,461 -

Others 82,004 7,179 6,747 13,280 271 1,304

Quoted shares:

Jordan Ahli Bank 2,680,451 2,616,339 210,375 470,959 447,427 34,743
2,932,012 2,751,526 219,393 1,011,566 933,475 36,351

Dividend income amounted te LL 219,393 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: LL 36,351
millign) and resulted from equity instruments held at year end.

24 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Furniture Right
Motor and of Work n
Buildings vehicles equipment usE a5sels Deposits progress fotal
LL million  LL miflion LL mitlion LE muilion  LL mithon LI million LL mitlion
Cost:
At 1 January 2024 11,165,612 8,946 549,938 107,705 2,262 17,980 11,852,453
Additions 12,897 2,222 162 383 - - 37,161 214,663
Disposals - 1€)] (391113 - - - (39,120)
Other movement 5,112 - - - - 5,112
Foreign exchange difference 2,558,642 39372 1,278,444 537490 7,042 58,555 4,479,545
At 31 December 2024 13,742,263 50,531 1,951,654 645,195 9,304 113,706 16,512,653
Depreciation: .
At ) Janpary 2024 {8.604) 7,254 407,486 46,978 - - 453,114
Depreciation during the year 388,250 2452 110,560 54,802 - - 356,073
Related to disposals - (%) (39.911) - - - {39,920
Foreign exchange difference 342,737 26,983 974,150 240377 - - 1,584,247
At 31 Deceraber 2024 722,392 36,680 1,452,285 342,157 = - 2353514
Net earrying value:

At 31 December 2024 13,019,871 13,851 499,369 303,038 2,304 113,706 13,959,139
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24 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Cosl:
At 1 January 2023
Additions
Revaluation
Revatuation adjusiments
Disposals
Transfers
Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2023

Depreciation:
At | January 2023
Cepreciation during the year
Revaluation adustments
Related to disposals
Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2023

Net carrying value:
At 31 December 2023

Furnitire Right

Motor and of Weork in
Buildings vehicles equipment use assets Peposits progress Total
LL muillion  LL miflion LL milfion LL miltion  LL million  LL miition LL million
4,120,551 2,574 257,285 10,040 768 8,565 4,399,743
253,683 - 61,245 24 168 4,869 319,989
6747292 - - - - - 6,747,292
(182,842) - - - - - (182,342)
- - {9,932) - - - (9,932)
- - 4,782 - - (4,782) -
226,928 6,372 236,558 97,641 1,326 9,338 578,163
11,165,612 8,946 549,938 107,705 2,262 17,990 11,852,453
6919 2,033 214,220 3420 - - 226,592
112,138 252 29,600 9433 - - 151,423
(182,842) - - - - - (182,842)
- - {8.088) - - - {8,088)
55,181 4,969 171,754 34125 - - 266,029
(8,604) 7254 407486 46,978 - - 453114
11,174,216 1,692 142,452 60,727 2,262 17,990 11,399,339

Land and buildings with a carrying amount of LL 9,302,316 million (2023: LL 9,646,595 million) are subject to
seizure and restriction on disposal (Note 48).

Revaluation differences on property and equipment reflected net of tax as revaluation reserve of real estate in

equity amounted to LL 9,701,463 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: LL 9,696,351) (Note 39).

Fair value of the land and buildings and frechold improvements was determined using the market comparable
method. The valuations have been performed by the valuer and are based on proprietary databases of prices of
transactions for properties of similar nature, location and condition. As a1 the date of revaluation, the properties’
fair values are based on valuations carried out by independent valuers accredited by the local regulators in the
countries in which the properties are situated. Gain from level 3 revaluation of LL 6,747,292 million in 2023 was
recognised in other comprehensive income.

25 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
At | January 2024
Additions
Forcign exchange difference

At 31 December 2024
Amortization

At 1 January 2024

Charge for the year

Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2024

Net carrying value
At 31 December 2024

Software

Key money development Total
LL million LL mitlion LL million
2,303 176,916 179,219

- 232,367 232,367

- 544,441 544,44

2,303 953,724 956,027
2,301 80,410 82,

2 83,584 83,586

- 140,012 140,012

2,303 304,006 306,309

- 649,718 649,718
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25 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Software
Key mongy development Total
LL million LL miflion LL miltlion
Cost
At 1 January 2023 2,303 66,273 68,576
Additions - 43,714 43,714
Foreign exchange difference - 66,925 66,929
At 31 December 2023 2,303 176,916 179,219
Amortization
At | January 2023 2,299 49,456 51,755
Charge for the year 2 7.132 7,134
Foreign exchange difference - 23,822 23,822
At 31 December 2023 2,301 80,410 82,711
Net carrying value
At 3! December 2023 2 96,306 96,508

26 ASSETS OBTAINED IN SETTLEMENT OF DEBT

The Group occasionally takes possession of assets in settlement of loans and advances. The Group is in the process
of selling these assets which are, as such, included in assets obtained in settlement of debt. Gains or losses on
disposal are recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year.

2024 2023
LL million LL million
Cost:
At 1 January 76,858 67.936
Additions 1,047 5,142
Disposals (3,040) (4.910)
Foreign exchange difference 56,153 8,690
At 31 December 131,018 76.858
Impairment:
At | January 13,192 8,188
Impairment for the year 290 48
Related to disposals - 27
Foreign exchange difference 28,422 4,983
At 31 December 41,904 13,192
Net carrying value:
At 31 December 89,114 63,666
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26 ASSETS OBTAINED IN SETTLEMENT OF DEBT (continued)
Assets obtained in settlement of debis as at 31 December 2024 include an amount of LL 58,169 million which is

based on historical costs at the official exchange rate of LL !,507.5 to the US Dollars (2023: same). These assets
are subject lo seizure and restriction on disposal (Note 48).

27 OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023

LL million LL mitlion

Receivables from Central Bank of Lebanon under leverage arrangements (a) - 177,718
Obligatory deposits (b) 2,250 2,250
Prepaid insurance 34,871 21,258
Prepaid maintenance 94,278 19,568
Printings ang stationery 38,697 40,966
Prepaid expenses 300,557 12,707
Elecironic cards and regularization accounts 272,975 46,239
insurance premiwms receivable 176,503 43,467
Reinsurcrs’ share of technical reserves of subsidiary insurance companies 1,271,220 237,897
Hospitalization and medical care under collection 102,079 48,004
Foreign exchange position - 166,246
Other debit balances 314,927 £59,289
2,608,357 975,609

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (86,754) (20,405)
2,521,603 955,204

a) Receivables from Central Bank of Lebanon under leverage arrangements.

During 2020, the Group recognized a gain under “Other operating income™ representing the present value of
expected future cash flows from leverage arrangements with the Central Bank of Lebanon entered info during
2019. The gain was recorded against a receivable from the Cenfral Bank of Lebanon under “Other assets”.
This accounting treatinent was adopted by the Group as it is permissible by Central Bank of Lebanon
[ntermediate Circular number 519. Remaining unamortized balance at 31 December 2023 amounted to LL
177,718 million. The remaining balances was transferred to the consolidated income statement during the
year ended 31 December 2024,

b} Obligatory deposits consist of deposits as a percentage of the share capital of subsidiary banks that were
blocked at incorporation as a guarantee with the authorities. These deposits shall be returned to the subsidiary
banks without any interest upon liquidation of their activities,
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28 DUE TO CENTRAL BANKS

2024 2023
LL million LL million

Central Bank of Lebanon
Subsidized loans 318,225 262,169
Term loan 650,000 -
Term borrowings under leverage arrangements 346,457 391,892
Accrued interest payable 12,609 21,425
1,327,291 675,486

Other central banks

Current accounts 6,443 1,140
Term loans 38,881 3,540
Accrued interest payable 704 89
46,028 4,769
1,373,319 680,255

Subsidised Loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon
- The Group signed a credit agreement with the Central Bank of Lebanon based on the provisions of
Decision no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 reiating to the facilities which can be granted by the Central Bank
of Lebanon to banks. The balance amounted to LE 101,978 million as of 31 December 2024 (2023: LL
51,265 million).

- The Group cobtained 3 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon to finance the merger of the assets and
liabilities of Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL. These loans were originally granted in the amount of LL
227,000 million netted by & discount of LL 10,753 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: LL 227,000
million netted by a discount of LL 16,096 million) and are secured by the pledge of Lebanese treasury
bills amounting to LL 115,384 million included under financial asseis at amortised cost as of 31
December 2024 (2023: LL 121,218 million) (Note 22).

Term borrowings under leverage arrangements

Leverage arrangements with the Central Bank of Lebanon represent term borrowings denominated in LL, bearing
an interest rate 2% per annum and having maturities ranging between 2023 and 20335, fully invested in Lebanese
Treasury bills, certificates of deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon in LL, and blocked term placements with
the Central Bank of Lebanon in LL eaming coupon rates ranging between 6.5% per annum and 10.5%.
Simultaneously, the Bank has either deposited term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign
cwitencies at 6.5% per annum and in LL at 10.5% per annum (originated from the sale of foreign currencies to the
Centrat Bank of Lebanon) carrying the same maturities; or purchased Lebanese government Eurobonds from the
Central Bank of Lebanon. During 2019, the Bank and the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon signed a nefting agreement
covering only leverage arrangements that were invesied in blocked term placement and pledged certificates of
deposit with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon in LL. This agreement qualifies for neiting under the requirements of
IAS 32

The below table summarises the leverage arrangements and related financial assets subject to offsetting, and
enforceable similar agreements, and whether offset is achieved in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The table identifies the amounts that have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position and also
those amounts that are covered by enforceable netting arrangements (financial collateral) but do not qualify for
netting under the requirements of IAS 32 described in the accounting policies:
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28 DUE TO CENTRAL BANKS (continued)

2024 2023
LL million LL million
Leverage arrangements
Gross amounts 346,457 4,247,354
Amounts offset against ¥
Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon (Note 16) - (3,855,462)
Net amounts reported on the consclidated statement of financial position 346,457 391,892
Financial collateral .
Lebanese treasury bills (Note 22) 346,457 391,892

() Represents amounts that can be offset under IAS 32. Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon have also
been reported in the consolidated statement of financial position net of the amounts above.

Az at 31 December 2024, financial assets and financial liabilities that were settled on a net basis amounted to LL
4,570,557 million (2023: LL 715,095 million).

Term lpan

On 6 December 2024, the Group was granted a loan by the Central Bank of Lebanon amounting to LL 650,000
million payable on 26 June 2025 and subject to an annual interest rate of 20%. The loan is secured by the pledge
of Lebanese treasury bills and certificates of deposits amounting to LL 665,093 million included under financial
assets at amortized costs a5 of 31 December 2024 (Note 22).

29 DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCTAL INSTITUTIONS

2024 2023

LL miflion LL miltlion

Current accounts 3,539,934 1,287,788
Term loans 19,485,945 3,533,215
Time deposits 13,963,905 2,329,901
Cash margins 385,657 147,096
Accrued interest payable 72,411 11,131
37,447,852 7,309,131

During 2023, in light of the social, economic and banking sector conditions in Lebanon and the impending
government reform program, certain lenders have agreed on a voluntary basis and at the request of the Group, to
amend certain terms of their loan agreements, amongst others, the repayment schedule and the maturity date.
Remaining balance of these loans amounted to LL 19,485,945 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: LL 3,533,215 million).
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30 CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AT AMORTISED COST

2024 2023
LL mittion LL million
Current accounts 675,491,578 117,199,763
Term deposits 152,852,255 30,668,631
Cash margins 14,854,682 2,380,130
Bankers’ drafts - 143,575
Accrued interest payable 678,811 114,259
843,877,326 150,506,358

31 OTHER LIABILITIES
2024 2023
LL million LL million
Lease ligbilities 293,124 48,718
Accrued expenses 1,230,557 105,428
Fixed assets suppliers 5,115 862
Unearned commission and interest 70,196 8,410
Cash margins related to companies under establishment 26,398 11,123
Insurance premiums received in advance 19,990 4619
Payables o the National Social Security Fund 49,716 13,517
Advance payments linked to assets obtaimed in settlement of debt 1,768 903
Current tax liability (a) 1,654,339 792,161
Deferred tax liability (Note 14) 1,655,985 141,590
Banker’s drafi (b) 8,312,902 1,778,707
Other creditors 1,628,067 514,672
14,948,157 3,420,712

Sei out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Balance at 1 January 48,718 4,759
Interest expense {Note 7) 17,330 1,376
Paid during the year (16,416) (2,647)
Foreign exchange difference 243,492 45,230
Balance at 31 December 293,124 48,718
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31  OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Current tax liability

2024 2023

LL mittion LL million

Income tax due (Note 14) 1,216,343 267,991
Withholding 1ax on salaries 46,358 21,305
Withholding tax on interest eamed by cusiomers 237,902 65,907
Value added tax 71,249 4,623
Other 1axes 82,487 432,335
1,654,339 792,161

()] Banker s draft

Banker's draft as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 consist of checks paid to depositers that have not yet been

withdrawn from the Central Bank of Lebanon or other Lebanese Banks.
32 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Technical reserves of insurance subsidiaries 2,160,984 475,768
Employees’ end of service benefits (a) 1,733,683 981,135
Other provisions (b) 23,247,555 5,827,187
27,142,222 7,284,090

(a) Employees' end of service benefits

The Group has two defined benefit plans covering substantially all of its employees. The first requires
contributions to be made to the National Social Security Fund. The entitlement to and level of these end of service
benefits provided depends on the employees’ length of service, the employees’ salaries, contributions paid 1o the
National Social Security Fund and other requirements outlined in the Lebanese Labor Law. Under the second
plan, no contributions are required to be made, however a fixed end of service lump sum amount should be paid
for long service employees. The entitlement to and level of these end of service benefits provided depends on the
employees’ length of service, the employees’ saiaries and other requirements outlined in the Workers’ Collective
Agreement. End-of-service benefits for employees at foreign branches and subsidiaries are accrued for in
accordance with the laws and regulations of the respective countries in which the branches and subsidiaries are

located.

Movement in the provision for employees’ end of service benefits are as follows:

2024 2023
LL million LL mitlion
Balance ai | January 981,135 274,806
Costs charged 1o the income statement (Note 12).

Service costs 8,292 33,425
Net interest 149,946 17,048
158,238 50,473

Re-measurement losses in other comprehensive Income:
Experience adjustments 187,861 68,682
Economic assumptions 95,459 558,089
483,320 626,771
End of service benefits paid during the year (124,933) (6,538)
Foreign exchange 235,923 35,623
Balance at 31 December 1,733,683 981,135
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32 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)
{a) Employees’ end of service benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans in Lebanon constitute more than 93% of the Group’s retirement obligation. The principal
assumptions used in determining the end of service benefit obligations of these plans are shown below:

2024 2023
Economic assumptions
Discount rate 14% 14.0%
Salary increase
Year 2023 N/A N/A
Year 2024 N/A 3%
Year 2025 5% 3%
Year 2026 5% 3%
Thereafter 3% 3%
Expected annual rate of return on NSSF contributions None 3%
Treatment of bonus 14% None
2024 2023
Demographic assumptions
Retirement age Earliest of 64 or completion  Earliest of 64 or completion
of 20 contribution years of 20 contribution years
Pre-termination monality rale None None
Pre-termination turnover rates (age related with 3.5% for NSSF  3.5% for NSSF and 7.5% for
average of) and 25% for WCA WCA
A quantitative sensitivity analysis for the significant assumptions is shown below:
Discount rate Future salary increase
fncrease Decrease Increase Decrease
LL mitlion LL miltion LL mitfion LL mitllon
Impact on net defined bencfit obligations
2024 (11,638) 11,875 14,210 (13,966)
2023 (7,695) 7,838 9,304 9,162)

The sensitivity analysis above was determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined
benefit obligation as a result of 25 basis point changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions
constant. The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation
as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation from one another.

(b}  Other provisions

2024 2023

LL miition LL million

Provisions for contingencies 45,619 85,678
Provisions for ECL on financial guarantees and commitments 476,845 10,768
Other 22,725,091 5,730,741
23,247,555 5,827,187
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32 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)

(B} Other provisions (continued)

Movement in other provisions during the year was as follows:

At 1 January

Charge for the year (Note 13)

Provision (write-back) of provisions for ECL on financial guarantees

and commitments {Note 11)

Foreign exchange

At 31 December

33 SUBORDINATED DEBT

Issue 2012*(Due but unpaid)

Nominal value

Accrued interest payable

Issue 2021
Nominal value

Accrued inlerest payable

2024 2023

LL mitlion LL million
5,827,187 205,336
8,408,762 4,565,098
412,595 (17,244)
8,599,011 1,073,997
23,247,555 5,827,187
2024 2023

LL million LL million
5,420,042 957,437
1,537,345 251,352
1,824,010 305,700
329 55
8,781,726 1,514,544

*During 2022, legal proceedings were initiated against the Bank io enforce the paymenti of the outstanding US
dollar amount of its New York-law governed subordinated loan, which had a maturity of 21 December 2022. The
Group is contesting the proceedings, which are on-going, although the outcome cannot be determined presently.
Subsequent to year end, the proceadings in New York cowrt were withdrawn and the Bank is still challenging the

proceedings in Belgium.

On 21 December 2012, the Group signed a US$ 300 million subordinated loan agreement with an international
financial institution, whereby the laner acted as an issuer of US$ 300 million subordinated notes convertible into
Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR’s according to the following terms:

Number of notes:
Note’s issue price:
Note's nominal value:
Date of issue:
Maturity:

I[nterest rate:
Rights of holders:

30,000

Us$ 10,000

US$ 10,000

21 December 2012

21 December 2022, subject to the earlier conversion of these notes, in whole
or in part, into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR’s at a price of US$ 2.5 per
share or US$ 125 per GDR

Contractual interest raie of 6.5% payable semi-annually.

The noteholder has the right 1o convert all or portion of the subordinated notes
into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR’s al a conversion price of US$ 2.5 per
share or US$ 125 per GDR.

On 17 June 2020, in light of the developmenis in the Lebanese Republic, the Group announced that it will not
make the inlerest payments on the subordinated debt which is due on 30 June 2020.
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33 SUBORDINATED DEBT (continued)

The Extraordinary General Assembly of the Shareholders held on 21 April 2021 resolved the following:
- The exchange of convertible subordinated debt with a nominal value of US$ 20,380,000 with new bonds
with similar terms however maturing in 2031 and payable locally; and
- The repurchase of convertible subordinated debt with a nominal value of US$ 200,520,000 and their
cancellation.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had repurchased/exchanged additional convertible subordinated debt with &
nominal value amounting to US$ 18,540,000 (2023: US$ 15,270,000).

34 SHARE CAPITAL

2024 2023
Noof Share Share No of Share Share
shares capital premiumnt shares capital premiym
LL million  LL million Li million LI miffion
Common shares 565,515,040 684,273 229,014 565,515,040 684,273 229,014

Preferred shares

- Series 2008 2,000,000 2,420 295,154 2,000,000 2,420 295154
- Series 2009 2,000,000 2,420 295,929 2,000,000 2,420 295,929

4,000,000 4,840 591,083 4,000,000 4,840 591,083

The capital of the Bank is divided into 565,515,040 shares of LL 1,210 each fully paid (2023; the same).
Preferred shares
i Series 2008 Preferred Shares

On 15 August 2008, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on 18 July 2008, the
Bank issued Series 2008 preferred shares, according to the following terms:

Number of shares: 2,000,000

Share’s issue price: US$ 100

Share’s nominal value: LL 1,200

Issue premium: USS (000) 195,790 (equivelent to LL 295,154 million) calculated in USS as

the difference between the total issue of US$ (000) 200,000 and the total par
value of the issue amounting to LL 2,400 million and after deducting issuance
commission for the issue amounting to US$ (000) 2,618.

Benefits: Non-cumulative annual dividends of USS 8.00 per share, subject to the
availability of non-consolidated distributable net profits.
Repurchase right: Redeemable (at a date subsequent to the approval of 2013 accounts by the

general assembly) at the Bank’s option at the issue price plus any declared but
unpaid distributions for all the years preceding the year of the call, with the
condition that at least 25% of the original number of the preferred shares are
called each time.

[n 2009, the par value of series 2008 preferred shares was increased from LL 1,200 to LL 1,210.
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34 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

i) Series 2009 Preferred Shares
On 4 September 2009, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on 1 August 2009,
the Bank issued Series 2009 preferred shares according to the following terms:

Number of shares: 2,000,000

Share’s issue price: USs g6

Share’s nominal value: LL 1,210

Issue premium: USS (000) 188,313 (equivalent 1o LL 283,881 million) calculated in USE as the

difference between the total issue of USE (000) 192,000 and the total par value
of the issue amounting to LL 2,420 million and after deducting issuance
commissions of US$ (000) 2,082.

Benefils: Non-cumulative annuel dividends of US$ 8.00 per share, subject o the
availability of non-consolidated distributable net profits.
Repurchase right; Redeemable (at a date subsequent to the approval of 2014 accounts by the

general assembly) at the Bank’s option at US$ 100 plus any declared but unpaid
distributions for all the years preceding the year of the call, with the condition
that at least 25% of the original number of the preferred shares are called each

time.
Listing of shares

As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank’s shares were listed as follows:
2024 2023 2024 2023
Stock exchange Stock exchange  No of shares No of shares
Ordinary shares Beirut Beirut 502,490,590 502,490,590
Global depository receipis (*) Beirut Beirut 1,260,489 1,260,489
Preferred shares Beirut Beinut 4,000,000 4,000,000

(*) Global Depository Receipis (GDR’s) can be issued at a ratio of 50 Common Shares per one GDR.

The Bank’s Board of Directors meeting dated 17 June 2020 approved the delisting of iis GDR from the London
SEAQ. The delisting became effective on 30 July 2020.

35 CASH CONTRIBUTION TO CAPITAL

The Extraordinary General Assembly of Shareholders held on 21 April 2021 verified and approved Cash
Contribution 1o Capital (CCC) amounting 1o LL 407,025 million (equivalent to US$ 270 million) in order 1o
complete the 20% increase of the Common Equity Tier 1 capital in compliance with Central bank of Lebanon
Intermediate Circular 567. On 15 July 2021 ihe Bank obtained the final approval of the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon.

The terms of the Cash Contribution 1o Capital are as follows:

- Perpetual, subject to the conversion right, as further described below;

- Subject to the approval of the Banking Control Commission, the approval of the shareholders of the Bank
at the annual Ordinary General Meeting of shareholders of the Bank, and availability of Free Income for
the immediately preceding year, the Bank may, but is not required to, pay a retwmn annually (in respect of
the immediately preceding year only) on each return payment date, at a rate of 5% per anhum until 31
December 2026, following which, the return rate is applicable for each subsequent year will be determined
by the Bank;

- The right of CCC participants to return shall nof be cumulative;

- CCC participants shall have the right to convert all or a portion of their participation in the CCC, together
wilh any interest declared to be due and accrued, but unpaid, into shares at the Conversion Price;
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- The "Conversion Price" in respect of any conversion by a Shareholder of all or any portion of the nominal
amount of its Cash Contribution to Capital (including Return which is due and payable), translated from
USS into [.L at the Relevant Rate, shall be fixed at LL 1,210 per share (and shall be subject to adjustment
only in the limited circumstances). The Relevant Rate means rate of exchange for USS into Lebanese Lira,
as of 1l am Beirut time on the date which is two business days prior to the applicable conversion date,
which is (i) published by the Central Bank of Lebanon on its electronic platform established and operated
pursuant to Decision 13236; or (ii) if such rate is not then available, the standard base rate for such exchange
published by the Central Bank of Lebanon; or (iit) if both of the forgoing rates are unavailable, the prevailing
rate for such exchange as determined by the Bank;

- Conversion of the Cash Contribution to Capital musi occur prior to 31 December 2026.

36 NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Eouity
component of
Reserves convertible
Legal  General for capital  subordinated Other

reserve reserve increase debt reserves Total

LL mittion  LL mitlion L1 million LL mitlion  LL million  LL million

Balance at 1 January 2024 356,991 334,390 127,665 31,618 151,193 1,004,857

Transfers 4,648 - - - 9,957 19,605

Balance at 31 December 2024 369,639 334,390 127,665 31,618 161,150 1,024,462
Lquity

component of
Reserves convertible

Legal  General for capital  subordinated Other
reserve reserve increase debt reserves Toial
LL milfion  LL million LL mitlion LL mitlion  LL million LL mitfion
Balance at 1 January 2023 357,018 334,390 127,665 31,618 157,058 1,007,749
Transfers 2,973 - - - (3,865) (2,892)
Balance at 31 December 2023 359,991 334,3%0 127,665 31,618 151,193 1,004,857

Legal reserve

The Lebanese Commercial Law and the Bank’s articles of association stipulate that 10% of the net annual profits
be transferved to legal reserve. In addition, subsidiaries and branches are also subject to legal reserve requirements
based on the rules and regulations of the countries in which they operate. This reserve is not available for dividend
distribution.

During 2024, the Bank and different subsidiaries transferved to legal reserve an amount of LL 9,648 million (2023:
LL 2,973 million) as required by the laws applicable in the countries in which they operate.

General reserve

According to the Central Bank of Lebanon Main Circular 143, Banks in Lebanon are required to transfer to General
Reserves, the balance of Reserves for General Banking Risks and General Reserves for Loans and Advances
previously appropriated in line with the requirements of decision 7129 and decision 7776 respectively. This reserve
is part of the Group’s equity and is not available for distribution.
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36 NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (continued)

Orher reserves
Other reserves consist of the following:

- During 2013, the Group transferred an amount of LL 31,077 million from retained eamings to other reserves

relaied to the subordinated debt.

- Non-distributable reserves of subsidiaries appropriated from retained eamings as required by the laws applicable

in the countries in which they operate.

- As of 31 December 2024, “Other reserves” include reserves of LL 96,504 million (2023: LL 86,547 million)
maintained by the subsidiary Byblos Bank Europe to meet several legal limits and requirements.

37 DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

General reserves
Other capital reserves

38 TREASURY SHARES

2024 2023

LL mitltion LL mitfion
90,121 90,121
1,026 1,026
91,147 91,147

Movement of treasury shares recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position for the years 2024 and

2023 was as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2024

Total treasury shares in LL million

Year ended 31 December 2023

Al 31 Deeember 2023

Total treasury shares in LL million

Giobal Depository
Conunon shares Receipts
No. gf Amount No. of Amount
shares USS (600) shares LSS (000
3,146,774 4,744 11,257 M
T 8,524
Global Depository
Common shares Receipts
No. of Amount No. of Amount
shares /S8 (000) shares USS (060)
3,146,774 4,744 11,257 1
8,524
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a9 REVALUATION RESERVE

Revaluation reserve

2024
LL million

9,701,473

2023
LL million

9,696,351

40 CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement of the change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during

the year was as follows:

At 1 January

Net changes in fair values during the year
Sale of FVOCI

Net changes in deferred taxes

Balance at 31 December

41 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balances with central banks

Due from banks and financial instimtions

Loans to banks and financizl institutions and reverse
repurchase agreements

Less: Due 10 central banks
Less: Due to banks and financial institwions

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2024 2023

LL million LL million
785,566 (14,838)
2,360,456 043,852
(394,210) -
(429,608) (143,398)
2,322,204 785,566
2024 2023

LL million LL million
632,899,400 78,179,820
51,786,647 9,121,428
9,720,990 1,821,334
694,407,037 89,122,582
(777,950) (225,266)
(18,226,695) (3,712,686)
675,402,392 85,184,630

Cash and cash equivalents include balances in foreign cuirencies that are subject to de-facto capital controls and
restricted transfers outside Lebanon. Accordingly, these balances are not considered readily convertible to known
amounts of cash in the denomination currency without a risk of changes in value. However, the Group maintains
their classification as cash and cash equivalents as they are freely transferrable within the Lebanese territory.
These balances were as follows as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

2024 2023

LL milllon LL million

Balances with central banks 619,264,329 74,223,232
Due from banks and financial institutions 2,736,837 327,601
622,001,166 74,750,833
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42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other party controls both. The
definition includes subsidiaries, key management personnel and their close family members, as well as entities

controlled or jointly controlled by them.

A list of the Group’s principal subsidiaries is shown in Note 3. Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries
meet the definition of relaled party transactions. However, where these are eliminaied on consolidation, they are not
disclosed in the Group’s consolidaled financial stalements.

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the Directors and the Officers of the

Group.

Related party balances included in the Group's consolidated sialement of financial position are as follows as of
31 December:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Key Key

management mtanagement
personnet Other Total personnel Other Totat
LL mitlion LE miflion LL miftion LL mithon LL million  LL miflion
Due from banks and financial instiutions - 252 358 252358 - 52,594 52594
Loans and advances 1 00,606 23466 124,072 17.692 7456 25,148
Dug 19 banks and financial wnsitutions - 309,785 309,785 - 1,147 255 1,147,255
Deposits 5,024,314 2,178,952 7,203,266 88 741 102,531 98 272
Subordinated debi - - - 180 - 180
Guaranices received 452,735 - 452,735 78,780 - 78,780
Guaraniges given 3TN - 33,773 34,292 - 31,292
Commitments {including acceptances) - - - 32475 32,475

Relafed party transactions included in the Group’s consolidaled incorne statement are as follows for the year ended
31 December:

31 December 2024 37 December 2023
Key Key
managemeni munagement
personngl Other Totaf personet Other Total
LL miftton LI miltion LE milflon LL mifhon  LLmilfion  LL million
Inierest income on loans and advances 8322 142 8,464 1,627 ) I 649
Interest expense on deposits 40,313 68,952 109,265 6,665 - 6,665
Interest income on due fram banks and
financial institutions - - - - 825 825
Interest expense on due to banks and
Nnancial institations - 3474 3474 - 783 783

n addition to the above, the Group entered into an agreement with the International Finance Corporation (IFC),
a shareholder, whereby the latter makes available a non-commitied trade finance guarantee facility 1o the Group
up 10 US$ 50 million. During 2020, this limit was cancelled, and the facilities issued by IFC are being granted on
a case by case basis. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023 guarantees issued by [FC were nil.

Compensation of the Key Management Personnel of the Group
2024 2023

LL million LL million

Short-term benefits’ 251,974 53,243

! Short-term benefits comprise of salaries, bonuses, profit-sharing, attendance fees and other short-term benefits
to key management personnel.
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Credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group enters info various commifments, guarantees and other contingent liabilities which are mainky credit-
related instruments including both financial and non-financial guarantees and commitments 10 extend credil. Even
though these obligations may nol be recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position, they do contain
credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group. The 1able below discloses the nominal principal
amounts of credit-relaled commitiments and contingent liabilities. Nominal principal amounts represent the
amount at risk should the contracts be fully drawn upon and clients’ default. As a significant portion of guarantees
and cormmitments is expected Lo expire without being withdrawn, the total of the nominal principal amount is not
indicative of future liquidity requirements.

2024
Banks Cusfomers Total
LI million LL million LL million

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees 556,514 2,675,598 3,232,112
Commitments
Documentary credits 3,618,038 1,442,090 5,060,128
Loan commitments - 5,933,173 5,933,173
3,618,038 7,375,263 10,993,301
2023
Banks Customers Totai
LL million LL million LL million
Guarantees and contingent liabilities
Financial guarantees 93,475 410,382 503,857
Commitments
Documentary credils 173,851 232,691 406,542
Loan commitments - 716,573 716,573
173,851 949,264 t,123,115

Guarantees (including standby letters of credit)

Guarantees are given as security to support the performance of a customer to third parties. The main types of
guarantees provided are financial guarantees given to banks and financial institutions on behalf of customers to
secure loans, overdrafts, and other banking facilities; and

Documentary credits
Documentary credits commit the Group to make payments to third parties, on production of documents which are
usnally reimbursed immediately by customers.

Loan commitments
Loan commitments are defimed amounts (unutilized credit lines or undrawn portions of credit lines) against which
clients can borrow money under defined terms and conditions.
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43 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Loan commitments (continued)

Revocable loan commitmenis are those commitments that can be unconditicnally cancelled at any time subject o
notice requirements according to their general terms and conditions. frrevocable loan commitments result from
arrangements where the Group has no right to withdraw the loan commitment once communicatled to the
beneficiary.

[nvestment commitments

The Group invested in funds pursuant o the provisions of Decision no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 of the Central
Bank of Lebanon. [n accordance with this resolution, the Group can benefit from facilities granted by the Central
Bank of Lebanon to be invested in startup companies, incubators and accelerators whose objecis are restricted to
supporting the development, success and growth of startup companies in Lebanon or cornpanies whose objects
are restricted 10 investing venture capital in startup companies in Lebanon,

Legal claims

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. At year-end, the
Group had several unvesolved legal claims in Lebanon and abroad, mainly those relating o the resirictive measures
in place with respect to the withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad and a civil action filed in US federal courts
in the US District Court in the Eastern District of New York (EDNY) against eleven Lebanese banks including
Byblos Bank SAL asserting primary and secondary lizbility claims under the Anti-Terrorism Act ("ATA”).

The extent of the impact of these matters cannot always be predicted but may materially impact the Group's
operations, financial resuits, condition and prospects. However, once professional advice has been obtained and
the amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjustments 1o account for any adverse effecis
which the claims may have on its financial standing. Based on advice from legal counsel, and despite the novelty
of certain claims and the uncertainties inherent in their unique situation, Management believes that legal claims
will not result in any material financial loss to the Group, except as provided for in Note 32.

Other commitments and contingencies

Certain areas of the Lebanese tax legislation and the lax legislations where the subsidiaries operate are subject to
different interpretations in respect of the taxability of cenain types of financial transactions and activities. The
Bank’s books in Lebanon remain subject 1o the review of the 1ax authorities for the years 2018 to 2024 and the
review of the National Social Security Fund (NSSF) for the period from 1 November 2015 10 31 December 2024.
In addition, the subsidiaries’ books and records are subject to review by the tax and social security avthorities in
the countries in which they operale. Management believes that adequate provisions were recorded against possible
review results to the extent that they can be reliably estimaled.

Commitments resulting from credit facilities received

The Group has several comimitments and covenants resulting from credit facilities, term loans and subordinated
debts with non-resident financial institutions. The Group is in breach with some of the financial covenants which
were calculated based on the recorded figures and does not take into consideration the adjustments that may result
from the resolution of the uncertainties in Note 1. Due to the high level of uncentainiies and the lack of observable
reliable indicators and the high gap in currency rates, the Group is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner the
impact of these matters on its covenant calculation.

44 ASSETS HELD IN CUSTODY AND UNDER ADMINISTRATION

2024 2023
LL mitlion LL million

Assets held in custody and under administration 103,676,861 15,273,319
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4 ASSETS HELD IN CUSTODY AND UNDER ADMINISTRATION (continued)

Assets held in custody and under administration

Custody is the safekeeping and servicing of securities and other financial assets on behalf of clients.
Administration includes the provision of various support functions and activities including the valuation of
porifolios of securities and other financial assets on behalf of clients, which complements the custody business.

45 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values in this note are stated at a specific date and may be different from the amounts which will actually
be paid on the maturity or settlement dates of the instrumeni. fn many cases, it would not be possible to realise
immediately the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair values do
not represent the value of these instruments to the Group as a going concern. Financial assets and liabilitics are
classified according to a hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable market inputs, The three levels of
the fair value hierarchy are defined below.

Quoted Market Prices - Level 1

Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an active market. Such instruments are
valued by reference to unadjusied quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted
price is readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Valuation Technique Using QObservable Inputs — Level 2

Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose miost significant inputs are
observable in an active market. Such inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical instruments in inactive markets, and observable inputs other than quoted prices such as
interest rates and vield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads.

Valuation Technique Using Significant Unobservable Inputs — Level 3
Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Effects of exchange rates on the fair value measurements

The fair value disclosures for other assets and liabilities are first determined in their original currency, which is
not the Lebanese Lira in the case of most of the assets and liabilities reported below. These are then translated to
Lebanese Liras at the official published exchange rate as discussed in Note 1.3. This matter should be taken into
consideration when interpreting the fair value disclosures in this note, especially those under Level 1 and Level
2.

45.1 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE

Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value:

2024
Valuation technigues
Qwoted  Observable Linobservable
market price inpiits inpiits
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
LL mitlion  LL milfion LL milfian LL milfion
Assets:
Derivative financial mstruments:
Currency swaps - 8,150 - 8,150
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45 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
45.1 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE (continued)

Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and ltabilities carried at fair value
(continued):

204
Valuation technigues
Quoted  Qbservable {Unobservable

market price inputs inputs
Level } Level 2 Level 3 Total
LL million  LL million LL miltion LL nolfion
Forward foreign exchange conteacts - 17,936 - 17,936
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 13,283,334 - 667 13,284,001
Equity sccuritics and funds 516,638 - 345,671 862,309
Financial assets ai fair value through other comprehensive income:
Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 41,126 - - 41,126
Foreign governmental debt securities 1,416,373 5,785,001 - 7.201,464
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions . 116,113 - 116,113
Equity securities 2,680,450 - 251,562 2,932,012
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments:
Forward foreign exchange contracts - 16,898 - 16,898
2023
Vaduation techrigues
Quated market  Observable Unobservable
price mpuis HEuls
Levef | Level 2 Level 3 Toial
LL million  LL nuition LL milfion LL milhon
Assets:
Derivative financial instruments:
Currency swaps - 1,627 - 1,627
Forward foreign exchange contracts - 3,825 - 3,825
Financial asseis ai fair value through profit or loss:
Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 1,024,079 - 732 1,024,811
Equity securilies and funds 102,838 - 195,384 298222
Financial asscts at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Lebanese treasury bills and bonds 3,183 - - 3.183
Foreign governmenial debt sccurities 349425 73257 - 1,122,682
Debt securities issued by banks and Nnancial institulions - 52,885 - 52,885
Equity securitics 471,259 - 540,307 1.011,566
Liabilities;
Derivaiive financial instruments:
Currency swaps - 10,772 - 10,772
Forward foreign exchange contracts - 3,639 - 3,639

There were no transfers between levels during 2024 (2023: the same).
Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique categorized within Level 2 or Level 3

Funds and Equity Shares of Non-listed Entities

Units held in funds are measured based on their net asset value (NAV), taking into account redemption and/or
other restrictions. Classification between Level 2 and Level 3 is dependent on whether the NAYV is observable or
unobservable {i.e. recent and published by the fund administrator or not).
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45 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

451 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE (econtinued)

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique categorized within Level 2 or Level 3
(continued)

Funds and Equity Shares of Non-listed Entitles (continued)

Equity shares of non-listed entities comprise mainly the Group’s strategic investments are generally classified at
fair value and are not traded in active markeis. These are investments in private companies, for which there is no
or only limited sufficient recent information Lo determine fair value. The Group determined that cost adjusted to
reflect the investee’s financial position and results since initial recognition represents the best estimate of fair
value. Classification between Level 2 and Level 3 is based on whether the financial statements of the investee are
recent and published or not, These instruments are fair valued using third-party information (NAV or financial
statements of non-listed entities), without adjustment. Accordingly, quantitative information about significant
unobservable inputs and sensitivity analysis cannot be developed by the Group in accordance with IFRS 13.93

(d).

Government bonds and other debt instruments
The Group values these unquoted debt securities using discounted cash flow valuation models using observable
market inputs, comprising of interest raies and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads.

Reconcitiation of fair value measurement of unquoted equity shares:

2024 2023

LL million LL million

Balance at 1 January 736,423 93,985
Re-measurement recognized in other comprehensive income (288,745) 491,938
Re-measurement recognized in income statement (820,126) (26,223)
Difference of exchange 970,348 176,723
597,900 736,423

452 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NOT HELD AT FAIR VALUE
Comparison of carrying and fair values for finaneial assets and liabilities not held at fair value:

Financial assels and liabilfties concenirated in Lebanon

These assets and liabilities consist of balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese Banks, Lebanese
govemment securities, loans and advances to customers and related parties, customers and related parties deposits,
and debt issued and other borrowed funds. These are illiquid in nature and the measurement of their fair value is
usually determined through discounted cash flow valuation models using observable market inputs, comprising
of interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. Due to the situation described in Note 1
and the unprecedent levels of uncerfainty swrrounding the economic crisis that Lebanon, and particularly the
banking sector, is experiencing, management is unable to produce faithful estimation of the fair value of these
financial assets and liabilities.

Financial assets and linbilities nof concenirated in Lebanon

The management assessed that the fair values of financial assets and liabilities not concentrated in Lebanon
approximate their carrying amounts largely due 1o the short-ierm maturity of these instruments.

46 RISK MANAGEMENT

46.1 INTRODUCTION

The Group is exposed to various types of risks, some of which are:
= Credit risk: the risk of default or deterioration in the ability of a borrower to repay a loan.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46,1  INTRODUCTION (continued)

- Market risk: the risk of loss in balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions arising from movements in
market prices. Movements in market prices include changes in inerest rates (including credit spreads),
exchange rates and equity prices.

- Liquidity risk: the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations when they come due in a
timely manner and at reasonable cost.

- Operational risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, pecple and
systems, or from extemnal events.

- Other risks faced by the Group include concentration risk, reputation risk, legal and litigation risk,
political risk and business/strategic risk.

Group risk management structure

The Board of Directors is primarily responsible for establishing / approving the Group’s strategic direction and
approving the nature and levels of risk the Group is willing to take. The Board has established four commitices to
assist in carrying out its responsibilities:

Risk Committee: It is primarily responsible to formulate the risk appetite statement for the Group through
establishing a comprehensive set of internal risk limits and other qualitative tisk statements that clearly define the
amount of risks the Board is willing to iake and those risks the Board wishes to avoid, and monitors compliance
with the risk appetite statement. [t provides oversight of Senior Management’s activities in managing capital
adequacy, credit, market, liquidity, interest rate and operational nisks of the Group. It also oversees the process
and outcome of the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process), IFRS 9 and Recovery Plan. [t
discusses and approves risk policies.

Anti-Money Laundering and Compliance Commitiee: 1t has been established according to BDL basic circular
number 83 dated 18/05/2001. The mission of the committee is to ensure the Group’s compliance with anli-money
laundering laws (namely Law Number 318 dated 20 April 2001 and BDL circular number 83 dated 18 May 2001)
and all amendments thereto. The committee has an oversight responsibility over the Group’s compliance program
{(set of policies, procedures, resources and systems) for detecting and preventing all forms of money laundering
as well as preventing any of the Group’s entities from being misused by individuals or organizations to circumvent
or violate local and international sanctions, laws, and regulations.

Audit Committee: monitors the Group’s accounting practices and external reporting and reviews the audit reports
covering the Group’s operations and takes appropriate actions / decisions.

Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee: ensures that the Group has coherent
remuoneration policies and practices, and thal proper succession plans for board members and senior managers are
in place. It is also responsible to make sure that corporate governance principles and the code of conduct are well
established at the Group to warrant the confidence of shareholders, investors and stakeholders.

The above Board Committees are composed of mosily independent / non-executive members satisfying ithe
applicable best practice requirements. [n addition, the Board delegates its day-to-day risk management activities
to Senior Management, through the following diverse committees that have been established:

Executive Commitiee: acls under the supervision of the Chairman to ensure execution of all strategic directives
stipulated by the Board and to propose new strategic projects and plans to the Board. Membership is assigned to
the Chairman/General Manager, the Head of Group Consumer Banking Division, the Head of Group Financial
Markets and Financial Institutions Division, the Head of Group Commercial Banking Division, the Head of Group
Risk Management Division and the Head of Foreign Banking Unit.

Central Credit Commitice (CCC): is the highest credit authority in the Group after the Board. Its mission is to
review and approve high-value amounlt credit proposals. The internal lending limit is set at 10% of capital, which
requires the joint approval of the Chairman and the CCC. Credil proposals exceeding the internal lending limit
are referred to the Board (or any delegated commitiee) for approval. The CCC delegates approval authority for
lower amounl credit proposals 1o various sub-committees.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)

Group risk management structure (continued)

Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO): whose mission is to manage the consolidaied statement of financial
position in compliance with the main objectives of the Group, in terms of growth, liquidity and interest income.
Its role encompasses the review, approval and implementation of the Group’s sirategies regarding liquidity and
interest rate, foreign exchange and trading activiiies through decisions on size and duration of mismatched
positions and on pricing.

Risk Commitiee (Management): whose task is to formulate and enforce guidelines and standards with regard o
capital adequacy and risk measurement and management. It also reviews reports and findings identified by the
Group Risk Management and issues related to the implementation of Basel 11l projects. The commiitee discusses
and approves risk policies, risk measurement tools such as rating and scoring, and risk-based processes including
stress testing, economic capital, and risk-based profitability. It oversees the preparation of risk reports and the
framework and results relating to processes (such as [CAAP, IFRS § Impairment, Recovery Planning) before
submission to the Board.

Operational Risk Commiltee’s mission is to provide oversight for the Group’s operational risk function, the
processes and the systems developed to assess, monitor and mitigate operational risks. This committee’s mission
was extended in 2022 to include the oversight of operational resilience and the business continuity management
that was previously par of the information security department.

Information Security Commitiee responsible for the oversight of the information security program including all
policies, procedures, activities and projects in relation 1o securing the Group against cyber and data risks. The IS
commitige’s membership mix between ICT, IS experts, risk management, HR, and business ensures a holistic
assessment and grasp of the IS issues faced by the bank.

Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Committee is responsible to ensure that the Group is in compliance with
anti-money laundering laws and internationally administered sanction laws; and to oversee implementation of the
Bank’s KYC and sanction policies.

Group Internal Audit Division

The Group Internal Audit Division (GlA) is responsible for providing an independent, objeclive assurance and
consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Group’s operations. [t helps the Group accomplish its
objectives by bringing a systematic disciplined and risk based approach Lo evaluate and improve the effectiveness
of risk management, control, and governance processes. Its role within the Group is to ensure that adequate
intermal conatrols are mainiained and where weaknesses are identified, they are reporied 10 Senior Management
and the Audit Committee along with recommendations for improvement. The GIA assesses all new products and
procedures and changes in systems and reports its recommendations accordingly.

The GIA also ensures that the Group is in compliance with the rules and regulations in different jurisdictions
where the Group is operating, the Central Banks and Banking Control Commission requirements, Board of
Directors and management directives and implemented policies and procedures.

Risk management

The Group’s risk management function follows the prudential rules and regulations set forth by the Basel
Commitiee in the Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision and Basel Capital Accord texis (Basel I11) to
measure and assess the risks identified under the pillars I and I1, i.e., the credit, operational, and market risks, as
well as, the interest rate risk in the banking book, the liquidity risk, and credit concentration.

Risk management framework

The risk management framework is based on a set of principles adopted by the Board through the Risk Charter.
These principles are being reviewed annually or upon need in order to be aligned with the changes related to the
internal and external environment of the Group, The set of basic principles that governs the risk management
tramework of the Group are developed based on the following:
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)

Risk management framework (continued)

Business Line Accountability: Business lings are accountable for managing the risks associated with their activities
and establish tolerances for risk taking. The accouniability exists notwithstanding the presence of any support
functions dedicaied to risk management activities.

Strategic Level Risk Management, encompasses the risk management functions performed by senior management
and the Board. It includes defining the Group’s risk appetite, formulating strategy and policies for managing risk
and establishing adequate systems and conirols 10 ensure that the Group’s aggregate risk profile is within
acceptable tolerance levels.

Analytical Level Risk Management, encompasses the risk management, within the authority delegated by the
Strategic Level to identify, measure, monitor and report the risks taken by the Group in a consistent manner across
all business lines and operational units.

Tactical Level Risk Management, encompasses risk management activities performed by individuals who take
risk on the Group’s behalf such as the front office and loan origination functions.

The Risk Charter is complemented by risk specific policies and procedures enabling the unification of the risk
culre and practice. Risk management is applied through the implementation of these risk policies / limits
approved by the Board and that are put in place by the risk management function in cooperation with the business
lines. Monitoring of individual risks is handled upon the initiation and renewal of the risk through a clear and
documented decision making process.

462 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge their
contractoal obligations, including the full and timely payment of principal and interest. Credit risk arises from
varions balance sheet and ofi-balance sheet exposures including interbank, loans and advances, credit
commitments, financial guarantees, letters of credit, acceptances, investinents in debt securities (including
sovereign) and derivative financial instruments. Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any
time, limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the statement of financial position. Credit risk
appetite and limits are set at the Group level by the Board and are cascaded 1o the entities, which in turn formulate
their own limits in line with the Group’s risk appetite. The Group manages and conitrols credit risk by setting
limits on the amount of risk it is willing 1o accept for individual counterpanties and for geographical and industry
concentralions, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

Credit risk is monitored by the credit risk department of the Group’s independent Risk Controlling Unit. It is their
responsibility to review and manage credit risk, including environmental and social risk for all types of
counterparties. Credit risk consists of line credit risk managers who are responsible for their business lines and
manage specific porifolios and experts who support both the line credit risk manager, as well as the business with
tools like credit risk systems, policies, models and reporting. The credit quality review process allows the Group
early detections of changes in assets quality, estimate the potential loss and take early corrective action.

The Group has established various credit quality review processes to provide early identification of possible
changes in the creditworthiness of counterpanties, including regular collateral revisions of credit files, including
ratings and collateral quality. Counterparty limits are established by the use of a credit risk classification system,
which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to regular revision. The credit quality review
process aims to allow the Group Lo assess the polential loss as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and ake
corrective actions.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT {(continued)
46.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Since October 2019, the economic siluation in Lebanon exerted significant pressure on the asset quality of the
domestic loan portfolic. As a result, credit quality of the Lebanese loan portfolio has declined driven by a
weakening in the borrowers’ creditworthiness across various segment types. In order to address the challenging
operating conditions, the Group has implemented a series of remedial actions that included: i) risk deleveraging
by reducing iis assets size and strengthening the collateral and guarantees of existing loans, ii) increasing
collection capacity across various business lines, iii) increasing provisions for expected credit losses on different
porifolios, and iv) sefting-up an independent, centralised and specialised remedial function to proactively manage
borrowers showing weak or deteriorating credit profiles and not yet classified as Stage 3.

46.2.1 Expected credit losses

46.2.1.1 Governance and oversight of expected credit losses

The Group’s IFRS 9 Impairment Comminee, which is 8 committee composed of Executive Commitice members,
oversees the ECL estimation framework by: i) approving the [FRS 9 impairment policy, ii) reviewing key
assumptions ang estimations that are part of the ECL calculations; iii) approving the forward-looking economic
scenarios; iv) approving staging classifications on a name-by-name basis for material exposures and v) reviewing
ECL results.

Impairment policy requiremenis are set and reviewed regularly, at a minimum annually, to maintain adherence to
accounting standards and evolving business models. Key judgements inherent in policy, including the estimated
life of revolving credit facilities and the quantiiative criteria for assessing the Significant Increase in Credit Risk
(SICR), are assessed through a combination of expert judgment and data-driven methodologies.

ECL is estimated using a model that takes into account borrowers’ exposure, internal obligor risk raling, facility
characteristic, macroeconomy, and collateral information among other. Models are, by their nature, imperfect and
incomplete representations of reality because they rely on assumptions and inputs, and so they may be subject to
errors affecting the accuracy of their outputs. To manage the model risks, the Group has established a sysiematic
approach for the development, validation, approval, implementation and on-going use of the models. Models are
statistically validated by a qualified independent paity to the model development unit, before first use and at a
minimum annually thereafter.

Each model used in the estimation of ECL, including key inputs, are govemned by a series of iniernal conirols,
which include the validation of completeness and accuracy of data, reconciliation with Finance data, and
documentaiion of the calculation steps.

ECL estimation 1akes into account a range of actual and future economic scenarios, which are set by economists
within the Group’s Research Department using independent models and expert judgment. Economic scenarios are
prepared on a frequent basis, at @ minimum semi-annually, to come up with actual Point-in-Time PD. In the
context of the dramatic crisis the country is still experiencing and the high uncertainties regarding the futre
developments, as presented in length in Note | above, the Group maintained a conservative stance in applying
forward looking macroeconomic scenarios 1o drive Point — in — Time PD during 2021-2022, and this by keeping
as constant the forecast of annual GDP decrease al 25%.

46.2.1.2 Definition of default and cure
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held),
- the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Group.
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the
borrower’s inability 10 pay its credit obligations.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over
time to reflect changes in circumstances.

As a part of & qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in defanlt, the Group carefully considers whether
the events listed above should result in classifying the exposures in Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage
2 is appropriate.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
462 CREDIT RISK (continued)
46.2.1 Expected credit losses (continued)

46.2.1.2 Definition of defunit and cure (continued)

It is the Group’s policy 1o consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3
when none of the default criteria have been present for a specific period of time and afier obtaining the approval
of the Credit Commintee, The decision whether to classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured is dependent
on the absence of SICR criteria compared to initial recognition and is examined on a case by case basis. In case
of forbearance under Stege 2, the borrower remains in this stage until all the following conditions have been met:
i) at least a 12-month probation period has passed, ii) three consecutive payments under the new repayment
schedule have been made, iii) the borrower has no past dues under any obligation to the Group, and iv) all the
terms and conditions agreed to as part of the restruciuring have been met.

46.2.1.3 The Group’s internal rating and PD estimation process

The Group's independent Credit Risk Departiment oversees its infernal rating models. The Group runs separate
models for its key portfolios in which its customers are rated in | to 7 performing bands using internal grades with
“+" and “-" modifiers. The models incorporate both qualitative and quantitative information and, in addition to
information specific to the borrower, utilise supplemental external information that could affect the borrower’s
behaviour. The Corporate rating model was reviewed in a validation and calibration consultancy that led to the
creation in early 2018 of a new rating and PD scale. The analysis was based on the Group’s historical default
history, whereby the central default tendency was adjusted with conservatism to account for a low defaull and
data portfolio. The final throngh-the-cycle (TTC) PD scale was mapped to Moody’s Corporate default scale, TTC
PDs are then adjusted for [FRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate poini-in-time (PIT) and forward-looking
inforimation, and the [FRS 9 Stage classification of the exposure. This is repeated for each economic scenario as
appropriate, on at least semi-annual basis,

Treasury, trading and interbank relationships

The Group's treasury, trading and inferbank relationships and counterparties comprise Lebanese and other
sovereign institutions, financial services institutions, banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing-houses. For
these relationships, the Group's credit risk department analyses publicly available information such as financial
information and other external data, e.g., available external ratings published by international rating agencies such
as Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s and Fitch, and assigns the external rating. With respect to cxposures 10 the
Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign. As per BDL Intermediate Circular 649 issued on 24 November
2022, provision coverages on exposures to Lebanese sovereign bonds and Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign
currency should reach 75% by December 2026 (up from 45% as per Intermediate Circular 567 dated issued on 26
August 2020} and 1.89% respectively. Regulatory ECLs on exposure to Lebanese sovereign bonds in local
currency and exposure to Central Bank of Lebanon in local currency are set to 0%.

Due to the high fevels of uncertainties, the lack of observable indicators, and the lack of visibility on the Lebanese
government’s reform plans with respect to, among other, the exposures 1o the Central Bank of Lebanon, the Groop
was unable to estimate in a reasonable manner ECL on these exposures and accordingly, as applicable, the loss
rate mentioned in BDL Intermediate Circular 649 was adopted. ECL on exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon
in foreign currency stood 1.89% at 31 December 2024 in addition to an amount of LL 6,148,957 million.

Corporate and small business lending

For corporate and investment banking loans, the borrowers are assessed by specialised credit risk employees of
the Group. The credit risk assessment is based on a credit rating model that 1akes inic account various historical,
current and forward-looking information such as:
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

46.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

46.2.1 Expected credit losses (confinued)

46.2.1.3 The Group’s internal rating and PD estimation process (continued)

Corporate and small business lending (continued)

* Historical financial information logether with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This financial
information includes realised and expected results, leverage ratios, liquidity ratios and any other relevant
ralios to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are captured in covenants
with the clients and are, therefore, measured with greater atlention.

s Account behaviour, payment holidays provided, repayment history and other non-financial information
such as management quality, company standing and industry risk.

»  Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating
grades issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly raded bond or press releases and
articles.

*  Any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.g., GDP growth relevant for the specific industry
and geographical segmenis where the client operates.

s Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management
relevant for the company’s performance.

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Group and the
complexity and size of the customer. Some of the less complex small business loans are rated within the Group’s
models for retail products.

Internal ratings are initially assigned by the credit origination functions (i.e. business lines) and are approved and
validated by the Credit Risk function, which are independent from business lines. Credit Risk functions are
responsible for ensuring that ratings assigned to obligors are accurate and updated at all times.

Consumer lending and retail mortgages

Consumer lending comprises unsecured and secured personal loans, secured auto loans, credit cards and
overdrafts. These products along with retail morigages and some of the less complex small business lending are
scored by an amomated scorecard ool primarily driven by days past due. Other key inputs into the models are:

s  Consumer lending products: use of limits and volatility thereof, GDP growth, unemployment rates,
changes in personal income/salary levels based on records of current accounis, personal indebledness
and expected interest repricing.

¢ Remail mortgages: GDP growth, unemployment rates, changes in personal income/salary levels based on
records of current accounts, personal indebtedness and expected interest repricing.

The Group also relies on account behaviour to predict the probability of default within a specific timeframe. This
is primarily based on the repayment history of consumer borrowers.

Retail and housing loan expected credit losses are calculated based on PD and LGD measurementis. PD are
estimates based on defauli rates. LGD is a mix of observed and estimated credit loss by product.

46.2.1.4 Exposure at default

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the curremt
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising
from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross cammying amount at the time of defauli. For lending
commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the coniract, which are estimaied
based on historical observations and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the
amount of the guaranteed exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
46.2.1 Expected credit losses (continued)

46.2.1.5 Loss glven defauit

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is & default. The Group estimates LGD based on the history of
recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. It is estimated using information on the counterparty,
the collateral type and coverage, recovery costs of any collateral that is integral 1o the financial asset and other
criteria. For portfolios in respect of which the Group has limited historical data, credit external opinion benchmark
against related regulators is used to supplement the intemally available data.

46.2.1.6 Significant increase in credit risk

The Group continuously monitors all its credit risk exposures. In order to determine whether an instrument or a
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12ZmECL or LTECL, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition using reasonable and supporiable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including forward-looking information.
The Group considers an exposure to have significantly increased in credit risk by comparing:

- the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with

- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial recognition of the
exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment expectations).

For determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group uses a quantitative lest
based on movement in the internal credit rating of the counterparty (which reflects the movement of the PD).

The Group also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an
asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne. In certain cases, the
Group may also consider that events explained in “Definition of default and cure” are a significant increase in
credit risk as opposed to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, if contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly since initiai recognition.

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets (as set out in “Grouping financial assets
measured on a collective basis™), the Group applies the same principles for assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

46.2.1.7 Expected life

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities the maximum period for which the credit losses
are determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Group has the legal right 1o call it earlier.
With respect lo credit cards and other revolving facilities, the Group does not limit its exposure to credit losses to
the contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Group’s expectations of
the customer behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Group’s future risk mitigation procedures, which could
include reducing or cancelling the facilities. This includes overdraft facilities falling under Stage 2 whereby we
assign a maturity of 3 years even though the coniractual maturity is one year.

46.2.1.8 Forward looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information at the level of Probability of Default.

On the PD level, the Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario
assigned with a certain probability of occurring, and two other scenarios, one upside and one downside, each
assigned a specific chance of occuiring, then, & weighted average PD is generated and used for the calculation of
the ECL.

Exiemal information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by govemmental bodies and
monetary authorities in the countries where the Group operates, organizations such as World Bank and the
International Monetary Fund, IIF and selected private-sector and academic forecasters. A team of specialists
within the Group’s Credit Risk Department verifies the accuracy of inputs to the Group’s ECL models including
determining the weights aitributable to the multiple scenarios of the PD. It is the Economic and Research
depantment of the Bank who provides and regularly updates, at least annually, the economic scenarios and GDP
forecasts.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
462 CREDIT RISK (continued)

46.2.1 Expected credit losses (continued)

46.2.1.8 Forward looking information (continued)

The Group has tdentified the real GDP growth among other, as the key driver of expected credit losses for several
countries where it operates. Using an analysis of historical data, the Group has estimated relationships between
this macro-economic variable and credit losses. The expected credit losses’ estimates have been assessed for
sensitivity o changes to forecasts of the macro-variable and also together with changes to the weights assigned to
the scenarios. With respect to countries other than Lebanon, the impact on expected credit losses is not material.
With respect to Lebanon, the environment is subject Lo rapid change due to the effects of the economic crisis, and
uncertainties disclosed in Note 1. Fulure impairment charges may be subject to further volatility {including from
changes to macroeconomic variable forecasts (depending on the longevity of the crisis). Forecasts and scenarios
are based on the best available information at the reporting date, combined with expert judgment.

46.2.2 Overview of modified and forborne loans

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions,
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An
existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotialed loan recognised as a
new loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in the Material accounting policies above.

When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognised and allocated to Stage 1 (assuming it is not
credit-impaired at that time) unless loan classification or internal rating necessitates a different staging.

The Group renegotiates loans o customers in financial difficulties (referred 1o as ‘forbearance activilies’) to
maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group’s forbearance policy, loan
forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk
of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts io pay under the original contractual terms
and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms usually include extending the
maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and
corporate loans are subject to the forbearance policy.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of
forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired. A customer needs to demonstrate
consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be
credit-impaired/in default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being
imeasured at an amount equal to Stage 1.

From a risk management point of view, once an asset is forborne or modified, the Group’s special depariment for
distressed assets continues 10 monitor the exposure until it is compleiely and uitimately derecognised.

The table below includes Stage 2 and 3 assets that were modified and, therefore, treated as forbome during the
year, with the refated modification loss suffered by the Group.

2024 2023
LL miflion LL million
Amortised costs of financial assets modified during the year 20,622 4,799
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
46.2.3 Financial assets and ECLs by stage {continued)

The following table represents a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of impairment allowances of
loans and advances to customers at amortized cost:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL mitlion  LL mitlion LL million  LL milllon

Balance at | January 2024 929,564 559,605 3,191,865 4,681,034
Remeasurements for the year (Note 11) 521,072 23,189 3,026,693 3,570,954
Other movements - - 2,656,251 2,656,251
Transfers (135,296) 135,296 - -
Recoveries (Note 11) (3,049,045) (2,085,201)  (752,925) (6,487.171)
Write-offs - - (369,927 (369,927)
Foreign exchange difference 3,583,619 3,184,274 17,555,344 24,323,237
Balance at 31 December 2024 1,849,914 1,217,163 25,307,301 28,374,378
Stage { Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL million  LL million  LL miflion LL million

Balance at 1 January 2023 133,098 63,241 372,347 568,686
Remeasurements for the year (Note 11) 125,859 6,340 334,377 466,576
Other movements - - (177.878) (177.878)
Recoveries (Note 11) (120,570) - (81,205) (201,77%)
Foreign exchange difference 791,177 490,024 2,744,224 4,025,425
Balance at 31 December 2023 929,564 559,605 3,191,865 4,681,034

Net re-measurements and reallocations include re-measurements as a result of changes in the size of portfolios,
reclassifications between stages and risk parameter changes.

The following table represents a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of impairment allowances of
balances with central banks:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL mitlion LL million LL million LL mitlion

Balance at | Januvary 2024 3,152,739 - - 3,152,739
Charge for the year (Note 11) 6,712,574 - - 6,712,574
Foreign exchange difference 11,949,361 - - 11,949.361
Balance at 31 December 2024 21,814,674 - - 21,814,674
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

46.2.3 Financial assets and ECLs by stage (confinued)

Stage ! Stage 2 Stage 3 Toral

LL mitlion  LL million  LL million LL miifion

Balance at 1 Jannary 2023 286,809 - - 286,809
Charge for the year (Note 11) 701,820 - - 701,820
Recoveries (Note 11) (125) - - (126)
Foreign exchange difference 2,164,236 - - 2,164,236
Balance at 31 December 2023 3,152,739 - - 3,152,739

The following table represents a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of impairment allowances of
financial assets al amortized cost:

Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3 Totat
LL mithon  LL miltion LL millton  LL million

Bazlance at | January 2024 252 355 - 1,158,409 1,410,764
Recoveries (Note 11) (1,471,172) - (297417 (1,768,589
Write-off - - (3,065,856) (3,065,856)
Foreign exchange difference 1,505,719 - 5,473,088 6,978,807
Balance at 31 December 2024 186,902 - 3,268,224 3,555,126
Srage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL million LL million  LL million LL million

Balance at 1 Janvary 2023 25,362 - 79,290 104,652
Charge for the year (Note 11) - 228,053 228,053

Foreign exchange difference 226,993 851,066 1,078,059

Balance at 31 December 2023 252,355 - 1,158,409 1,410,764
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSQOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

46.2.5 Analysis of maximum exposure to credit risk and collateral and other credit enhancements
(continued)

The amount and iype of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

Management monitors the markel value of collaleral on a regular basis and requests additional collateral in
accordance with the underlying agreement when deemed necessary.

The main types of collaleral obtained are as follows:
o Securities: the balances shown represent the fair value of the securities.

o Letters of credit/guarantees: the Group holds in some cases guarantees, letiers of credit and similar
insgruments from banks and financial institutions, which enable it to ¢laim setilement in the event of
default on the part of the counterparty. The balances shown represeni the notional amount of these types
of guaraniees held by the Group.

o Real estate (commercial and residential): the Group holds, in some cases, a first-degree mortgage over
residential property (for housing loans) and commercial property (for commercial loans). The value
shown reflects the fair value of the property limited to the related morigaged amount.

In addition to the above, the Group also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans 1o their subsidiaries,
personal guarantees for loans to companies owned by individuals, second degree morigages, and assignments of
insurance or bills proceeds and revenues, which are not reflected in the above table.

46.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are setiled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of
the possibility that the Group might be unable fo meet its payment obligations when they fall due under both
normal and stress circumstances.

The Ceniral Bank of Lebanon introduced several various requirements aiming at restoring the normal banking
operations in Lebanon to their pre-October 2019 levels. Among these measures, Lebanese banks were requested
to constitute, at its correspondent banks abroad, a foreign account free from any obligations that will be at no time
below 3% of its total foreign-currency deposits as on 31 July 2024. Banks whose sifuation is incompatible with
the provisions of the paragraph above are granted a time-limit ending on 31 December 2025 fo adjust their situation
accordingly. Additionally, Lebanese banks were required to maintain inlernational liquidity in the form of
banknotes and current account balances with foreign comespondent banks (free of any obligation) in excess of
100% of the external account deposits and other intemational commiiments (including issued letier of credits and
letter of guarantees in international dollar).

The following outlines the monitoring process that takes place at the entity level, with some elaborale reference
to Lebanon given the ongoing crisis.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

Maonitoring process

Daily

On a daily basis, the Finance Division at Byblos Bank SAL communicates by email to the ALCO members a
liquidity and investment position report {D-1) including by currency the balances of liquid assets (cash in vaults,
current and money market accounts and placemenis) held with local 2nd international banks, the Central Bank of
Lebanon, and the Group related banks, with stating interest rate applied, transaction date and maturity date. Also,
Group Treasury monitors daily the inflows and outflows in the main currencies used by the Group.

Weekly
A weekly report of expected outflows for the cuient and next quarter as well as of highly liquid assets held during
the reported periods. This report is submitted to the Central Bank of Lebanon.

Monthly
On a monthly basis, Risk Management communicates to the ALCO members a market risk and liquidity dashboard
indicating, among other issues, compliznce with intemal and regulatory liquidity ratios, for all Byblos Bank SAL
and each banking unit of the Group.

Quarterly

The Board of Directors is informed of compliance with internal and regulatory liquidity ratios for each banking
unit and for the Group on at least a quarterly basis. Moreover, the Executive Committee maintains an open
communication with the Board Risk Commitiee to coordinate course of actions under the highly distressed market
and uncertain situation in the country.

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financizal assets and liabilities at 31 December
2024 and 2023 based on confractual undiscounted repayment obligations. The contractual maturities were
determined based on the period remaining to each maturity as per the consolidated statement of financial position
actual commitments. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were 1o be given immediately.

2024
Up to fted 3 months fta§ Over
I month months fo I year Yeary 5 years Total
LL milflon LL miltion LL million LL miitian LL miftian Li, mitifon
Flnanclal assets
Cash and balanges with ¢entral banks 622,817,162 10,082,238 21,433,767 177,032,670 - 831,465,837
Due from banks and financial institstions 53,060,786 2,690,103 1,638,572 - 93,589 57,483,050
Loans ta banks and Hinancial institutions 2,643,504 7,077 486 6,677,387 2,305,888 . 18,704,265
and reverse repurchase agreements
Dernvanve Dnancial instruments 26,086 - - - - 26,086
Financial assets at fair value through 3,746,292 353 1,418,968 3,825,029 5,155,668 14,146,310
profit or loss
Net loans and advances ta customers ai 13,591,673 5,553,450 8,427,180 8,921,424 15,320,609 51,814,336
amorised cosi
Nel loans and advances to related pariies 09,904 3 149 ¥ 23,908 124,072
a1 amortised cost
Debtors by acceplances 515,865 1,214,055 412,762 - - 2,152,682
Financial assets ai amonised cost §71,134 1,121,855 3,593,797 2,098,053 191,391 7,876,230
Financial assets a fau valug through
other comprehensive income 13,229 905,840 3,009,846 3,609,480 2,752,320 10,290,715
Total financial assets 697,385,635 28645383 46,622,528 197,892,552  23,537.485 994,083,583
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46
46.3

Financial assets

Cash and balances with ceniral banks

Due from banks and financial insiitutions

Loans to banks and hnancial mshitutions
and reverse repurchase agreements

Dernvative financial insiruments

Financiai assels at fair value through profit or

loss

Net loans and advances 1o customers at
amoriised cost

Met loans and advances 1o related pariies at
amoriised cosL

Debtars by acceptances

Financial assels at amorbised cos!

Financial assels al (air value through oiher
comprehensive wcoime

Tolal Minancial assels

Financial llablllties

Due 1o ceniral banks

Due 15 banks and lnancal insuulions
Denvative financial instruments
Customers’ deposits al amoritsed cost
Deposits lrom related parties at acnocused
cost

Engapements by acceplances
Subordinaled debt

Total financial Uabilities

Fnaticial liabuities

Due 1 central banks

Dug 1o banks and finaneal instiwnions
Dertvalve Nnancia) instruments

Cusomers’ deposils al amorused cost
Deposis (rom related patiies at amonised cost
Engagemens by acceptances

Subordinated debt

Total Mnancial habuliies

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

2023

tpto tiwo3 3 months tws Over
f month months {0 ! year vears 5 years Totaf
Li million LL million L miftion LI miliion LL mltion LL miffion
76,324 422 1,666,959 26,960,226 32,175,001 8,593,543 145 720,151
8,367,744 753,684 499,584 1,991 (8,056) 3614947
1,012,752 808 582 1,624,311 150,853 (809 3,595,689
5,452 - - - - 5452
136,825 63454 £8.559 403,743 630 452 1,323,033
3,440,198 1,033,180 1,265,152 1,326 6687 1,804,081 8869278
5,620 62 3,198 3,060 13,208 25148
31,780 170,907 4,640 1,686 (294) 208,728
355,041 130,918 380,801 1,195 487 - 2,112.247
224417 143,823 73976 636,745 L1711 355 2,190,316
89,904 251 4,821,569 30,900,456 35895233 12143480 173,664.989

2024

Upto fto3 I months o5 Over
1 month months fo 1 year years 5 years Tatal
LL ndiffon LL milfion LL miflfon LL miition LL miflion LL milfign
599,593 178,357 166,225 359,051 70,003 1,373,319
13,546,721 5,403,489 2,453,807 4,948,681 11,055,154 37447852
16,898 - - - - 16,898
769,294,574 20,958,745 42,993,494 10,554,491 76,022 843,877,326
6,498,519 4,338 -231,644 932,053 - 7,203,266
515,865 1,214,055 422,762 - - 2,152,682
6,957,386 29,640 88,920 474,243 [,231,537 8,781,726
797,429,556 27,788,624 45,933,564 17,268,519 12,432,806 900,853.069

2023

Upte fw3 3 momths Fiuws Over
| month months to | year vears 3 wears Tofal
LE milfion LE milfion LL snthen LL mdfion LL miftron LL milfion
15,335 21,493 82,331 484 59| 76,505 680,255
3,417,000 372,365 532,416 693,581 2,293 768 7.309.131
14,411 - - - - 14411
134,714,877 4,230,223 9,554,783 1,989 404 17,671 150,506,358
772,135 22,816 17,616 168,705 - 981,272
31 780 170,508 4,649 1,685 - 209,022
1,208 788 - - 305,700 1,514,544
140,174,327  4817,861 10,190,795 3337966 2693044 161,214,993

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments.
Each undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest date on which it can be drawn
down. For issued financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest
period in which the guarantee could be called.

Financial gearaniees
Documentary credus
Commitments to lend

2024

Less than | fiwld Jte 12 ifo5 Mare than
month months months years 5 years Total
LL mitiion  LL miltion LL miifion LL miifion LL mitlion LL mitlion
201,416 51,856 1,256,106 1,722,734 - 3,232,112
1,086,80f 2,601,248 1313216 - 58,863 5,060,128
5,933,173 . - - - 5,933,173
T7.2213%0 2,653,104 2,569,322 1,722,734 58,863 14225413
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

46.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

2023
Less than 1 o3 3w i? ftos Maore than
month months HignLhs VEOES 3 years Totol
Ll mithon  LL milthon LL milfion LL mudfion LL pullion LL midtion
Financial guarantees - - 69,060 434,797 - 503 857
Documeriacy credits 117,318 - 262,538 26,686 - 406,542
Coomitments 1o lend 716,573 - - - - TI6,573

833,89 - 33) 508 461 AR3 . 1,626,972

46.4 MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as the potential loss in both on balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions resulting from
movements in market variables such as inlerest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

The markert risk governance has been defined in the Security Investment Policy, which defines the roles and
responsibilities of the key stakeholders of market risk management, including the Board, the ALCO comimittee,
the business lines and risk functions.

It is the responsibility of the ALCO to manage the Group’s investment portfolic under the terms of the Security
Invesiment Policy. While striving 1o maximize portfolio performance, the ALCO shall keep the management of
the portfolio within the bounds of good banking practices, satisfy the Group's liquidity needs, and ensure
compliance with both regulatory and internally set limits and requirements.

The Group Risk Management division sets the framework necessary for identification, measurement and
management of market risk,

Interest rate risk

Inferest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the fair values of the financial
instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate re-pricing of assets
and liabilities that mature or are re-priced in a given period. The Group manages the risk by matching the re-
pricing of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies. Positions are monitored on a daily basis by
management.

Interest rate sensitivity
The following table shows the sensitivity to a reasonably possible 100 basis points parallel changes in interest
rales, with alt other variables held consiant, of the Group’s income statement.

The impact of interest rate changes on net inferest income is due to assumed changes in interest paid and received
on floating rate financial assets and liabilities and to the reinvestment or refunding of fixed rated financial assets
and liabilities at the assumed rates. Given the novel and prolonged nature of current economic crisis and the high
levels of uncertainties, the Group expects lower interest rates during 2024. However, the Group is unable to
determine what would be a reasonably possible change in interest rates. The Central Bank of Lebanon has already
decreased inlerest rates used by the Lebanese banking sector through ils various intermediate circulars.

The change in interest income is calculated over a L-year period. The impact also incorporates the fact that some
monetary items do not immedialely respond to changes in interest rates and are not passed through in full,
reflecting sticky interest rate behaviour. The pass-through rate and lag in response time are estimated based on
historical statistical analysis and are reflected in the outcome.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

46.4 MARKET RISK (continued)

[nterest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity (continued)

The effect of any future associated hedges made by the Group is not accounted for.

Currency

LL
UJS Dollars
Euro

2024

Decrense
in basis points

100 basis poini
100 basis point
100 basis poini

Effect on net
interest income
LL miltion

12,992
1,865,388
88,073

2023

Effect on net

inferest income

LL million

26
512,430
2,848

The Group’s interest sensitivity position based on the contraciual re-pricing date at 31 December is shown in the
table below. The expecled repricing and maturity dates may differ significantly from the contractual dates,
particularly with regard to the maturity of cusiomer demand deposits.

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks

Diee from baoks and Onancial insiitubions

Lozns 1o banks and financial institutions
and roverse cepurchase agreements

Denvalive inancial insouwmems

Fmancial assets af Fair value through profi
or loss

et loans and advances (o customers ail
amorhised cost

Net loans and advaoces to velated parties 2
amorlised cosl

Drebtors by acceplances

Financial aszets at amorised cost

Finangal gssels al fair value through other
comprehensive Income

Total

LIABILITIES

Due 1o ceniral banks

Duc 10 hanks and Mmaocal institulions

Denvative Baaneid insiruments

Customers” deposiis 21 amortised ¢ost

Deposils from related parues aw amorlised
cost

Engag by atcep
Suboerdmaled Jebt

Total

Total interest sensitivity gap

2024

Uptol Hiel 3 months Tins Over  Non inferest
monti manaths to 1 year years 5 years bearing ltems Fotal
LI mitlion LL million LL mitfion LI miflion LL millign LL miffign LL milfion
135,207,898 4,979,250 18,052,149 V77,132,670 - 491,093,870 831,465,837
6,624,678 2660470 1,637,740 - 631 46,559,525 7,483,050
2,607,205 7,139,587  6,7:1521  2,298.253 5029 (68,330) 18,704,268
. . - - - 26,086 26,086
. . - - 14,146,210 14,146,310
19,428,588 3,031,650 587,883 6,424,958 7,568,684 9,478,653 51,814,336
100,402 - 134 - - 23436 124,072
; . - - - 2,151,682 2,152,682
956,412 1,639,738 3,968,336 997,008 314,736 7,876,230
1970 905,839 2185448 3,151,408 506,051 1,933,002 10,299,715
164,933,153 25,356,534 39,037,308 190,015,297 5,081,321 566,659,970 994,083,583
639,864 164,638 176,529 328,20 55,063 9,004 1,373,319
10,084,937 3,637,920 1,317,362 4,939,772 13,249,917 4,217,944 37,447,852
- . - . - 16,898 16,898
348,348,870 15,796,561 35,040,557 10,789,400 64,202 433,837,646 843,877,316
2,485,255 - - 4,Ti8,011 7,203,266
- - - - 2,152,682 2,152,682
- - - 1,524,010 6,957,716 8,781,726
361,558,026 19,399,119 36,504,448 16,057,393 15,193,282 451,909,901 900,853,069
(196,625,773) 5757415 2,502,860 173,957.004 (7.111,961) 114,750,069 93,230,514
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

46.4 MARKET RISK (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

ASSETS

Cash and balances with ceniral banks

Due from banks and financial insbtunons

Loans to banks and fimancial institations
and reverse repurchase agreemenls

Denvatrve Dnancual snslrumenis

Financial asseis at fair value ibrough profil
or loss

Net loans and advances to customers at
amoriiscd cost

Nel Joans and advances o relaled panics at
amoriised cost

Debtors by acceptances

Fimancial assels 3l amonised cost

Foancial asseis al fair vatu throngh other
comprehensive INCome

Total

LIABILITIES

Due to central banks

Due Lo banks and financial institutions

Denvative Dinancial insteuments

Cusiomers’ deposus 3t amorlised cosi

Deposiis from relaled paries 2t amonised
cosl

Engap ts by acgep €.

Subordinated debt

Tolal

Total interest sensitivity gap

Currency risk

2023

Upio } fwli ¥ monthy fiol Ower  Mon inferest
monh months o year years Syears  bearing vemy Total
L niflion LL mithon L1 mithon Lianthon L5 million L1 mitlion LL mdtion
23,508,703 1,500,000 26672250 32175000 7,567,950 54,296,248 145,720,151
2,389,408 750,925 494,197 1,686 - 5978731 9612947
1,011 016 815,523 1,647,243 150,843 (28,936 3,595,689
i . - . 5452 5,452
1,323,033 1,323,033
3,865,311 1,000,002 1,346,911 988271 9m 215 767,568 8,869,278
5,621 60 3,197 3,059 6227 6,984 25,148
- . . . . 208,728 208,728
97 956 170,461 316,086 1526353 171215 (175,829) 2,112,247
221,661 143,823 73,549 636,745 99,789 1,014,719 2,190,316
31099676 4380795 30553433 35481957 8752396 63396732 173,664,989
13,936 10,795 69,704 483,752 75,510 6,558 680,255
2,152 667 169,784 136,892 507902 2409983 1,541,903 7,309,131
. - ; . - 1AL 14,411
60,522,081 4201913 7891882 2663713 17,065 75200704 150,506,358
199,317 2297 . - - 758,979 931,272
. . - - . 209,022 209,022
- - 305,700 1,208,844 1,514,544
62,908,001 4605468  BO9BATE 3845367 2808258 78949421 161,214,993
(224673) 22454955 31636590 5,044,138 (15,352,689) 12,445,996

(31,808,325)

Foreign exchange (or currency) risk is the risk that the value of a portfolio will fall as a result of changes in foreign
exchange rates. The major sources of this type of market risk are imperfect correlations in the movements of
currency prices and fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rate volatility in general. The Group is subject 10
currency tisk on financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the Lebanese Lira.
Most of these financial assets and liabilities are in US Dollars, Euros. The Group has also exposure to foreign
cwrency risk through its subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than the Lebanese Lira.

As disclosed in Note 1.3, the Group’s assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the official published
exchange rate which does not always represent a reasonable estimate of cash flows in Lebanese Pounds that would
have to be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such liabilities.
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
464 MARKET RISK (continued)

Currency risk (confinued)

The following tables present the breakdown of assets and liabilities of the Group by currency:

2024
Foreign
currencles tn Total
LL milfion LL mylifon Li miifign
ASSETS
Cash and balancgs with central banks 1,044,696 830,421,141 831,465,837
Due from banks and finsncral msttuiiens 108,920 57,374,130 57,483,050
Loans to banks and fingncial ingitutions and reverse repurchase agreements - 18,704,265 18,704,265
Dervalive financial instruments 8,150 17,936 26,086
Financial assets at (air value through profit or loss 667 14,145,643 14,146 310
Net loans and advances to cusiomers at amortised cost 207,304 51,607,032 51,814,336
Net loans and advances (0 related parties at amoriised cost 239 123,833 124,072
Debtors by acceplances - 2,152,682 2,152,682
Financial assets al amortised cost 1,404,057 6472173 7,876,130
Finangial assels at fair value through other comprehensive income 44,631 10,246,034 10,290,715
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 10,497,542 3,461,597 13,959,139
[ntangible assets 33,000 616,648 649,718
Assets obtained in settlement of debt 2,048 87,066 9,114
Other assets 54,933 2,466,670 2,521,603
TOTAL ASSETS 13,406,307 997,596,850 1,011,303,157
LIABILITIES
Dug to central banks 1,180,627 192,692 1,373,319
Dug to banks and financial institutions 6,804 37,441,048 37,447,852
Derivatrve financial instruments - 16,898 16,898
Customers’ deposits at amartised cost 3,729,486 840,147,840 843,877,326
Deposits from related partics at amortised cost 8,126 7,195,140 7,203,266
Engapement by acceptances - 2,152,682 2,152,682
Other lizbilities 3,149,362 11,798,795 14,948,157
Provisions for risks and charges 12,990,922 14,151,300 27,142,222
Subordinated debt - 8,781,726 8,781,726
TOTAL LIABILITIES 21,065,327 921,878,121 942,943,448
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.4 MARKET RISK (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

ASSETS

Cash and balances with centrat banks

Due fram banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial instituhans and reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Met loans and advances 10 cuslomers al amortised cost

Net loans and advances to related parties at amonised cost
Debtars by acceptances

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive inceme
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets

Intangibie asscts

Assets oblained in settlement ol debt

Qther assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due 1o central banks

Dye to banks and financial nstitutions
Dervalive [inancial instruments

Custoiniers’ deposils at amorised cost
Deposns from relgled parties at amoriised cost
Engagement by acceplances

Other liabilites

Provisions (or risks and charges

Subordinated dett

TOTAL LIABILITIES

2023

Forefgrn
currencies in Total
Li mifiton LE miflion LL mithlon
571,864 145,143 287 145,720,151
6,045 9 608,902 9,614,947
- 3,595,689 3,595,689
1,626 3,826 5452
732 1,32230 1,323,033
373926 8.496352 R.869.278
1312 23836 25,148
(283) 209,011 208,728
1,528 365 583,882 2,112.247
44,681 2,145,635 2,190,316
10,800,045 599,294 11,399,339
12,083 84,425 96,508
2,049 61,617 63 666
539,660 415,544 955204
13,881,103 172,298 601 186,179,706
634,130 46025 630,255
6,660 7.302,471 7.309,131
10,766 1645 14401
3,786,479 146,719,879 150,506,358
9392 971,880 981,272
- 209022 209022
957,728 2,462,934 3.420.712
5,574,109 1,709,981 7,284,090
- 1,514,544 1,514,544
10,979,364 160,940,431 171,919,795
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
46.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The Group's Exposure to Currency Risk

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies presented in the tables above include onshore assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies, that are subject to de facto capital controls, which is further explained in Note 1. Thesc arc
held by entities operating in Lebanon and Management expects that they will be realized / settled without recourse
to foreign currency cash and / or foreign bank accounts outside Lebanon (“fresh funds™). Hence these cannot be
perceived to have an economic value equivalent to that of offshore foreign currency assets and liabilities and
should be viewed and managed separately. The tables below detail onshore assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies:

2024 2023
LL million LL milfion
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 807,551,920 139,697,156
Due from banks and financial institutions 2,663,252 519,043
Financial asscts at fair value through profit or loss 426,644 264,263
Net loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 13,635,317 2,490,795
Nei loans and advances to related parties at amontised cost 43,369 10,834
Financial ass¢ts at amortised cost 2,287,985 119,099
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive incoms 41,650 3271
Assets obtained in settlement of debt 56,120 56,121
Qther assets 1,657,981 279,485
TOTAL ASSETS 828,364,238 143,440,067
LIABILITIES
Due to central banks 146,663 41256
Due 1o banks and financial institutions 143,148 24,455
Customers’ deposils at amortised cosl 767,207,692 134,549417
Deposits from related pariies at amortised cost 3,401,077 735,785
Engagement by acceplances 43,268 5,059
Other liabilities 9,380,475 412,892
Provisions for risks and charges 13,350,705 1,645,383
Subordinated debt 8,781,726 1,514,544
TOTAL LIABILITIES 802,654,754 138,928,791
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46 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of a portfolio will fall as a result of 2 change in stock prices. Risk facfors
underlying this typc of market risk are a whole range of various equity (and index) prices corresponding to
different markets (and currencies/maturiiies) in which the Group holds equity-related positions.

The Group sets tight limits on equity exposures and the types of equity instruments that traders are allowed 1o take
positions in. Nevertheless, depending on the complexity of financial instruments, equity risk is measured in first
cash terms, such as the marked value of a stock/index position, and also in price sensitivities, such as sensitivity
of the value of a porifolio to changes in the underlying asset price. These measures are applied to an individual
position and/or 1o a portfolio of equilies.

Equity price risk exposure arises from equity securities classified at fair value through profit or loss and at fair
value through other comprehensive income. A 5 per cent increase in the value of the Group's equities at 31
December 2024 would have increased other comprehensive income by LL 134,022 million and net income by LL
43,115 million {2023: LL 23,563 million ang LL 14,911 million respectively). An equivalent decrease would bave
resulted in an equivalent but opposite impact.

Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay
or request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rale morigages when interesi rales fall.

In Lebanon and following the severe devaluation of the local currency in the paraltel market and prevalence of
multiple exchange rates, prepayment activities on the lending portfolio have accelerated during the past three
years. However in view of the guasi-absence of any local interest rate benchmarks due to the crisis and given that
the Bank in Lebanon prioritising the implementation of a de-risking strategy (with the aim of alleviating pressure
on credit asset quality), the Group considers the impact of prepayment risk resulting from these wansactions to be
benign.

Outside Lebanon, market risks that lead to prepayments are not material with respect 1o the countries where the
Group operates. Accordingly, the Group considers the impact of prepayment risk on net profits to be not material
after considering any penalty fees received on prepayment activities, when existing.

46.5  Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss or damage arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems,
or from external events (including legal risks}). When conirols fail wo perform, operational risks can cause damage
10 reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial losses.

To keep operational risk under control, the Group has developed an Operational Risk Management framework
with the objective of ensuring that operational risks remain within the Group’s desired risk appetite boundaries
and internel controls siandards. The framework is a set of core operational risk policies designed to ensure that
operational risk has proper governance, and that it is maintained at an acceptable level with a controlled and sound
operating environment. The operational risk publications and guidelines were placed on the Group’s intranet site
for quick access and refervals. The critical operational risk issues were handled by a separate Operational Risk
Committee which meetings are attended by business lines Senior Managers including the Chief Risk Officer and
the General Manager.

The framework for managing and controlling operational risks encompasses various tools including Risk and
Conitrol Assessment (RCA), operational risk event reporting and loss database management and key risk indicatozs
(KRIs). The RCA is performed by each business and support unit to identify key operational risks and assess the
degree of effectiveness of iniernal controls. Tnadequate controls are subject to action plans that will help track and
timely resolve deficiencies. This tool is subject to a proactive approach to minimize operafional risk loss. This is
reflected in the operational risk assessment of new producis/activities/systems, protective information security and
Business Continuity Planning, granular risk analysis for its operating/existing activities, and continuous awareness
sessions.
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46.5 Operational Risk (continued)

Operational risk events are classified in accordance with Basel standards and include significant incidents that may
impact the Group's profits and reputations for further mitigation and avoidance. As to key risk indicators, they are
being established to facilitate the operational risk monitoring in a forward looking manner with pre-defined
escalation triggers. The Group gives particular atfention to preventive measures when il comes to operational risk
management and has established continuing training and awareness programs to fulfill them.

The Group’s operational risk mitigation program involves both business continuity management and insurance
managemeni program, whereby the former is set to oversee the business continuity of essential business service
during unforeseen events mainly business disruption and system failures events - with enterprise wide impact -
along with natural disasters and terrorism/ vandalism evenis. As o the latter the Group purchases group wide
insurance policies o mitigate significant losses. These policies cover fraud, property damage and general liability,
political violence, and Director’s and officers’ liability.

47 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The 1able below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according 10 when they are expected 10 be
recovered or sefilled. The maturity profile of the Group's asseis and liabilities at 31 December is as follows:

2024
Less than More than
ofe year one year Total
LL rdition LL mitlion LL miftion
ASSETS
Cash and balances with cenral banks 654,333,167 177,132,670 831,465,837
Due from banks and financial institutions 57,389 461 93,589 57,483,050
Loans to banks and financial instilutions and teverse repurchase agreements 16,398 377 2,305,888 18,704,265
Denvative financial mstruments 26,086 - 26,086
Financial assets at faic valug through profit or loss 5,165,613 8,980,697 14,146,310
Nel loans and advances to cuslomers al amodised cost 27,572,303 24.242,033 51,814,336
Net loans and advances to related parties al amortised cost 100,155 23,917 124,072
Deblors by acceplances 2,152,682 - 2,152,682
Financial assets at smorused cost 5,586,786 2,289,444 7,876,230
Financial asseis af fair value through other comprehenswve income 3,928918 6,361,800 10,290,715
Property, cquipment and righi-ol-use assets - 13,959,139 13,959,139
Intangible asseis - 649,718 649,718
Assets obuained in setilement of debt - 89,114 89,114
Other assels 2,519,341 2,262 2,521,603
TOTAL ASSETS 775,172,886 236,130,271 1,011,303,157
LIABILITIES
Diue to ceniral banks 944,175 429,144 1,373,319
Diee o banks and financial sinuons 21,444,017 16,003,835 37,447 852
Dervative Dnancial insirumsants 16,458 - 16,898
Customers’ deposits al amortised cost 833,246,813 10,630,513 B43.877.326
Deposits [vom related parues al amortised cost 6,271,213 932,053 7,203,266
Engagements by acceptances 2,152,682 - 2,152,682
Other liabilities 14,889,058 59,099 14,948,157
Pravisians for nsks and charges - 27,142,222 27,142,222
Subordinated debt 7,075,946 1,705,780 8,781,726
TOTAL LIABILITIES 886,040,802 56,002,646 942,943,448

NET (i110,867,916) 175,227,625 68,359,709
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2023
Less than More than
one year one year Total
Li malfion LI milfion LL mullion
ASSETS
Cash and balancges with centeal banks 106,678,869 39,041,282 145,720,151
Due from banks and financial institutions 9,621,012 {6,063) 9,614,947
Loans to banks znd financial Institutions and reverse repurchase agreements 3,445,644 150,045 3,595,689
Derivative financial instruments 5,452 - 5452
Financial assets at fair value through profi or loss 288,839 1,034,194 1,323,033
Net loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 5,735,088 3,134,190 8,869,278
Net loans and advances 1o refated parties at amortised cost 8.878 16,270 25,148
Debtors by acceptances 207,336 1,392 208,728
Financial assets at amortised cost 917,301 1,194 946 2,112,247
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 442 216 1,748,100 2190316
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets - 11,395 339 11,399,335
[ntangiblc assels - 56,508 96,508
Asscts obtained in setilement of debt - 63,666 63,666
Other assets 952,940 2,264 955,204
TOTAL ASSETS 128,303,575 57,876,131 186,179,706
LIABILITIES
Due to central banks 119,159 561,096 680,255
Due to banks and financial instilutions 4.205,567 3,103,564 7,300131
Derivative financial instruments 14,411 - 14,411
Customers’ deposits at amortised cost 148,429,538 2,076,820 150,506,358
Deposits from related parties at amortised cost 812,567 168,705 981,272
Engagements by acceplances 207336 1,686 209,022
Other Liabilities 3,420,712 - 3420712
Provisions for risks and charges - 7,284,090 7,284,000
Subordinated debt 1,208,844 305,700 1,514,544
TOTAL LIABILITIES 158,418,134 13,501,661 171,919,795
MNET (30,114,559) 44 374 470 14,25991)

48 LITIGATION RISK

At year-end, the Group had several unresolved legal claims in Lebanon and abroad, mainly those relating to the
restrictive measures in place with respect to the withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad and a civil action filed
in US federal courts in the US District Court in the Eastern District of New York (EDNY) against eleven Lebanese
banks including Byblos Bank SAL, asserting primary and secondary liability claims under the “Justice Against
Sponsors of Terrorism Act (JASTA)” and the “Anti-Terrorism Act (ATA) which allow U.S. citizens to seek
compensation from individuals or entities that provide material support to terrorist organizations even if the
alleged acts occurred outside the United States. The lawsuit is currently in the discovery phase after courts denied
the banks’ motions to dismiss.

Since 17 QOctober 2019, the Group has been subject to an increased litigations in Lebanon and abroad, as a result
of the restrictive measures adopted by Lebanese banks in relation to the withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad,
as well as in relation to the repayment by customers of local foreign currency loans in Lebanese Liras.
Management is carefully considering the impact of these existing litigation and claims against the Group in
relation to these restrictive measures. There are still uncertainties related to the consequences of these restrictive
measures, based on the current available information and the prevailing laws and local banking practices.
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48 LITIGATION RISK (continued)

Due to recent development and the increasing trend in judgments ruled in favour of the plaintiffs and customers
in Lebanon and abroad, management considers thar they may affect negatively the liquidity of the Group (refer to
Note 46). The amount cannot be determined presently. Af the balance sheet date, shares and account balances
owned by the Bank in one of its foreign subsidiary in Belgium were placed under seizure, by court orders in
relation to litigations raised by customers and noteholders for the transfer of funds abroad. Moreover, buildings
owned by the Group are subject to seizure and restriction on disposal by court orders in relation to litigations
raised by customers. The Group may, from time to time, become involved in other legal or arbitration proceedings
which may affect ils operations and results.

Complainis have also been filed in Lebanon by groups of individuals against “Lebanese banks” and the chairmen
of their board of directors for alleged committed crimes of tort and frandulent bankruptcy, money laundering,
fraud and breach of trust, which resulted in different legal decisions and actions on several banks.

On 4 May 2023, a decision was rendered by the Disciplinary Councit of Judges in Lebanon to suspend and dismiss
the Public Prosecutor of Appeal in Mount Lebanon, noting that the decision is subject to the Supreme Disciplinary
Authority.

During 2024, in relation to other complainis raised by depositors against the Bank, the Public Prosecuior of Mount
Lebanon initiated an investigation that is still ongoing. As of the date of the authorization of these consotidated
financial statements, the Bank was the target of restraining orders preventing it from disposing of its real estate
properties (Notes 24 and 26). The Group has sought legal expertise on the matter: common consensus converges
toward the fact that the claims are baseless and with no legal grounds.

In addition, the Group may, from time 1o time, become involved in other legal or arbitration proceedings which
may affect its operations and resulls. Litigation risk arises from pending or potential legal claims againsi the Bank
(Note 43).

49 POLITICAL RISK

External factors which are beyond the control of the Group, such as political developments and govermiment
actions in Lebanen (Note 1) and other couniries, may adversely affect the operations of the Group, its strategy
and prospects. Other important political risk factors include government imervention on the Group’s activities and
social developments in the countries in which the Group operates, political developments in Lebanon, and political
or social unrest or military conflict in neighbouring countries and/or other overseas areas. Given the above, the
Group recognises that unforeseen political events can have negative effects on the fulfilment of contraciual
relationships and obligations of its customers and other counterparties which will result in significant impact on
Group’s activities, operating results and position.

50 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios esiablished by
the Central Bank of Lebanon, which is the lead supervisor of the Bank.

Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediate Circular 567, issued on 26 August 2020, Inlermediale Circular 649, issued
on 24 November 2022, Intermediate Circular 659, issued on 21 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 6835, issued
on 28 December 2023, Intermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 and Intermediate Circular 726 issued
on 6 February 2025 introduced several key changes to the calculation of regulatory capital adequacy ratios. These
changes include:

¥ Raising the regulatory expected credit loss level for Lebanese government securities in foreign currency and
Lebanese govermnment-related exposures in same currency from 9.45% to 45% imitially and then again to 75%
(the lanter level 10 be reached by 31 December 2026). Regulatory ECL for other exposures remain unchanged.
These levels remained applicable in 2024.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

2024 2023

Type of financial instrument

Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currencies 1.89 % 1.8% %
Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in Lebanese Liras 0 % 0%
Lebanese Government securities in foreign currencies 75 % 75 %
Lebanese Government securities in Lebanese Liras 0 % 0%

>

Reguesting banks to increase their own funds (capital) by an amount eguivalent to 20% of their common
Equity Tier 1 capital as of 31 December 2018, through issuing new foreign currency capital instruments, as
well as other approaches that meet the criteria for inclusion as regulatory capital. The deadline for raising
capital was initially set at 31 December 2020, but was later extended for the banking sector to 28 February
2021. The Central Bank of Lebanon’s Central Council may exceptionally approve a bank to complete 50%
of the 20% required capital increase through the transfer of real estate assets owned by the shareholders o
the concerned bank. However, these real estate assets must be liquidated during a S-year period following
regulatory approval date on this transaction.

Inclusion of gains from Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments in Common Equity Tier 1, effective from
2023 whereas regulation prior to amendments brought by Intermediate Circular 689 included only losses from
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments in Common Equity Tier | and 50% of gains in Tier 2 capilal. As
a result of the change in regulation and the change in the official published exchange rate from LL 15,000 to
the US Dollar 1o LL 89,500 to the US Dollars, Common equity Tier 1 increased by LL 18,837,727 Million
as al 31 December 2024 compared to 31 December 2023 (2023: L.L 1507.5 to LL 15,000 o the US Dollar,
Common Equity Tier 1 increased by LL 3,060,274 million as at 31 December 2023 compared 10 31 December
2022).

Inclusion of 75% of cumulative change in the fair value of financial instruments classified at FVTOCI in
Common Equity Tier 1, instead of 50% of the gain in Tier 2, as was the case previously.

Inclusion of 75% of revaluations gain of owned real estate properties (excluding ones acqguired in settlement
of bad debt as per Anicle 154 of the Code of Money & Credit) in Common Equity Tier L, instead of 50%.
The regutatory deadline for completing the reappraisal process for such properties was set on 31 December
2024,

Exceptionally during 2020 and 2021, allowing banks fo draw down the 2.5% capital conservation buffer on
condition of rebuilding it progressively starting 2022 by not less of 0.75% each year, to reach the minimum
required level of 2.5% by the end of 2024. Following the issuance of BDL Intermediate Circular 689, Banks
were once again allowed to drawn back completely the 2.5% capital conversation buffer in 2023 and 2024.

Prohibiting banks from distributing dividends if capital adequacy ratios drop below 7% for Common Equity
Tier 1, 10% for Tier 1 and 12% for total capital (compared to the regulatory minimum limits of 7%, 8.5%
and 10.5% respectively, including a 2.5% capital conservation buffer).

Exceptionally for 2020 and 2021, allowing banks to include provisions for expected credit losses on stage |
and 2 exposures, excluding those relaiing to Lebanese Sovereign and the Central Bank of Lebanon, under
regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 (previously only stage 1 allowances were included in Tier 2 capilal, subject
to a 1.25% cap relative to Credit Risk Weighted Assets). Such provisions included under CET 1 should be
amortized over a period of 3 years starting 2022 and ending in 2024 by 25% yearly.

Exceptionally for 2022 and 2023, allowing banks to include under CET | part of the losses resulting from the
purchase of local dollars from the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon against Lebanese Lira for the purpose of reducing
open net FX short positions prior to 17 November 2022. In 2022, 66% of these losses can be included under
CET 1, while in 2023, a maximuwin of 33% level applies.
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» Exceptionally authorizing Banks the inclusion in Tier 2 of provisions for risks and charges, treated as General
Provisions, up to a limit of 1.25% of Credit Risk- Weighied Assets. As at 31 December 2024, the amount of

General Provisions included in Tier 2 amounted to LL 9,790,312 million (2023: nil).

The following table shows the applicable regulatory capital ratios:

Common Tier Tier 1
1 Capital . .

Capital Ratio Ratio Total Capital Ratio

31 December 2024
Minimum required capital ratios 4.50% 6.00% 8.00%
With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5% 7.00% 8.50% 10.50%

31 December 2023
Minimum required capital ratios 4.50% 6.00% 8.00%
With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5% 7.00% 8.50% 10.50%
2024 2023
LL mitlion LL miltion

Risk-weighted assets:
Credit risk 783,223,954 171,074,136
Market risk 28,773,995 5,816,793
Operational risk 50,953,262 11,675,519
Total risk-weighted assets 862,951,211 188,566,448
The regulatory capital as of 31 December is as follows:
2024 2023
LL mitlion LL mitlion
Tier | capital 64,689,532 12,183,136
Of which: common Tier | 63,686,296 11,180,135
Tier 2 capital 11,616,154 2,431,604
Tatal eapital 76,305,686 14,614,740
The capital adequacy ratio including net profit for the year ended 31 December is as follows:

2024 2023
Capital adequacy — Common Tier 1 7.38% 5.93%
Capital adequacy — Tier 1 7.50% 6.46%
Capital adequacy — Total capiial 8.84% 7.75%
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The capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were calculated based on the recorded figures and
do not take into consideration the adjustrnents that may result from the resolution of the uncertainties reflected in
Note 1. Due to the high levels of uncertainties, the lack of observable reliable indicators, and the lack of visibility
on the government’s plans with respect to: (a) the high exposures of Lebanese banks with the Central Bank of
Lebanon, (b) the Lebanese sovereign securities, and (c} the currency exchange mechanisms and currency
exchange rates that will be applied, Management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner the impact of these
matters on the Bank’s capital adequacy. Management has concerns about the effects that the above matters will
have on the capital of the Bank and the recapitalisation needs that may arise once the necessary adjustments are
determined and recorded.

51 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 29 July 2025, the Board of Directors of the Bank resclved to sell its subsidiary Byblos Bank Europe SA in
response to the request of the National Bank of Belgium to search for a new shareholder alongside a capital
increase, On 19 February 2025 the National Bank of Belgium informed Byblos Bank Europe SA that special
commissioners had been appointed to oversee the implementation of this plan. Cn 6 October 2025, the Bank
signed a sale and purchase agreement for all its equity and interests stake in Byblos Bank Europe SA to a new
shareholder, subject to conditions precedent. The Bank estimates a potential loss of LL 4,435,463 million at the
completion of the sale to be covered from the excess of provision for risks and charges available as at 31 December
2024.
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